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Directors' Report 

Introduction

You should read the following discussion in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and the notes to 
those statements, included elsewhere in this report. In addition to historical facts, this report contains forward-looking 
statements.

The Company

The reporting company as of December 31, 2017 is Sensata Technologies Holding N.V. (“Sensata N.V.”) and its 
wholly-owned subsidiaries, collectively referred to as the “Company,” “Sensata,” “we,” “our,” and “us.” 

Sensata N.V. was incorporated under the laws of the Netherlands and conducted its operations through subsidiary 
companies that operate business and product development centers primarily in the United States (the "U.S."), the 
Netherlands, Belgium, Bulgaria, China, Germany, Japan, South Korea, and the United Kingdom (the "U.K."); and 
manufacturing operations primarily in China, Malaysia, Mexico, Bulgaria, France, Germany, the U.K., and the U.S. 

On September 28, 2017, the board of directors of Sensata N.V. unanimously approved a plan to change our parent 
company’s location of incorporation from the Netherlands to the U.K. To effect this change, on February 16, 2018, the 
shareholders of Sensata N.V. approved a cross-border merger between Sensata N.V. and Sensata Technologies Holding plc 
(“Sensata U.K.”), a newly formed, public limited company incorporated under the laws of England and Wales, with Sensata 
U.K. being the surviving entity (the “Merger”).

We received approval of the transaction by the U.K. High Court of Justice, and the Merger was completed on March 28, 
2018, on which date Sensata U.K. became the publicly-traded parent of the subsidiary companies that were previously 
controlled by Sensata N.V.

We organize our operations into two businesses, Performance Sensing and Sensing Solutions.

Overview

Sensata, a global industrial technology company, engages in the development, manufacture, and sale of sensors and 
controls. We produce a wide range of sensors and controls for applications such as pressure, temperature, and speed and 
position sensors in automotive systems, thermal circuit breakers in aircraft, and bimetal current and temperature control 
devices in electric motors. We can trace our origins back to entities that have been engaged in the sensors and controls 
business since 1916.

Our sensors are customized devices that translate a physical phenomenon, such as pressure, temperature, or position, 
into electronic signals that microprocessors or computer-based control systems can act upon. Our controls are customized 
devices embedded within systems to protect them from excessive heat or current. Underlying these sensors and controls are 
core technology platforms—thermal and magnetic-hydraulic circuit protection, micro electromechanical systems, ceramic 
capacitance, Microfused Silicon Strain Gage, and wireless communication protocol—that we leverage across multiple 
products and applications, enabling us to optimize our research, development, and engineering investments and achieve 
economies of scale.

Our primary products include low-, medium-, and high-pressure sensors, speed and position sensors, bimetal 
electromechanical controls, temperature sensors, power conversion and control products, thermal and magnetic-hydraulic 
circuit breakers, pressure switches, and interconnection products. We develop customized, innovative solutions for specific 
customer requirements or applications across a variety of end markets, including automotive, heavy vehicle off-road 
("HVOR"), appliance and heating, ventilation, and air conditioning (“HVAC”), industrial, and aerospace, among others.

Our Performance Sensing business supplies automotive and HVOR sensors, including pressure sensors, speed and 
position sensors, temperature sensors, and pressure switches. Our Sensing Solutions business supplies bimetal 
electromechanical controls, industrial and aerospace sensors, power conversion and control products, thermal and magnetic-
hydraulic circuit breakers, and interconnection products.

We have long-standing relationships with a geographically diverse base of leading global original equipment 
manufacturers (“OEMs”) and other multinational companies.



5

We develop products that address increasingly complex engineering requirements by investing substantially in 
research, development, and application engineering. By locating our global engineering teams in close proximity to key 
customers in regional business centers, we are exposed to many development opportunities at an early stage and work closely 
with our customers to deliver solutions that meet their needs. As a result of the long development lead times and embedded 
nature of our products, we collaborate closely with our customers throughout the design and development phase of their 
products. Systems development by our customers typically requires significant multi-year investment for certification and 
qualification, which are often government or customer mandated. We believe the capital commitment and time required for 
this process significantly increases the switching costs once a customer has designed and installed a particular sensor or 
control into a system.

We are a global business, with significant operations around the world. As of December 31, 2017, 39.6%, 35.5%, and 
24.9% of our fixed assets were located in the Americas, Asia, and Europe, respectively. We have a diverse revenue mix by 
geography, customer, and end-market. We generated 41.3%, 27.3%, and 31.4% of our net revenue in the Americas, Asia, and 
Europe, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2017. Our largest customer accounted for approximately 8% of our net 
revenue for the year ended December 31, 2017. Our net revenue for the year ended December 31, 2017 was derived from the 
following end-markets: 24.0% from European automotive, 18.6% from North American automotive, 19.1% from Asia and 
rest of world automotive, 14.3% from HVOR, 9.4% from industrial, 6.3% from appliance and HVAC, 4.6% from aerospace, 
and 3.7% from all other end markets. Within many of our end markets, we are a significant supplier to multiple OEMs, 
reducing our exposure to global fluctuations in market share within individual end markets.

Acquisition History

Since our inception in 2006, we completed the following significant acquisitions:

Segment

Date Acquired Entity
Performance

Sensing
Sensing

Solutions

Purchase
Price (in
Millions)

December 19, 2006 First Technology Automotive and Special Products ("FTAS") X X $ 88.5
July 27, 2007 Airpax Holdings, Inc. ("Airpax") X $ 277.3

January 28, 2011 Automotive on Board ("MSP") X $ 152.5
August 1, 2011 Sensor-NITE Group Companies ("HTS") X $ 324.0
January 2, 2014 Wabash Worldwide Holding Corp. ("Wabash") X $ 59.6
May 29, 2014 Magnum Energy Incorporated ("Magnum") X $ 60.6

August 4, 2014 CoActive U.S. Holdings Inc. ("DeltaTech Controls") X $ 177.8
October 14, 2014 August Cayman Company, Inc. ("Schrader") X $ 1,004.7
December 1, 2015 Custom Sensors & Technologies ("CST") (1) X X $ 1,000.8

(1)  Includes the acquisition of all of the outstanding shares of certain subsidiaries of Custom Sensors & Technologies Ltd. in 
the U.S., the U.K., and France, as well as certain assets in China.

Named Executive Officer and Director Remuneration

For the report prepared by the compensation committee, reference is made to the definitive proxy statement filed with 
the Securities and Exchange Commission at www.sec.gov on April 20, 2017, which is also available on our website at 
www.sensata.com. We expect that our 2018 proxy statement will be filed on or around April 16, 2018.

We establish compensation policies for our executive officers to align compensation with our strategic goals and our 
growth objectives while concurrently providing competitive compensation that enables us to attract and retain highly 
qualified executives. Components of compensation consist of varying items including: (i) cash compensation in the form of 
base salary and annual incentive bonuses which collectively constitute the executive's total annual cash compensation; (ii) 
equity compensation in the form of options and restricted securities pursuant to the 2010 Equity Incentive Plan (as defined in 
Note 11, "Share-Based Payment Plans"); and (iii) retirement and other benefits through participation in our pension plans, 
401(k) plan, and other health and welfare programs.

We have adopted a compensation policy with respect to our directors. Pursuant to that policy, the Chairman of the 
Board receives an annual fee in the amount of $120 thousand, and other Board members receive an annual fee in the amount 
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of $60 thousand. Audit Committee members receive an additional annual fee of $10 thousand, Compensation Committee 
members receive an additional annual fee of $5 thousand, Finance Committee members receive an additional annual fee of $5 
thousand, and Nominating and Governance Committee members receive an additional annual fee of $5 thousand. Chairs of 
committees receive the following annual fees (in addition to the committee membership fees noted in the previous sentence): 
$10 thousand for the chair of the Audit Committee, $5 thousand for the chair of the Compensation Committee, $5 thousand 
for the chair of the Finance Committee, and $5 thousand for the chair of the Nominating and Governance Committee. We 
also reimburse our directors for reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with their service on our Board of 
Directors and committees thereof. 

In addition, prior to 2016, our director compensation policy provided that each director elected, re-elected, or appointed 
to our Board of Directors was granted an initial stock option award equal to a grant-date fair value of $120 thousand. In 2013, 
the award given to the Chairman of the Board was increased to a grant-date fair value of $150 thousand. In 2016, our 
shareholders approved a change to our equity award policy for directors, whereby directors are now granted restricted stock 
units ("RSUs"). The value granted is the same as under the previous policy. Our directors are eligible to receive other equity-
based awards when and as determined by our Compensation Committee. 

By recommendation of the Compensation Committee, on June 3, 2016 the Board of Directors granted approximately 4 
thousand RSUs to each of our directors, and approximately 5 thousand RSUs to the Chairman of the Board.

By recommendation of the Compensation Committee, on June 1, 2017 the Board of Directors granted approximately 4 
thousand RSUs to each of our directors, including the Chairman of the Board.

All of the options and RSUs granted to directors vest after one year. We grant equity awards to our directors in order to 
align directors' incentives with the goal of increasing value for our shareholders. 

Results of Operations

We have derived the statements of income for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 from our audited 
consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this report. Amounts and percentages in the table and discussion 
below have been calculated based on unrounded numbers. Accordingly, certain amounts may not add due to the effect of 
rounding. 

  For the year ended December 31,
  2017 2016

(Dollars in millions) Amount
Percent of

Net Revenue Amount
Percent of

Net Revenue

Net revenue
Performance Sensing segment $ 2,460.6 74.4% $ 2,385.4 74.5%
Sensing Solutions segment 846.1 25.6 816.9 25.5

Net revenue 3,306.7 100.0% 3,202.3 100.0%
Operating costs and expenses:

Cost of revenue 2,151.6 65.1 2,088.5 65.2
Research and development 87.7 2.7 76.9 2.4
Selling, general and administrative 303.8 9.2 308.3 9.6
Amortization of intangible assets and capitalized development
costs 182.8 5.5 219.0 6.8
Restructuring and special charges 6.1 0.2 10.1 0.3

Total operating costs and expenses 2,732.0 82.6 2,702.8 84.4
Profit from operations 574.7 17.4 499.5 15.6
Interest expense, net (160.4) (4.9) (166.5) (5.2)
Other, net 10.2 0.3 (4.8) (0.1)
Income before taxes 424.5 12.8 328.2 10.2
(Benefit from)/provision for income taxes (17.5) (0.5) 63.5 2.0
Net income $ 441.9 13.4% $ 264.7 8.3%
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Net revenue - Overall

Net revenue for fiscal year 2017 increased $104.4 million, or 3.3%, to $3,306.7 million from $3,202.3 million for fiscal 
year 2016. The increase in net revenue was composed of a 3.2% increase in Performance Sensing and a 3.6% increase in 
Sensing Solutions. Excluding a 0.7% decline due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates, particularly related to the 
Euro and Chinese Renminbi, organic revenue growth was 4.0% when compared to fiscal year 2016. 

Net revenue - Performance Sensing

Performance Sensing net revenue for fiscal year 2017 increased $75.2 million, or 3.2%, to $2,460.6 million from 
$2,385.4 million for fiscal year 2016. Excluding a 0.7% decline due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates, 
particularly related to the Euro and Chinese Renminbi, organic revenue growth was 3.9% when compared to fiscal year 2016. 

Performance Sensing organic revenue growth in 2017 was driven primarily by our HVOR business, mainly as a result 
of the combination of stronger markets and content growth in the construction, agriculture, and on-road truck markets in 
North America, and content growth in our automotive business, primarily in China, partially offset by price reductions of 
1.9%, primarily related to automotive customers. In addition, we believe that the major markets within HVOR have been 
recovering, including the North American Class 8 truck market, which had been particularly weak in fiscal year 2016 and 
represents a significant part of our HVOR business. The price reductions referenced above were consistent with our 
expectations for future pricing pressures.

Net revenue - Sensing Solutions

Sensing Solutions net revenue for fiscal year 2017 increased $29.2 million, or 3.6%, to $846.1 million from $816.9 
million for fiscal year 2016. Excluding a 0.5% decline due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates, particularly related 
to the Chinese Renminbi, organic revenue growth was 4.1% when compared to fiscal year 2016. The organic revenue growth 
was primarily due to market strength across all of our key end markets, particularly in China, as well as content growth in our 
HVAC and industrial markets.

Cost of revenue

Cost of revenue for fiscal years 2017 and 2016 was $2,151.6 million (65.1% of net revenue) and $2,088.5 million 
(65.2% of net revenue), respectively. 

Cost of revenue decreased as a percentage of net revenue in fiscal year 2017 primarily due to improved operating 
efficiencies and synergies from the continued integration of acquired businesses, partially offset by the negative impact of 
price reductions.

We anticipate that cost of revenue as a percentage of net revenue will further decline as we continue to create new 
product designs and drive operational efficiencies and improvements in productivity, including lowering material costs, and 
as we integrate recently acquired businesses. We generally complete integration activities within 18 to 24 months after the 
related acquisition. However, the integrations of certain acquisitions, for example Schrader and CST, are anticipated to take 
three to four years due to their size and scope.

Research and development expense

Research and development ("R&D") expense for fiscal years 2017 and 2016 was $87.7 million (2.7% of net revenue) 
and $76.9 million (2.4% of net revenue), respectively. Development expenditures that were capitalized (which are not 
included in R&D expense) in fiscal years 2017 and 2016 were $42.4 million and $49.7 million, respectively. R&D 
expenditures (including capitalized development expenditures) increased in 2017 due to continued investment to support new 
platform and technology developments primarily related to new business wins, both in our recently acquired and existing 
businesses, in order to drive future revenue growth. 

Selling, general and administrative expense

Selling, general and administrative ("SG&A") expense for fiscal years 2017 and 2016 was $303.8 million and $308.3 
million, respectively. SG&A expense decreased in 2017 primarily due to lower write-off of capitalized research and 
development expenditures, partially offset by $6.6 million in costs associated with the cross-border merger between Sensata 
N.V. and Sensata Technologies Holding plc, as discussed in Note 1, "General Information," of our audited consolidated 
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financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report. SG&A expense was also impacted by higher variable 
compensation costs (including share-based compensation), partially offset by lower integration costs.

Amortization of intangible assets and development costs

Amortization expense associated with definite-lived intangible assets and development costs for fiscal years 2017 and 
2016 was $182.8 million and $219.0 million, respectively. Amortization expense has decreased in fiscal year 2017 as certain 
intangible assets, primarily related to the Sensors & Controls and High Temperature Sensing acquisitions in 2006 and 2011, 
respectively, are at, or are nearing, the end of their useful lives. 

Refer to Note 5, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets," of our audited consolidated financial statements included 
elsewhere in this Annual Report for information regarding amortization expense.

Restructuring and special charges

Restructuring and special charges for fiscal years 2017 and 2016 were $6.1 million and $10.1 million, respectively. 

Restructuring and special charges for fiscal year 2017 consisted primarily of severance charges of $4.6 million recorded 
in connection with the closing of our facility in Minden, Germany that was part of the acquisition of CST and the termination 
of a limited number of employees. 

Restructuring and special charges for fiscal year 2016 primarily included severance charges recorded in connection 
with acquired businesses and the termination of a limited number of employees in various locations throughout the world. 

The amounts included in restructuring and special charges are discussed in detail in Note 17, "Restructuring and 
Special Charges," of our audited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report.

Interest expense, net

Interest expense, net for fiscal years 2017 and 2016 was $160.4 million and $166.5 million, respectively. Interest 
expense, net decreased in fiscal year 2017 primarily as a result of higher interest income due to increasing cash balances and 
rising interest rates.

Refer to Note 8, "Borrowings," of our audited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual 
Report for more details on our financing transactions. 

Other, net

Other, net for fiscal years 2017 and 2016 consisted of net gains/(losses) of $10.2 million and $(4.8) million, 
respectively. The change in Other, net in fiscal year 2017 compared to fiscal year 2016 relates primarily to fluctuations in 
foreign currency exchange rates, net of any offsetting hedge gain or loss. 

Refer to Note 18, "Other, net," of our audited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual 
Report for more details on the gains and losses included within Other, net. Refer to Note 24, "Financial Risk Management 
Objectives and Policies," included elsewhere in this Annual Report for an analysis of the sensitivity of Other, net on changes 
in foreign currency exchange rates.

(Benefit from)/provision for income taxes

(Benefit from)/provision for income taxes for fiscal years 2017 and 2016 was $(17.5) million and $63.5 million, 
respectively. The change in the (benefit from)/provision for income taxes in fiscal year 2017 is primarily due to the enactment 
of U.S. tax legislation during the fourth quarter of 2017, which required us to remeasure our U.S. deferred tax liabilities 
associated with indefinite lived intangible assets, including goodwill, from a rate of 35 percent to 21 percent.

(Benefit from)/provision for income taxes consists of current tax expense, which relates primarily to our profitable 
operations in non-U.S. tax jurisdictions and withholding taxes on interest and royalty income, and deferred tax expense (or 
benefit), which relates to adjustments in book-to-tax basis differences, mainly the step-up in fair value of fixed and intangible 
assets, including goodwill, acquired in connection with business combination transactions, utilization of net operating losses, 
prospective changes in U.S. tax rates due to newly enacted legislation, and adjustments to our U.S. valuation allowance in 
connection with acquisitions made by our U.S. subsidiaries.
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Our income tax expense for fiscal years 2017 and 2016 was less than the amounts computed at the Netherlands' 
statutory rate of 25% by $123.6 million and $18.5 million, respectively. The most significant reconciling items are noted 
below. 

U.S. Tax Reform Impact.  On December 22, 2017 President Donald Trump signed into U.S. law the Tax Cuts and Jobs 
Act of 2017 (“Tax Reform”). As a result of Tax Reform, the U,S, statutory tax rate was lowered from 35 percent to 21 
percent, effective on January 1, 2018.  We are required to remeasure our U.S. deferred tax assets and liabilities to the new tax 
rate.  We recorded $73.6 million of income tax benefit for the remeasurement of the deferred tax liabilities associated with 
indefinite-lived intangible assets that will reverse at the new 21 percent rate.

Foreign tax rate differential. We operate in locations outside the Netherlands.  The foreign tax rate differential includes 
the effect of taxing the U.S. loss at a rate higher than the statutory rate in the Netherlands and benefits derived from the 
Macquiladora decree in Mexico, resulting in an effective tax rate benefit.  This benefit can range from year to year based on 
the mix of earnings.   

Certain of our subsidiaries are currently eligible, or have been eligible, for tax exemptions or holidays in their 
respective jurisdictions. From 2016 through 2018, a subsidiary in Changzhou, China was eligible for a reduced tax rate of 
15%. The impact of the tax holidays and exemptions on our effective rate is included in the foreign tax rate differential line in 
the reconciliation of the statutory rate to effective rate. 

Certain income of our U.K. subsidiaries are eligible for lower tax rates under the "patent box" regime, resulting in 
certain of our intellectual property income being taxed at a rate lower than the U.K. statutory tax rate.

Recognition of Previously Unrecognized Tax Losses. During the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, we 
recognized a benefit from income taxes of $12.2 million and $0.9 million, respectively, arising primarily in connection with 
the 2015 acquisition of CST. For the CST acquisition, deferred tax liabilities were established and related primarily to the 
step-up of intangible assets for book purposes.

Losses not tax benefited. Losses incurred in certain jurisdictions, predominantly the U.S., are not currently benefited, as 
it is not more likely than not that the associated deferred tax asset will be realized in the foreseeable future. For the years 
ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, this resulted in a deferred tax expense of $5.8 million and $28.6 million, respectively.

Withholding taxes not creditable. Withholding taxes may apply to intercompany interest, royalty, management fees, and 
certain payments to third parties. Such taxes are expensed if they cannot be credited against the recipient’s tax liability in its 
country of residence. Additional consideration also has been given to the withholding taxes associated with the remittance of 
presently unremitted earnings and the recipient's ability to obtain a tax credit for such taxes. Earnings are not considered to be 
indefinitely reinvested in the jurisdictions in which they were earned.

Refer to Note 9, “Income Taxes,” of our audited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual 
Report for more details on the tax rate reconciliation. We do not believe that there are any known trends related to the 
reconciling items noted above that are reasonably likely to result in our liquidity increasing or decreasing in any material 
way.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We held cash and cash equivalents of $753.1 million and $351.4 million at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, 
of which $260.9 million and $37.8 million, respectively, was held in the Netherlands, $9.0 million and $5.7 million, 
respectively, was held by U.S. subsidiaries, and $483.2 million and $307.9 million, respectively, was held by other foreign 
subsidiaries. The amount of cash and cash equivalents held in the Netherlands and in our U.S. and other foreign subsidiaries 
fluctuates throughout the year due to a variety of factors, including the timing of cash receipts and disbursements in the 
normal course of business, and, if applicable, the timing of debt issuances and payments, repurchases of ordinary shares, and 
other financing transactions.
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Cash Flows

The table below summarizes our primary sources and uses of cash for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016. 
We have derived these summarized statements of cash flows from our audited consolidated financial statements included 
elsewhere in this Annual Report. Amounts in the table and discussion below have been calculated based on unrounded 
numbers. Accordingly, certain amounts may not add due to the effect of rounding.

  For the years ended December 31,
(Amounts in millions) 2017 2016

Net cash provided by/(used in):
Operating activities:

Net income, adjusted for non-cash items $ 698.4 $ 655.5
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of the effects of acquisitions (98.3) (84.2)

Operating activities 600.0 571.3
Investing activities (183.1) (231.4)
Financing activities (15.3) (330.7)

Net change $ 401.7 $ 9.2

Operating activities

Net cash provided by operating activities during the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 was $600.0 million and 
$571.3 million, respectively.

The increase in cash provided by operating activities in fiscal year 2017 compared to fiscal year 2016 relates primarily 
to improved operating profitability, partially offset by a build up of inventory to support anticipated line moves, higher cash 
paid for interest, and higher cash paid related to severance obligations. The higher cash paid for interest relates to the $750.0 
million aggregate principal amount of 6.25% senior notes due 2026 (the "6.25% Senior Notes"), for which interest payments 
are due semi-annually on February 15 and August 15 of each year. The payment made on February 15, 2016 did not represent 
payment for a full six-month period, as the 6.25% Senior Notes were issued on November 27, 2015. 

Investing activities

Net cash used in investing activities during the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 was $183.1 million and 
$231.4 million, respectively, which included $187.0 million and $186.8 million, respectively, in capital expenditures. Capital 
expenditures primarily relate to investments associated with increasing our manufacturing capacity as well as certain 
development costs. In 2018, we anticipate capital expenditures of approximately $150.0 million to $160.0 million (excluding 
development costs), which we expect to be funded with cash flows from operations. 

Financing activities

Net cash used in financing activities during the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 was $15.3 million and $330.7 
million, respectively. 

Net cash used in financing activities in fiscal year 2017 consisted primarily of $943.6 million in payments on debt, 
partially offset by $927.8 million of proceeds from the issuance of debt. These cash flows result from the repricing of the 
term loan provided pursuant to the sixth amendment (the “Sixth Amendment”) of the Credit Agreement, and the resulting 
issuance of the Term Loan pursuant to the Eighth Amendment. Refer to Borrowings below and Note 8, "Borrowings," of our 
audited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report for further discussion of the terms of 
these amendments.

Net cash used in financing activities in fiscal year 2016 consisted primarily of $329.4 million in payments on debt, 
including $280.0 million in payments on the Revolving Credit Facility and $44.9 million in payments on the term loan issued 
pursuant to the Sixth Amendment. 
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Indebtedness and liquidity

Our liquidity requirements are significant due to the highly leveraged nature of our company. The following table 
details our gross outstanding indebtedness as of December 31, 2017 and the associated interest expense for fiscal year 2017.

Description
Balance as of

December 31, 2017
Interest expense for 

fiscal year 2017
(Amounts in thousands)    

Term Loan 927,794 30,692
4.875% Senior Notes 500,000 24,375
5.625% Senior Notes 400,000 22,500
5.0% Senior Notes 700,000 35,000
6.25% Senior Notes 750,000 46,875
Finance lease and other financing obligations 34,657 3,155
Gross outstanding indebtedness 3,312,451
Other interest expense, net (1) (2,176)
Total interest expense, net $ 160,421

(1) Other interest expense, net includes interest income, amortization of deferred financing costs and discounts, and interest 
costs capitalized in accordance with IAS 23, Capitalization of Borrowing Costs.

Borrowings

Summarized information regarding our borrowings is described below. Refer to Note 8, “Borrowings,” of our audited 
consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report for further details of the terms of the $500.0 
million 4.875% senior notes due 2023 (the "4.875% Senior Notes"), the $400.0 million 5.625% senior notes due 2024 (the 
"5.625% Senior Notes"), the 5.0% Senior Notes, and the 6.25% Senior Notes (collectively, the "Senior Notes"), the Senior 
Secured Credit Facilities (as defined below), and the term loans.

Senior Secured Credit Facilities

In May 2011, we completed a series of transactions designed to refinance our then existing indebtedness. These 
transactions included the execution of the Credit Agreement which provided for senior secured credit facilities (the "Senior 
Secured Credit Facilities") consisting of a $1,100.0 million term loan facility and the Revolving Credit Facility. The Senior 
Secured Credit Facilities also allowed for future additional borrowings under certain circumstances.

Term Loan

In May 2015, we entered into the Sixth Amendment, pursuant to which all term loans outstanding on that date were 
prepaid in full, and a new term loan was entered into in an aggregate principal amount of $990.1 million, equal to the sum of 
the outstanding balances of the term loans that were prepaid. The term loan was offered at 99.75% of par with a maturity date 
of October 14, 2021. The principal amount of the term loan amortized in equal quarterly installments in an aggregate annual 
amount equal to 1.0% of the original principal amount, with the balance due at maturity. 

On November 7, 2017, we entered into the Eighth Amendment, which resulted in a newly issued term loan (the “Term 
Loan”) with interest rates that differed from those under the Sixth Amendment. Pursuant to the Eighth Amendment, the 
applicable margins for the Term Loan as of December 31, 2017 were 0.75% and 1.75% for Base Rate loans and Eurodollar 
Rate loans, respectively, (a decrease from 1.25% and 2.25%, respectively, pursuant to the Sixth Amendment) subject to floors 
of 1.00% and 0.00% for Base Rate loans and Eurodollar Rate loans, respectively (a decrease from 1.75% and 0.75%, 
respectively, pursuant to the Sixth Amendment).

As a result of the Eighth Amendment, a prepayment premium of 1.0% was added with respect to any Term Loan 
repricing event that occurs within six months after the effective date of the Eighth Amendment. Refer to Note 8, 
“Borrowings,” of our audited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report for further details of 
the terms of the Eighth Amendment.

At December 31, 2017, the Term Loan accrued interest at a rate of 3.21%. 
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4.875% Senior Notes

In April 2013, we completed the issuance and sale of the 4.875% Senior Notes, which were offered at par, and mature 
on October 15, 2023. Interest on the 4.875% Senior Notes is payable semi-annually on April 15 and October 15 of each year.

5.625% Senior Notes

In October 2014, we completed the issuance and sale of the 5.625% Senior Notes, which were offered at par, and 
mature on November 1, 2024. Interest on the 5.625% Senior Notes is payable semi-annually on May 1 and November 1 of 
each year.

5.0% Senior Notes

In March 2015, we completed the issuance and sale of the 5.0% Senior Notes, which were offered at par, and mature on 
October 1, 2025. Interest on the 5.0% Senior Notes is payable semi-annually on April 1 and October 1 of each year.

6.25% Senior Notes

In November 2015, we completed the issuance and sale of the 6.25% Senior Notes, which were offered at par, and 
mature on February 15, 2026. Interest on the 6.25% Senior Notes is payable semi-annually on February 15 and August 15 of 
each year.

Revolving Credit Facility

As of December 31, 2017, there was $415.3 million of availability under the Revolving Credit Facility, (net of $4.7 
million in letters of credit). Outstanding letters of credit are issued primarily for the benefit of certain operating activities. As 
of December 31, 2017, no amounts had been drawn against these outstanding letters of credit. 

Capital resources

Our sources of liquidity include cash on hand, cash flows from operations, and available capacity under the Revolving 
Credit Facility. In addition, the Senior Secured Credit Facilities provide for incremental facilities (the “Accordion”), under 
which additional term loans may be issued or the capacity of the Revolving Credit Facility may be increased. Pursuant to the 
Eighth Amendment, the Accordion was increased from $230.0 million to $1,000.0 million, all of which remained available 
for issuance as of December 31, 2017.

We believe, based on our current level of operations as reflected in our results of operations for the year ended 
December 31, 2017, and taking into consideration the restrictions and covenants discussed below, that these sources of 
liquidity will be sufficient to fund our operations, capital expenditures, ordinary share repurchases, and borrowing service for 
at least the next twelve months.

The Credit Agreement stipulates certain events and conditions that may require us to use excess cash flow, as defined 
by the terms of the Credit Agreement, generated by operating, investing, or financing activities, to prepay some or all of the 
outstanding borrowings under the Senior Secured Credit Facilities. The Credit Agreement also requires mandatory 
prepayments of the outstanding borrowings under the Senior Secured Credit Facilities upon certain asset dispositions and 
casualty events, in each case subject to certain reinvestment rights, and the incurrence of certain indebtedness (excluding any 
permitted indebtedness). These provisions were not triggered during the year ended December 31, 2017. 

Our ability to raise additional financing, and our borrowing costs, may be impacted by short-term and long-term debt 
ratings assigned by independent rating agencies, which are based, in significant part, on our performance as measured by 
certain credit metrics such as interest coverage and leverage ratios. As of January 26, 2018, Moody’s Investors Service’s 
corporate credit rating for STBV was Ba2 with a stable outlook and Standard & Poor’s corporate credit rating for STBV was 
BB+ with a stable outlook. Any future downgrades to STBV's credit ratings may increase our borrowing costs, but will not 
reduce availability under the Credit Agreement.

We have a $250.0 million share repurchase program in place. Under this program, we may repurchase ordinary shares 
from time to time, at such times and in amounts to be determined by our management, based on market conditions, legal 
requirements, and other corporate considerations, on the open market or in privately negotiated transactions. We expect that 
any future repurchases of ordinary shares will be funded by cash from operations. The share repurchase program may be 
modified or terminated by our Board of Directors at any time. We did not repurchase any ordinary shares under this program 
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in fiscal years 2017 or 2016. At December 31, 2017, $250.0 million remained available for share repurchase under this 
program. 

The Credit Agreement and the indentures under which the Senior Notes were issued (the "Senior Notes Indentures") 
contain restrictions and covenants that limit the ability of STBV and its subsidiaries to, among other things, incur subsequent 
indebtedness, sell assets, make capital expenditures, pay dividends, and make other restricted payments. These restrictions 
and covenants, which are subject to important exceptions and qualifications set forth in the Credit Agreement and Senior 
Notes Indentures, and which are described in more detail below and in Note 8, "Borrowings," of our audited consolidated 
financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report, were taken into consideration in establishing our share 
repurchase program, and are evaluated periodically with respect to future potential funding. We do not believe that these 
restrictions and covenants will prevent us from funding share repurchases under our share repurchase program with available 
cash and cash flows from operations, should we decide to do so.

STBV is limited in its ability to pay dividends or otherwise make distributions to its immediate parent company and, 
ultimately, to us, under the Credit Agreement and the Senior Notes Indentures. Specifically, the Credit Agreement prohibits 
STBV from paying dividends or making any distributions to its parent companies except for limited purposes, including, but 
not limited to: (i) customary and reasonable operating expenses, legal and accounting fees and expenses, and overhead of 
such parent companies incurred in the ordinary course of business in the aggregate not to exceed $20.0 million in any fiscal 
year, plus reasonable and customary indemnification claims made by our directors or officers attributable to the ownership of 
STBV and its subsidiaries; (ii) franchise taxes, certain advisory fees, and customary compensation of officers and employees 
of such parent companies to the extent such compensation is attributable to the ownership or operations of STBV and its 
subsidiaries; (iii) repurchase, retirement, or other acquisition of equity interest of the parent from certain present, future, and 
former employees, directors, managers, consultants of the parent companies, STBV, or its subsidiaries in an aggregate 
amount not to exceed $20.0 million in any fiscal year, plus the amount of cash proceeds from certain equity issuances to such 
persons, the amount of equity interests subject to a certain deferred compensation plan, and the amount of certain key-man 
life insurance proceeds; (iv) so long as no default or event of default exists and the senior secured net leverage ratio is less 
than 2.0:1.0 calculated on a pro forma basis, dividends and other distributions in an aggregate amount not to exceed $100.0 
million, plus certain amounts, including the retained portion of excess cash flow; (v) dividends and other distributions in an 
aggregate amount not to exceed $50.0 million in any calendar year (subject to increase upon the achievement of certain 
ratios); and (vi) so long as no default or event of default exists, dividends and other distributions in an aggregate amount not 
to exceed $150.0 million.

As of December 31, 2017, we were in compliance with all the covenants and default provisions under our credit 
arrangements.

Future Outlook

Over the long-term, we believe we can grow our revenues by high single digits annually on an organic basis primarily 
from growth in content related to the increased use of our products by our customers to satisfy regulatory requirements. A key 
priority to ensuring that we continue to grow is to continue to develop new, emerging technologies, including the LiDAR 
sensors we are developing with Quanergy. In addition, our revenues are likely to track automotive production and the overall 
economies in the mature markets of the Americas and Europe. We also expect to grow the business through strategic 
acquisitions. 

In 2018. we are forecasting organic revenue growth (which excludes acquisitions and the impact of foreign exchange 
movements) of 3 to 5 percent for the full year 2018. We expect to deliver strong year-over-year operational improvements in 
our adjusted EBIT margins, which will be driven by both our cost reduction initiatives as well as capturing M&A cost 
synergies as a result of integration activities. We are seeking to sustain double-digit organic earnings per share ("EPS") 
growth in 2018. Finally, we expect to continue to deliver strong free cash flow and improve our leverage ratio. 

Employees

As of December 31, 2017, we had approximately 22,100 employees, of whom approximately 8% were located in the 
United States. As of December 31, 2017, approximately 530 of our employees were covered by collective bargaining 
agreements. In addition, in various countries, local law requires our participation in works councils. We also utilize contract 
workers in multiple locations in order to cost-effectively manage variations in manufacturing volume. As of December 31, 
2017, we had approximately 2,030 contract workers on a worldwide basis. We believe that our relations with our employees 
are good.
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Research and development

Research and development expenses consist of costs related to direct product design, development, and process 
engineering. The level of R&D expense is related to the number of products in development, the stage of development 
process, the complexity of the underlying technology, the potential scale of the product upon successful commercialization, 
and the level of our exploratory research. We conduct such activities in areas that we believe will accelerate our longer term 
net revenue growth. Our development expense is typically associated with engineering core technology platforms to specific 
applications and engineering major upgrades that improve the functionality or reduce the cost of existing products.

Costs related to modifications of existing products for use by new customers in familiar applications are recorded in 
cost of revenue and not included in R&D expense or capitalized development costs.

Proposed appropriation of net results

The Directors propose that the net income for the year be netted with retained earnings brought forward from the 
previous year. This proposal has been included in the financial statements.

Risk Management

Although a certain degree of risk is inherent in our business, we endeavor to minimize risk to the extent reasonably 
possible. Refer to "Risk Factors" below for the significant risks facing our business. A summary of the principal categories of 
risk we face and our strategies to minimize these risks are described below.

Strategic and operational

We take strategic and operational risks (for example through acquisitions, investments in technology, and restructuring 
actions to optimize our structure) in pursuit of achieving profitable growth and providing shareholder value. We believe these 
risks are mitigated through the processes described in the "Risk Oversight" section below.

Compliance

We consider adherence to laws and regulations to be fundamental in our ability to operate. As noted in the "Risk 
Oversight" section below, our Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing major legislative and regulatory developments 
that could materially impact us. 

We require our employees to follow applicable laws and regulations and operate ethically. To this end, we have adopted 
a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics governing the conduct of our personnel, including our principal executive officer, 
principal financial officer (who is also our principal accounting officer), and controller, and persons performing similar 
functions. In addition, we have adopted a Code of Ethics for Senior Financial Employees. 

Financial

We are subject to credit, market, and liquidity risks. Credit risk is the risk of our financial loss if a counterparty fails to 
meet its contractual obligations. We manage our credit risk on cash equivalents by investing in highly rated, marketable 
instruments and/or financial institutions. Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, 
will affect our income or the value of our holdings of financial instruments. We manage our market risk by using foreign 
currency and commodity derivatives that limit our risk to these changes in market prices. Liquidity risk is the risk that we 
will not be able to meet our financial obligations as they become due. Our approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure, as 
far as possible, that we will always have sufficient liquidity to meet our liabilities when due without incurring unacceptable 
losses or risking damage to our reputation. 

For an overview of the principal risks we are subject to, refer to Note 24, "Financial Risk Management Objectives and 
Policies," in the audited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report.

Financial Reporting

We strive to ensure that our financial reports are free of material misstatements. Under the supervision and with the 
participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, we have conducted 
an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. Our evaluation was based on the framework 
in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission (2013 Framework) ("COSO"). 
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Our internal risk management and risk control systems provide a reasonable degree of assurance that our financial 
reports do not contain any errors of material importance, and these risk management and risk control systems have functioned 
properly during fiscal year 2017.

Impact in 2017

For a description of the material impacts of risks on our business in 2017, refer to the Results of Operations section of 
this Directors' Report.

Risk Oversight 

The Board is responsible for overseeing our risk management process. The Board focuses on our general risk 
management strategy, the most significant risks facing us, and ensures that appropriate risk mitigation strategies are 
implemented by management. The Board is also apprised of particular risk management matters in connection with its 
general oversight and approval of corporate matters. 

The Board has delegated to the Audit Committee oversight of our risk management process. Among its duties, the 
Audit Committee (a) reviews with management our policies with respect to risk assessment and management of risks that 
may be material to us, including the risk of fraud, (b) reviews the integrity of our financial reporting processes, both internal 
and external, (c) reviews our major financial risk exposures and the steps management has taken to monitor and control such 
exposures, and (d) reviews our compliance with legal and regulatory requirements. The Audit Committee is also responsible 
for reviewing major legislative and regulatory developments that could materially impact our contingent liabilities and risks. 
Other Board committees also consider and address risk as they perform their respective committee responsibilities. All 
committees report to the full Board as appropriate, including when a matter rises to the level of a material or enterprise level 
risk. 

Our management is responsible for managing the day-to-day oversight of the risk management strategy for our ongoing 
business. This oversight includes identifying, evaluating, and addressing potential risks that may exist at the enterprise, 
strategic, financial, operational, and compliance and reporting levels. Our internal audit function (which is not a fixed 
department but a rotating system of internal finance personnel) serves as the primary monitoring and testing function for 
company-wide policies and procedures. 

We believe the division of risk management responsibilities described above is an effective approach for addressing the 
risks facing us and that our Board leadership structure supports this approach. We do not expect to make any significant 
changes to our risk management system in 2018. We will, however, continue to maintain, and endeavor to strengthen, the risk 
management measures described above.

Risk Factors

Following is a discussion of the significant risks we face. The materialization of any of these risks could have a 
material adverse impact on our results of operations, financial position, and cash flows.

Risks Related to our Industry and Business Operations

Our business is subject to numerous global risks, including regulatory, political, economic, and military concerns and 
instability.

Our business, including our employees, customers, and suppliers, are located throughout the world. As a result, we are 
exposed to numerous global and local risks that could decrease revenue and/or increase expenses and therefore, decrease our 
profitability, including, without limitation:

• trade regulations, including customs, import, and export matters; 

• tariffs, trade barriers and disputes; 

• local employment costs, regulations, and conditions; 

• difficulties with, and costs for, protecting our intellectual property; 

• challenges in collecting accounts receivable; 
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• tax law and regulatory changes, including examinations by taxing authorities, variations in tax laws from country to 
country, changes to the terms of income tax treaties, and difficulties in the tax-efficient repatriation of cash generated 
or held in a number of jurisdictions; 

• natural disasters;

• instability in economic or political conditions, inflation, recession, actual or anticipated military or political 
conflicts, and potential impact due to the upcoming exit of the United Kingdom (the "U.K.") from the European 
Union (the "E.U."); and 

• impact of each of the foregoing on our outsourcing and procurement arrangements.

We have sizeable operations in China, including two principal manufacturing sites. In addition, approximately 15% of 
our net revenue in fiscal year 2017 was derived from sales to customers in China. Economic conditions in China have been 
and may continue to be volatile and uncertain. In addition, the legal and regulatory system in China is still developing and 
subject to change. Accordingly, our operations and transactions with customers in China could be adversely affected by 
changes to market conditions, changes to the regulatory environment, or interpretation of Chinese law.

Adverse conditions in the industries upon which we are dependent, including the automotive industry, have had, and 
may in the future have, adverse effects on our business.

We are dependent on end market dynamics to sell our products, and our operating results could be adversely affected by 
cyclical and reduced demand in these markets. Periodic downturns in our customers’ industries could significantly reduce 
demand for certain of our products, which could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial 
position, and cash flows.

Much of our business depends on, and is directly affected by, the global automobile industry. Sales in our automotive 
end markets accounted for approximately 62% of our total net revenue in fiscal year 2017. Adverse developments like those 
we have seen in past years in the automotive industry, including but not limited to declines in demand, customer 
bankruptcies, and increased demands on us for pricing decreases, could have adverse effects on our results of operations and 
could impact our liquidity and our ability to meet restrictive debt covenants. In addition, these same conditions could 
adversely impact certain of our vendors’ financial solvency, resulting in potential liabilities or additional costs to us to ensure 
uninterrupted supply to our customers. 

Continued pricing and other pressures from our customers may adversely affect our business.

Many of our customers, including automotive manufacturers and other industrial and commercial original equipment 
manufacturers ("OEMs"), have policies that require annual price reductions. If we are not able to offset continued price 
reductions through improved operating efficiencies and reduced expenditures, the required price reductions will impact, and 
may have a material adverse effect on, our results of operations and cash flows. In addition, our customers occasionally 
require engineering, design, or production changes. In some circumstances, we may be unable to cover the costs of these 
changes with price increases. Further, as our customers grow larger, they may increasingly require us to provide them with 
our products on an exclusive basis, which could limit sales, cause an increase in the number of products we must carry and, 
consequently, increase our inventory levels and working capital requirements. Certain of our customers, particularly in the 
automotive industry, are increasingly requiring their suppliers to agree to their standard purchasing terms without deviation as 
a condition to engage in future business transactions. As a result, we may find it difficult to enter into agreements with such 
customers on terms that are commercially reasonable to us.

We operate in markets that are highly competitive, and competitive pressures could require us to lower our prices or 
result in reduced demand for our products.

We operate in markets that are highly competitive, and we compete on the basis of product performance, quality, 
service, and/or price across the industries and markets we serve. A significant element of our competitive strategy is to 
manufacture high-quality products at best cost, particularly in markets where low-cost country-based suppliers, primarily in 
China with respect to the Sensing Solutions business, have entered the markets or increased their per-unit sales in these 
markets by delivering products at low costs to local OEMs. In addition, certain of our competitors in the automotive sensor 
market are influenced or controlled by major OEMs or suppliers, thereby limiting our access to these customers. Many of our 
customers also rely on us as their sole source of supply for many of the products that we have historically sold to them. These 
customers may choose to develop relationships with additional suppliers or elect to produce some or all of these products 
internally, primarily to reduce risk of delivery interruptions or as a means of extracting price reductions from us. Certain of 
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our customers currently have, or may develop in the future, the capability to internally produce the products that we sell to 
them and may compete with us with respect to those and other products and with respect to other customers. Competitive 
pressures such as these, and others, could affect prices or customer demand for our products, negatively impacting our profit 
margins and/or resulting in a loss of market share.

Increasing costs for, or limitations on the supply of or access to, manufactured components and raw materials may 
adversely affect our business and results of operations.

We use a broad range of manufactured components, subassemblies, and raw materials in the manufacture of our 
products, including those containing silver, gold, platinum, palladium, copper, aluminum, nickel, zinc, resins, and certain rare 
earth metals, which may experience significant volatility in their price and availability. We have entered into hedge 
arrangements in an attempt to minimize commodity pricing volatility and may continue to do so from time to time in the 
future. Such hedges might not be economically successful. In addition, these hedges do not qualify as accounting hedges in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. Accordingly, the change in fair value of these hedges is 
recognized in earnings immediately, which could cause volatility in our results of operations from quarter to quarter. Refer to 
Note 16, "Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities," of our audited consolidated financial statements, and Note 24, 
"Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies," each included elsewhere in this Annual Report for further discussion 
of accounting for hedges of commodity prices, and an analysis of the sensitivity on pretax earnings of changes in the forward 
prices on these hedges, respectively.

The availability and price of raw materials and manufactured components may be subject to change due to, among 
other things, new laws or regulations, global economic or political events including strikes, suppliers' allocations to other 
purchasers, interruptions in production by suppliers, changes in exchange rates, and prevailing price levels. It is generally 
difficult to pass increased prices for manufactured components and raw materials through to our customers in the form of 
price increases. Therefore, a significant increase in the price or a decrease in the availability of these items could materially 
increase our operating costs and materially and adversely affect our business and results of operations.

Natural disasters or other disasters outside of our control could cause significant business interruptions resulting in 
harm to our business operations and financial condition.

Our operations and those of our suppliers and customers, and the supply chains that support their operations, may 
potentially suffer interruptions caused by natural disasters such as earthquakes, tsunamis, hurricanes, typhoons, or floods; or 
other disasters such as fires, explosions, disease, acts of terrorism or war that are outside of our control. If a business 
interruption occurs and we are unsuccessful in our continuing efforts to minimize the impact of these events, our business, 
results of operations, financial position, and/or cash flows could be materially adversely affected.

Labor disruptions or increased labor costs could adversely affect our business.

As of December 31, 2017, we had approximately 22,100 employees, of whom approximately 8% were located in the 
U.S. As of December 31, 2017, approximately 530 of our employees were covered by collective bargaining agreements. In 
addition, in various countries, local law requires our participation in works councils. 

A material labor disruption or work stoppage at one or more of our manufacturing facilities could have a material 
adverse effect on our business. In addition, work stoppages occur relatively frequently in the industries in which many of our 
customers operate, such as the automotive industry. If one or more of our larger customers were to experience a material 
work stoppage for any reason, that customer may halt or limit the purchase of our products. This could cause us to shut down 
production facilities relating to those products, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of 
operations, and/or financial condition.

We may not realize all of the revenue or achieve anticipated gross margins from products subject to existing purchase 
orders or for which we are currently engaged in development.

Our ability to generate revenue from products pending customer awards is subject to a number of important risks and 
uncertainties, many of which are beyond our control, including the number of products our customers will actually produce, 
as well as the timing of such production. Many of our customer agreements provide for supplying a certain share of the 
customer’s requirements for a particular application or platform, rather than for manufacturing a specific quantity of 
products. In some cases, we have no remedy if a customer chooses to purchase less than we expect. In cases where customers 
do make minimum volume commitments to us, our remedy for their failure to meet those minimum volumes is limited to 
increased pricing on those products that the customer does purchase from us or renegotiating other contract terms. There is no 
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assurance that such price increases or new terms will offset a shortfall in expected revenue. In addition, some of our 
customers may have the right to discontinue a program or replace us with another supplier under certain circumstances. As a 
result, products for which we are currently incurring development expenses may not be manufactured by customers at all, or 
may be manufactured in smaller amounts than currently anticipated. Therefore, our anticipated future revenue from products 
relating to existing customer awards or product development relationships may not result in firm orders from customers for 
the originally contracted amount. We also incur capital expenditures and other costs, and price our products, based on 
estimated production volumes. If actual production volumes were significantly lower than estimated, our anticipated revenue 
and gross margin from those new products would be adversely affected. We cannot predict the ultimate demand for our 
customers’ products, nor can we predict the extent to which we would be able to pass through unanticipated per-unit cost 
increases to our customers.

We are dependent on market acceptance of our new product introductions and product innovations for future 
revenue.

Substantially all markets in which we operate are impacted by technological change or change in consumer tastes and 
preferences, which are rapid in certain end markets. Our operating results depend substantially upon our ability to continually 
design, develop, introduce, and sell new and innovative products; to modify existing products; and to customize products to 
meet customer requirements driven by such change. There are numerous risks inherent in these processes, including the risk 
that we will be unable to anticipate the direction of technological change or that we will be unable to develop and market 
profitable new products and applications before our competitors or in time to satisfy customer demands.

Security breaches and other disruptions to our information technology infrastructure could interfere with our 
operations, compromise confidential information, and expose us to liability which could materially adversely impact 
our business and reputation.

Security breaches and other disruptions to our information technology infrastructure could interfere with our 
operations; compromise information belonging to us, our employees, customers, and suppliers; and expose us to liability that 
could adversely impact our business and reputation. In the ordinary course of business, we rely on information technology 
networks and systems, some of which are managed by third parties, to process, transmit, and store electronic information, and 
to manage or support a variety of business processes and activities. Additionally, we collect and store certain data, including 
proprietary business information and customer and employee data, and may have access to confidential or personal 
information that is subject to privacy and security laws, regulations, and customer-imposed controls. We also face the 
challenge of supporting our older systems and implementing necessary upgrades. Despite our cybersecurity measures 
(including employee and third-party training, monitoring of networks and systems, and maintenance of backup and protective 
systems) that are continuously reviewed and upgraded, our information technology networks and infrastructure may still be 
vulnerable to damage, disruptions, or shutdowns due to attacks by hackers, breaches, employee error or malfeasance, power 
outages, computer viruses, telecommunication or utility failures, systems failures, natural disasters, or other catastrophic 
events. Any such events could result in legal claims or proceedings, liability or penalties under privacy laws, disruption in 
operations, and damage to our reputation, which could materially adversely affect our business. Further, to the extent that any 
disruption or security breach results in a loss of, or damage to, our data, or an inappropriate disclosure of confidential 
information, it could cause significant damage to our reputation, affect our relationships with our customers, lead to claims 
against the Company, and ultimately harm our business, financial condition, and/or results of operations.

Our level of indebtedness could adversely affect our financial condition and our ability to operate our business.

As of December 31, 2017, we had $3,312.5 million of gross outstanding indebtedness, including $927.8 million of 
indebtedness under the term loan (the "Term Loan") provided by the eighth amendment to the credit agreement dated as of 
May 12, 2011 (as amended, the "Credit Agreement"), $500.0 million aggregate principal amount of 4.875% senior notes due 
2023 issued under an indenture dated as of April 17, 2013 (the "4.875% Senior Notes"), $400.0 million aggregate principal 
amount of 5.625% senior notes due 2024 issued under an indenture dated as of October 14, 2014 (the "5.625% Senior 
Notes"), $700.0 million aggregate principal amount of 5.0% senior notes due 2025 issued under an indenture dated as of 
March 26, 2015 (the "5.0% Senior Notes"), $750.0 million aggregate principal amount of 6.25% senior notes due 2026 issued 
under an indenture dated as of November 27, 2015 (the "6.25% Senior Notes", and together with the 4.875% Senior Notes, 
the 5.625% Senior Notes, and the 5.0% Senior Notes, the "Senior Notes"), and $34.7 million of capital lease and other 
financing obligations. We may incur additional indebtedness in the future. Our substantial indebtedness could have important 
consequences. For example, it could:

• make it more difficult for us to satisfy our debt obligations;
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• restrict us from making strategic acquisitions;

• limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and future business opportunities, thereby 
placing us at a competitive disadvantage if our competitors are not as highly-leveraged;

• increase our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions; or

• require us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flows from operations to payments on our indebtedness if we 
do not maintain specified financial ratios or are not able to refinance our indebtedness as it comes due, thereby 
reducing the availability of our cash flows for other purposes.

In addition, the senior secured credit facilities provided for under the Credit Agreement (the "Senior Secured Credit 
Facilities"), permit us to incur additional indebtedness in the future, including borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility 
and $1.0 billion in incremental facilities (the "Accordion") under which additional term loans may be issued or the capacity 
of the Revolving Credit Facility may be increased. As of December 31, 2017, we had $415.3 million available to us under the 
Revolving Credit Facility. 

If we increase our indebtedness by borrowing under the Revolving Credit Facility or incur other new indebtedness 
under the Accordion, the risks described above would increase. Refer to Note 8, "Borrowings," of our audited consolidated 
financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report for further discussion of our outstanding indebtedness.

Our business may not generate sufficient cash flows from operations, or future borrowings under the Senior Secured 
Credit Facilities or from other sources may not be available to us in an amount sufficient to enable us to service and/or 
repay our indebtedness when it becomes due, or to fund our other liquidity needs, including capital expenditures.

We cannot guarantee that we will be able to obtain enough capital to service our debt and fund our planned capital 
expenditures and business plan. If we complete additional acquisitions, our debt service requirements could also increase. If 
we cannot service our indebtedness, we may have to take actions such as selling assets, seeking additional equity 
investments, or reducing or delaying capital expenditures, strategic acquisitions, investments, and alliances, any of which 
could have a material adverse effect on our operations. Additionally, we may not be able to effect such actions, if necessary, 
on commercially reasonable terms, or at all.

Our failure to comply with the covenants contained in our credit arrangements, including non-compliance 
attributable to events beyond our control, could result in an event of default, which could materially and adversely 
affect our operating results and our financial condition.

The Revolving Credit Facility requires us to maintain a senior secured net leverage ratio not to exceed 5.0:1.0 at the 
conclusion of certain periods when outstanding loans and letters of credit that are not cash collateralized for the full face 
amount thereof exceed 10% of the commitments under the Revolving Credit Facility. In addition, Sensata Technologies B.V. 
and its Restricted Subsidiaries (as defined in the Credit Agreement) are required to satisfy this covenant, on a pro forma basis, 
in connection with any new borrowings (including any letter of credit issuances) under the Revolving Credit Facility as of the 
time of such borrowings. Additionally, the Revolving Credit Facility and the indentures governing the Senior Notes require us 
to comply with various operational and other covenants.

If we experienced an event of default under any of our debt instruments that was not cured or waived, the holders of the 
defaulted debt could cause all amounts outstanding with respect to the debt to become due and payable immediately, which, 
in turn, would result in cross defaults under our other debt instruments. Our assets and cash flows may not be sufficient to 
fully repay borrowings if accelerated upon an event of default.

If, when required, we are unable to repay, refinance, or restructure our indebtedness under, or amend the covenants 
contained in, the Credit Agreement, or if a default otherwise occurs, the lenders under the Senior Secured Credit Facilities 
could: elect to terminate their commitments thereunder; cease making further loans; declare all borrowings outstanding, 
together with accrued interest and other fees, to be immediately due and payable; institute foreclosure proceedings against 
those assets that secure the borrowings under the Senior Secured Credit Facilities; and prevent us from making payments on 
the Senior Notes. Any such actions could force us into bankruptcy or liquidation, and we might not be able to repay our 
obligations in such an event.
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Risks Related to Prior and Future Acquisitions and Divestitures

Integration of acquired companies, and any future acquisitions, joint ventures, and/or dispositions, may require 
significant resources and/or result in significant unanticipated losses, costs, or liabilities, and we may not realize all of 
the anticipated operating synergies and cost savings from acquisitions.

We have grown, and in the future we intend to continue to grow, by making acquisitions or entering into joint ventures 
or similar arrangements. There can be no assurance that our acquisitions will perform as expected in the future. Any future 
acquisitions will depend on our ability to identify suitable acquisition candidates, to negotiate acceptable terms for their 
acquisition, and to finance those acquisitions. We also will face competition for suitable acquisition candidates, which may 
increase our costs. In addition, acquisitions or investments require significant managerial attention, which may be diverted 
from our other operations. Furthermore, acquisitions of businesses or facilities entail a number of additional risks, including:

• problems with effective integration of operations;

• the inability to maintain key pre-acquisition customer, supplier, and employee relationships;

• increased operating costs; and

• exposure to unanticipated liabilities.

Subject to the terms of our indebtedness, we may finance future acquisitions with cash from operations, additional 
indebtedness, and/or by issuing additional equity securities. In addition, we could face financial risks associated with 
incurring additional indebtedness such as reducing our liquidity, limiting our access to financing markets, and increasing the 
amount of service on our debt. The availability of debt to finance future acquisitions may be restricted, and our ability to 
make future acquisitions may be limited.

There can be no assurance that any anticipated synergies or cost savings generated through acquisitions will be 
achieved or that they will be achieved in our estimated time frame. We may not be able to successfully integrate and 
streamline overlapping functions from future acquisitions, and integration may be more costly to accomplish than we expect. 
In addition, we could encounter difficulties in managing our combined company due to its increased size and scope.

Restructuring our business or divesting some of our businesses or product lines in the future may have a material 
adverse effect on our results of operations, financial position, and cash flows.

We continue to evaluate the strategic fit of specific businesses and products that may result in additional divestitures. 
Any divestitures may result in significant write-offs, including those related to goodwill and other intangible assets, which 
could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial position. Divestitures could involve additional 
risks, including difficulties in the separation of operations, services, products, and personnel; the diversion of management's 
attention from other business concerns; the disruption of our business; and the potential loss of key employees. There can be 
no assurance that we will be successful in addressing these or any other significant risks encountered.

We also may seek to restructure our business in the future by disposing of certain assets or by consolidating operations. 
There can be no assurance that any restructuring of our business will not adversely affect our financial position, leverage, or 
results of operations. In addition, any significant restructuring of our business will require significant managerial attention, 
which may be diverted from our other operations.

If the acquisitions of August Cayman Company, Inc. (“Schrader”) and the acquired assets and subsidiaries of Custom 
Sensors & Technologies Ltd. ("CST") do not achieve their intended results, our business, financial condition, and 
results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

The integrations of Schrader and CST into our operations are significant undertakings and continue to require attention 
from our management team. Actual synergies and the expenses required to realize these synergies could differ materially 
from our expectations, and we cannot assure you that these synergies will not have other adverse effects on our business. 
Failure to achieve the anticipated benefits of these acquisitions could result in increased costs or decreased revenue and could 
materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, and/or results of operations.
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Risks Related to Legal and Regulatory Matters

We are subject to risks associated with our non-U.S. operations, including changes in local government regulations 
and policies, exchange controls, and foreign exchange exposure, which could adversely impact the reported results of 
operations from our international businesses.

Our subsidiaries located outside of the U.S. generated approximately 65% of our net revenue in fiscal year 2017, and 
we expect sales from non-U.S. markets to continue to represent a significant portion of our total net revenue. International 
sales and operations are subject to changes in local government regulations and policies, including those related to tariffs and 
trade barriers, investments, taxation, exchange controls, and repatriation of earnings.

A portion of our net revenue, expenses, receivables, and payables are denominated in currencies other than the U.S. 
dollar ("USD"). We are, therefore, subject to foreign currency risks and foreign exchange exposure. Changes in the relative 
values of currencies occur from time to time and could affect our operating results. For financial reporting purposes, we, and 
each of our subsidiaries, operate under a USD functional currency because of the significant influence of USD on our 
operations. In certain instances, we enter into transactions that are denominated in a currency other than USD. At the date that 
such transaction is recognized, each asset, liability, revenue, expense, gain, or loss arising from the transaction is measured 
and recorded in USD using the exchange rate in effect at that date. At each balance sheet date, recorded monetary balances 
denominated in a currency other than USD are adjusted to USD using the exchange rate at the balance sheet date, with gains 
or losses recorded in Other, net in the consolidated statements of operations. During times of a weakening USD, our reported 
international sales and earnings may increase because the non-U.S. currency will translate into more USD. Conversely, 
during times of a strengthening USD, our reported international sales and earnings may decrease because the local currency 
will translate into fewer USD.

There are other risks that are inherent in our non-U.S. operations, including the potential for changes in socio-economic 
conditions and/or monetary and fiscal policies, intellectual property protection difficulties and disputes, the settlement of 
legal disputes through certain foreign legal systems, the collection of receivables, exposure to possible expropriation or other 
government actions, unsettled political conditions, and possible terrorist attacks. These and other factors may have a material 
adverse effect on our non-U.S. operations and, therefore, on our business and results of operations.

We could be adversely affected by violations of the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (the "FCPA"), the United 
Kingdom's Bribery Act, and similar worldwide anti-bribery laws.

The U.S. FCPA, the United Kingdom's Bribery Act, and similar worldwide anti-bribery laws generally prohibit 
companies and their intermediaries from making improper payments to government officials for the purpose of obtaining or 
retaining business. Our policies mandate compliance with these anti-bribery laws. We operate in many parts of the world that 
have experienced governmental corruption to some degree, and in certain circumstances, strict compliance with anti-bribery 
laws may conflict with local customs and practices. Despite our training and compliance program, we cannot provide 
assurance that our internal control policies and procedures will protect us from reckless or criminal acts committed by our 
employees or agents. Violations of these laws, or allegations of such violations, could disrupt our business and result in a 
material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial position, and/or cash flows.

Export of our products is subject to various export control regulations and may require a license from either the U.S. 
Department of State, the U.S. Department of Commerce, or the U.S. Department of the Treasury. Any failure to 
comply with such regulations could result in governmental enforcement actions, fines, penalties, or other remedies, 
which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

We must comply with the U.S. Export Administration Regulations, International Traffic in Arms Regulation ("ITAR"), 
and the sanctions, regulations, and embargoes administered by the Office of Foreign Assets Control (“OFAC”). Certain of our 
products that have military applications are on the munitions list of ITAR and require an individual validated license in order 
to be exported to certain jurisdictions. These restrictions also apply to technical data for design, development, production, 
use, repair, and maintenance of such ITAR-controlled products. The export of ITAR-controlled products or technical data 
requires an individual validated license from the U.S. State Department’s Directorate of Defense Trade Controls. Any delays 
in obtaining, or our inability to obtain, such licenses could result in a material reduction in revenue.

We export products that are subject to other export regulations. Any changes in these export regulations may further 
restrict the export of our products, and we may cease to be able to procure export licenses for our products under existing 
regulations. This area remains fluid in terms of regulatory developments. Should we need an export license under existing 
regulations, the length of time required by the licensing process can vary, potentially delaying the shipment of products and 
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the recognition of the corresponding revenue. We have no control over the time it takes to process an export license. Any 
restriction on the export of a significant product line or a significant amount of our products could cause a significant 
reduction in revenue.

We have discovered in the past, and may discover in the future, deficiencies in our OFAC and ITAR compliance 
programs. Although we continue to enhance these compliance programs, we cannot assure you that any such enhancements 
will ensure that we are in compliance with applicable laws and regulations at all times, or that applicable authorities will not 
raise compliance concerns or perform audits to confirm our compliance with applicable laws and regulations. Any failure by 
us to comply with applicable laws and regulations could result in governmental enforcement actions, fines or penalties, 
criminal and/or civil proceedings, or other remedies, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, 
results of operations, and/or financial condition.

Changes in existing environmental and/or safety laws, regulations, and programs could reduce demand for 
environmental and/or safety-related products, which could cause our revenue to decline.

A significant amount of our business is generated either directly or indirectly as a result of existing laws, regulations, 
and programs related to environmental protection, fuel economy, energy efficiency, and safety regulation. Accordingly, a 
relaxation or repeal of these laws and regulations, or changes in governmental policies regarding the funding, 
implementation, or enforcement of these programs, could result in a decline in demand for environmental and/or safety 
products, which may have a material adverse effect on our revenue.

Our operations expose us to the risk of material environmental liabilities, litigation, government enforcement actions, 
and reputational risk.

We are subject to numerous federal, state, and local environmental protection and health and safety laws and regulations 
in the various countries where we operate and where our products are sold. These laws and regulations govern, among other 
things:

• the generation, storage, use, and transportation of hazardous materials; 

• emissions or discharges of substances into the environment; 

• investigation and remediation of hazardous substances or materials at various sites; 

• greenhouse gas emissions; 

• product hazardous material content; and 

• the health and safety of our employees.

We may not have been, or we may not always be, in compliance with all environmental and health and safety laws and 
regulations. If we violate these laws, we could be fined, criminally charged, or otherwise sanctioned by regulators. In 
addition, environmental and health and safety laws are becoming more stringent, resulting in increased costs and compliance 
burdens.

Certain environmental laws assess liability on current or previous owners or operators of real property for the costs of 
investigation, removal, and remediation of hazardous substances or materials at their properties or properties at which they 
have disposed of hazardous substances. Liability for investigation, removal, and remediation costs under certain federal and 
state laws is retroactive, strict, and joint and several. In addition to cleanup actions brought by governmental authorities, 
private parties could bring personal injury or other claims due to the presence of, or exposure to, hazardous substances.

We cannot provide assurance that our costs of complying with current or future environmental protection and health and 
safety laws, or our liabilities arising from past or future releases of, or exposures to, hazardous substances will not exceed our 
estimates or adversely affect our results of operations, financial position, and cash flows, or that we will not be subject to 
additional environmental claims for personal injury, property damage, and/or cleanup in the future based on our past, present, 
or future business activities.

We may be adversely affected by environmental, safety, and governmental regulations or concerns.

We are subject to the requirements of environmental and occupational safety and health laws and regulations in the U.S. 
and other countries, as well as product performance standards established by quasi-governmental and industrial standards 
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organizations. We cannot assure you that we have been, and will continue to be, in compliance with all of these requirements 
on account of circumstances or events that have occurred or exist but that we are unaware of, or that we will not incur 
material costs or liabilities in connection with these requirements in excess of amounts we have accrued. In addition, these 
requirements are complex, change frequently, and have tended to become more stringent over time. These requirements may 
change in the future in a manner that could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, and financial 
condition. We have made, and may be required in the future to make, capital and other expenditures to comply with 
environmental requirements. In addition, certain of our subsidiaries are subject to pending litigation raising various 
environmental and human health and safety claims. We cannot assure you that our costs to defend and/or settle these claims 
will not be material.

Our products are subject to various requirements related to chemical usage, hazardous material content, and 
recycling.

The E.U., China, and other jurisdictions in which our products are sold have enacted or are proposing to enact laws 
addressing environmental and other impacts from product disposal, use of hazardous materials in products, use of chemicals 
in manufacturing, recycling of products at the end of their useful life, and other related matters. These laws include but are 
not limited to the E.U. Restriction of Hazardous Substances ("RoHS"), End of Life Vehicle ("ELV"), and Waste Electrical and 
Electronic Equipment Directives; the E.U. Registration, Evaluation, Authorization, and Restriction of Chemicals ("REACH") 
regulation; and the China law on Management Methods for Controlling Pollution by Electronic Information Products. These 
laws prohibit the use of certain substances in the manufacture of our products and directly and indirectly impose a variety of 
requirements for modification of manufacturing processes, registration, chemical testing, labeling, and other matters. These 
laws continue to proliferate and expand in these and other jurisdictions to address other materials and other aspects of our 
product manufacturing and sale. These laws could make the manufacture or sale of our products more expensive or 
impossible, could limit our ability to sell our products in certain jurisdictions, and could result in liability for product recalls, 
penalties, or other claims.

Our ability to compete effectively depends, in part, on our ability to maintain the proprietary nature of our products 
and technology.

The electronics industry is characterized by litigation regarding patent and other intellectual property rights. Within this 
industry, companies have become more aggressive in asserting and defending patent claims against competitors. There can be 
no assurance that we will not be subject to future litigation alleging infringement or invalidity of certain of our intellectual 
property rights, or that we will not have to pursue litigation to protect our property rights. Depending on the importance of 
the technology, product, patent, trademark, or trade secret in question, an unfavorable outcome regarding one of these matters 
may have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial position, and/or cash flows.

We may be subject to claims that our products or processes infringe on the intellectual property rights of others, 
which may cause us to pay unexpected litigation costs or damages, modify our products or processes, or prevent us 
from selling our products.

Third parties may claim that our processes and products infringe on their intellectual property rights. Whether or not 
these claims have merit, we may be subject to costly and time consuming legal proceedings, and this could divert 
management’s attention from operating our business. If these claims are successfully asserted against us, we could be 
required to pay substantial damages, make future royalty payments, and/or could be prevented from selling some or all of our 
products. We also may be obligated to indemnify our business partners or customers in any such litigation. Furthermore, we 
may need to obtain licenses from these third parties or substantially re-engineer or rename our products in order to avoid 
infringement. In addition, we might not be able to obtain the necessary licenses on acceptable terms, or at all, or be able to re-
engineer or rename our products successfully. If we are prevented from selling some or all of our products, our sales could be 
materially adversely affected.

We may incur material losses and costs as a result of product liability, warranty, and recall claims that may be 
brought against us.

We have been, and may continue to be, exposed to product liability and warranty claims in the event that our products 
actually or allegedly fail to perform as expected, or the use of our products results, or is alleged to result, in death, bodily 
injury, and/or property damage. Accordingly, we could experience material warranty or product liability losses in the future 
and incur significant costs to defend these claims. In addition, if any of our products are, or are alleged to be, defective, we 
may be required to participate in a recall of the underlying end product, particularly if the defect or the alleged defect relates 
to product safety. Depending on the terms under which we supply products, an OEM may hold us responsible for some or all 
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of the repair or replacement costs of these products under warranty when the product supplied did not perform as represented. 
In addition, a product recall could generate substantial negative publicity about our business and interfere with our 
manufacturing plans and product delivery obligations as we seek to repair affected products. Our costs associated with 
product liability, warranty, and recall claims could be material.

We are a defendant to a variety of litigation in the course of our business that could cause a material adverse effect on 
our results of operations, financial position, and/or cash flows.

In the normal course of business, we are, from time to time, a defendant in litigation, including litigation alleging the 
infringement of intellectual property rights, anti-competitive behavior, product liability, breach of contract, and employment-
related claims. In certain circumstances, patent infringement and antitrust laws permit successful plaintiffs to recover treble 
damages. The defense of these lawsuits may divert our management's attention, and we may incur significant expenses in 
defending these lawsuits. In addition, we may be required to pay damage awards or settlements, or become subject to 
injunctions or other equitable remedies, that could cause a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial 
position, and/or cash flows.

We have recorded a significant amount of goodwill and other identifiable intangible assets, and we may be required to 
recognize goodwill or intangible asset impairments, which would reduce our earnings.

We have recorded a significant amount of goodwill and other identifiable intangible assets. Goodwill and other 
intangible assets, net totaled approximately $4.1 billion as of December 31, 2017, or 60% of our total assets. Goodwill, which 
represents the future economic benefits arising from other assets acquired in a business combination that are not individually 
identified and separately recognized, was approximately $3.0 billion as of December 31, 2017, or 44% of our total assets. 
Goodwill and other identifiable intangible assets were recognized at fair value as of the corresponding acquisition date. 
Impairment of goodwill and other identifiable intangible assets may result from, among other things, deterioration in our 
performance, adverse market conditions, adverse changes in laws or regulations, significant unexpected or planned changes 
in the use of assets, and a variety of other factors. The amount of any quantified impairment must be expensed immediately 
as a charge that is included in operating income, which may impact our ability to raise capital. Although no impairment 
charges have been recorded during the past three fiscal years, should certain assumptions used in the development of the fair 
value of our reporting units change, we may be required to recognize goodwill or other intangible asset impairments. Refer to 
Note 5, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets," of our audited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this 
Annual Report for more details on our goodwill and other identifiable intangible assets. 

New legislation on tax reform could have a material impact on the Company's financial position and/or results of 
operations.

On December 22, 2017, President Donald Trump signed into U.S. law the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (“Tax 
Reform”). The exact ramifications of the legislation is subject to interpretation and could have a material impact on our 
financial position and/or results of operations. We continue to analyze the full impact of enacted legislation and additional 
guidance as provided. Refer to Note 9, "Income Taxes," of our audited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere 
in this Annual Report for further discussion of the Tax Reform.

Taxing authorities could challenge our historical and future tax positions or our allocation of taxable income among 
our subsidiaries, or tax laws to which we are subject could change in a manner adverse to us.

Sensata Technologies Holding N.V. is a Dutch public limited liability company that operates through various 
subsidiaries in a number of countries throughout the world. Consequently, we are subject to tax laws, treaties, and regulations 
in the countries in which we operate, and these laws and treaties are subject to interpretation. We have taken, and will 
continue to take, tax positions based on our interpretation of such tax laws. There can be no assurance that a taxing authority 
will not have a different interpretation of applicable law and assess us with additional taxes. Should we be assessed with 
additional taxes, this may result in a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition, and/or cash 
flows.

We conduct operations through manufacturing and distribution subsidiaries in numerous tax jurisdictions around the 
world. Our transfer pricing arrangements are not generally binding on applicable tax authorities. Our transfer pricing 
methodology is based on economic studies. The prices charged for products, services, and financing among our companies, 
or the royalty rates and other amounts paid for intellectual property rights, could be challenged by the various tax authorities, 
resulting in additional tax liabilities, interest, and penalties.
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Tax laws are subject to change in the various countries in which we operate. Such future changes could be unfavorable 
and result in an increased tax burden to us. Refer to Note 9, "Income Taxes," of our audited consolidated financial statements 
included elsewhere in this Annual Report for further discussion related to income taxes.

Changes to current policies by the U.S. government could adversely affect our business.

Possible changes to current policies by the U.S. government could affect our business, including potentially through 
increased import tariffs and other influences on U.S. trade relations with other countries (e.g., Mexico and China). The 
imposition of tariffs or other trade barriers could increase our costs in certain markets, and may cause our customers to find 
alternative sourcing. In addition, other countries may change their own policies on business and foreign investment in 
companies in their respective countries. Additionally, it is possible that U.S. policy changes and uncertainty about such 
changes could increase market volatility and currency exchange rate fluctuations. Market volatility and currency exchange 
rate fluctuations could impact our results of operations and/or financial condition.

The vote by the United Kingdom to leave the European Union could adversely affect us.

The U.K. held a referendum on June 23, 2016 on its membership in the E.U., in which a majority of voters in the U.K. 
voted to exit the E.U. (commonly referred to as "Brexit"). The U.K.'s departure from the E.U. is currently scheduled to take 
place on Friday, March 29, 2019. The U.K. and the E.U. continue to have negotiations regarding various transition issues and 
are in the process of creating a plan for a two-year transition period following the scheduled exit. Brexit could lead to legal 
uncertainty and potentially divergent national laws and regulations as the U.K. determines which E.U. laws to replace or 
replicate. The referendum also has given rise to calls for the governments of other E.U. member states to consider withdrawal 
from the E.U.

The effects of Brexit will depend on the negotiations between the U.K. and the E.U. and any agreements the U.K. 
makes to retain access to E.U. markets either during a transitional period or more permanently. Brexit could adversely affect 
European or worldwide economic or market conditions and contribute to instability in global financial markets. We have 
substantial sales and operations in both the E.U. and the U.K. Any of these effects of Brexit, and others we cannot anticipate, 
could adversely affect our business, business opportunities, results of operations, and/or financial condition.

Risks Related to our Domicile in the Netherlands

We are a Dutch public limited liability company, and it may be difficult for shareholders to obtain or enforce 
judgments against us in the U.S.

Sensata Technologies Holding, N.V. is incorporated under the laws of the Netherlands, and a substantial portion of our 
assets are located outside of the U.S. As a result, although we have appointed an agent for service of process in the U.S., it 
may be difficult or impossible for U.S. investors to effect service of process upon us within the U.S. or to realize any 
judgment against us in the U.S., including for civil liabilities under U.S. securities laws. Therefore, any judgment obtained 
against us in any U.S. federal or state court may have to be enforced in the courts of the Netherlands, or such other foreign 
jurisdiction, as applicable. Because there is no treaty or other applicable convention between the U.S. and the Netherlands 
with respect to the recognition and enforcement of legal judgments regarding civil or commercial matters, a judgment 
rendered by any U.S. federal or state court will not be enforced by the courts of the Netherlands unless the underlying claim 
is relitigated before a Dutch court. Under current practice, however, a Dutch court will generally grant the same judgment 
without a review of the merits of the underlying claim (i) if that judgment resulted from legal proceedings compatible with 
Dutch notions of due process, (ii) if that judgment does not contravene public policy of the Netherlands, and (iii) if the 
jurisdiction of the U.S. federal or state court has been based on internationally accepted principles of private international 
law.

To date, we are aware of only limited published case law in which Dutch courts have considered whether such a 
judgment rendered by a U.S. federal or state court would be enforceable in the Netherlands. In all of these cases, Dutch lower 
courts applied the aforementioned criteria with respect to the U.S. judgment. If all three criteria noted above were satisfied, 
the Dutch courts granted the same judgment without a review of the merits of the underlying claim.

Investors should not assume, however, that the courts of the Netherlands, or such other foreign jurisdiction, would 
enforce judgments of U.S. courts obtained against us predicated upon the civil liability provisions of the U.S. securities laws, 
or that such courts would enforce, in original actions, liabilities against us predicated solely upon such laws.
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Our shareholders’ rights and responsibilities are governed by Dutch law and differ in some respects from the rights 
and responsibilities of shareholders under U.S. law, and shareholder rights under Dutch law may not be as clearly 
established as shareholder rights are established under the laws of some U.S. jurisdictions.

Our corporate affairs are governed by our articles of association and by the laws governing companies incorporated in 
the Netherlands. The rights of our shareholders and the responsibilities of members of our Board of Directors under Dutch 
law may not be as clearly established as under the laws of some U.S. jurisdictions. In the performance of its duties, our Board 
of Directors is required by Dutch law to consider the interests of our company and our business, including our shareholders, 
our employees, and other stakeholders, in all cases with reasonableness and fairness. It is possible that some of these parties 
will have interests that are different from, or in addition to, the interests of our shareholders.

In addition, the rights of holders of ordinary shares, and many of the rights of shareholders as they relate to, for 
example, the exercise of shareholder rights, are governed by Dutch law and our articles of association and differ from the 
rights of shareholders under U.S. law. For example, Dutch law does not grant appraisal rights to a company’s shareholders 
who wish to challenge the consideration to be paid upon a merger or consolidation of the company.

The provisions of Dutch corporate law and our articles of association have the effect of concentrating control over 
certain corporate decisions and transactions in the hands of our Board of Directors. As a result, holders of our shares may 
have more difficulty in protecting their interests in the face of actions by members of our Board of Directors than if we were 
incorporated in the U.S.

Dutch Corporate Governance Code and Dutch Civil Code

The revised Dutch Corporate Governance Code, or the Dutch Corporate Code, was adopted on 8 December 2016 and 
became effective at the beginning of the 2017 fiscal year (the Dutch Corporate Code can be obtained via the following link - 
http://commissiecorporategovernance.nl). The Dutch Corporate Code contains principles and best practice provisions for 
management boards, supervisory boards, shareholders and general meetings of shareholders, financial reporting, auditors, 
disclosure, compliance, and enforcement standards. The Dutch Corporate Code applies to all Dutch companies listed on a 
government-recognized stock exchange, whether in the Netherlands or elsewhere. Such companies are required under Dutch 
law to disclose in their Dutch annual reports filed in the Netherlands whether or not they apply those provisions of the Dutch 
Corporate Code that are addressed to the board of directors of the company and, if they do not apply those provisions, to 
explain why they deviated from such provisions. 

The Dutch Corporate Code provides that a company should state each year in its Annual Report how it applied the 
principles and best practice provisions of the Dutch Corporate Code in the past year and should, where applicable, carefully 
explain why a provision was not applied. Our shareholders have approved our corporate governance structure and policy and 
endorsed the explanation for deviations from the principles and best practice provisions. We have not applied a number of 
principles and best practice provisions, in many cases because they conflict with the corporate governance rules of the New 
York Stock Exchange ("NYSE"), with which we comply. We will continue to disclose deviations and explanations thereof 
within our Annual Report and thereby seek approval of those financial statements annually.

The following discussion summarizes some primary differences between our corporate governance structure and the 
principles and best practices provisions of the Dutch Corporate Code: 

• The Dutch Corporate Code requires that non-executive directors should draw up a diversity policy for the 
composition of the board, and, if applicable, the executive committee. We do not have a specific diversity policy for 
the board of directors. We consider a range of factors in sourcing director candidates in the best interest of the 
business and its stakeholders. Our board currently includes two female directors of a total desired size of the board 
of ten directors.

• In contrast to rules applicable to U.S. companies, which require that external auditors be appointed by a company's 
audit committee, the Dutch Corporate Code requires that the non-executive directors should submit the nomination 
for the appointment of the external auditor to the general meeting, and should supervise the external auditor’s 
functioning. Our audit committee is directly responsible for the recommendation to the shareholders of the 
appointment and compensation of the independent registered public accounting firm and oversees and evaluates the 
work of our independent registered public accounting firm.

• NYSE rules do not require listed companies to have shareholders approve or declare dividends. The Dutch Civil 
Code provides that appropriation of profits may be through shareholder approval or be arranged for as otherwise 
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provided for in the company's articles of association. Our Articles of Association provide that such reservations will 
be made as determined by the Board and that the profits that remain after such determination shall be at the disposal 
of the General Meeting. The Dutch Civil Code states that a company's policy on dividends and additions to reserves 
(including the level and purpose of the addition to reserves, the amount of the dividend and the type of dividend) 
shall be dealt with and explained as a separate agenda item at the general meeting. The Dutch Civil Code also 
requires that a resolution to pay a dividend shall be dealt with as a separate agenda item at the general meeting. We 
provide shareholders with an opportunity at the General Meeting to discuss our dividend policy and any major 
changes in that policy. However, shareholders will not be entitled to adopt a binding resolution determining our 
future dividend policy. No dividends were proposed by the Directors at December 31, 2017.

• We do not comply with the Dutch Corporate Code provision that prohibits board members who receive options from 
exercising such options until after the third anniversary of the grant date, in order to promote the interests of the 
company in the medium and long term. Options granted to members of our board of directors may generally be 
exercised at any time after vesting until their expiration. We are, however, of the opinion that this situation does not 
adversely impact the interests of the Company in the medium- and long-term. 

• The Dutch Corporate Code provides that shares granted to board members without financial consideration must be 
retained for at least five years. However, shares granted to our board members do not have similar restrictions. We 
are of the opinion that this situation does not adversely impact the interests of the Company in the medium- and 
long-term.

• The Dutch Corporate Code provides that shares held by a non-executive director in the company on whose board 
they serve should be long-term investments. We have an ownership retention requirement for directors.

• The Dutch Corporate Code provides that remuneration in the event of termination of employment may not exceed 
one year's salary. However, our executive director is entitled to remuneration equal to two years of salary in 
connection with a termination without cause or for good reason. This has been contractually agreed upon and cannot 
be adjusted after such agreement.

• The Dutch Corporate Code provides that board members nominated for appointment should attend the general 
meeting at which votes will be cast on their nomination. We do not require that our directors attend the general 
meeting. Our experience has been that shareholders do not attend our general meeting, but rather vote through the 
proxy process, therefore, we have not required director attendance.

• Analyst meetings, analyst presentations, presentations to institutional or other investors, and press conferences 
should be announced in advance on the company’s website and by means of press releases. Analysts’ meetings and 
presentations to investors should not take place shortly before the publication of the regular financial information. 
All shareholders should be able to follow these meetings and presentations in real time, by means of webcasting, 
telephone or otherwise. After the meetings, the presentations should be posted on the company’s website. We follow 
the corporate governance standards of the NYSE relating to announcing and broadcasting meetings with analysts, 
presentations to analysts and investors and press conferences. These standards may conflict with, or may require less 
disclosure than, the Dutch Corporate Code. We believe that compliance with NYSE rules, even if less stringent, than 
the Dutch Corporate Code, is in the best interest of the company and its stakeholders especially given that our 
shareholder base is predominately American.

• The Dutch Corporate Code recommends that the general meeting of shareholders of a company not having statutory 
two tier status may pass a resolution to cancel the binding nature of a nomination for the appointment of a member 
of the management board or of the supervisory board and/or a resolution to dismiss a member of the management 
board or of the supervisory board by an absolute majority of the votes cast. It may be provided that this majority 
should represent a given proportion of the issued capital, which proportion may not exceed one third. Our articles of 
association provide that the majority should represent two-thirds of the votes cast, representing more than half of the 
issued capital. We believe that a higher threshold is more consistent with US practice, where there is no specific 
requirement.

• The Dutch Corporate Code recommends that each substantial change in the corporate governance structure of a 
company and in the compliance of a company with the Dutch Corporate Code be submitted to the general meeting 
of shareholders for discussion under a separate agenda item. We have not applied a number of principles and best 
practice provisions, in many cases because they conflict with the corporate governance rules of the NYSE with 
which we will comply. These deviations from the Dutch Corporate Code will not first be submitted to the general 
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meeting of shareholders. We believe that consistent with US practice the appropriate approach to modification of 
Corporate Governance Guidelines is for the board to make that decision. We will submit changes to shareholders 
when required by our articles of association, SEC, or NYSE rules.

• The Dutch Corporate Code recommends that a non-executive member of the board may not be granted any shares 
and/or rights to shares by way of remuneration. Our non-executive directors have been and will be granted the 
possibility to participate in equity incentive plans. This policy is typical under a one-tier board structure as adopted 
by the Company and has therefore been accepted as such.

Corporate Governance Standards and Board of Directors

We have adopted a one-tier board structure.

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics 

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics governing the conduct of our personnel, including our 
principal executive officer, principal financial officer (who is also our principal accounting officer), and controller, and 
persons performing similar functions. In addition, we have adopted a Code of Ethics for Senior Financial Employees. Copies 
of the current Code of Business Conduct and Ethics and Code of Ethics for Senior Financial Employees are available on our 
website at www.sensata.com. In addition, free copies of the codes may be obtained by shareholders upon request by 
contacting the Vice President, Investors Relations at 1 (508) 236-3800. 

In the event that any amendment is made to either code of ethics, and such amendment is applicable to our principal 
executive officer, principal financial officer (who is also our principal accounting officer), or controller, or persons 
performing similar functions, we will disclose the nature of any such amendment on our website within four business days 
following the date of the amendment. In the event that we grant a waiver, including an implicit waiver, from a provision of 
either code of ethics to our principal executive officer, principal financial officer (who is also our principal accounting 
officer), or controller, or persons performing similar functions, we will disclose the nature of any such waiver, including the 
name of the person to whom the waiver is granted and the date of such waiver, on our website within four business days 
following the date of the waiver. Our website address is www.sensata.com. 

Board of Directors Leadership Structure 

As a company incorporated in the Netherlands, our Chairman of the Board was required to be a non-executive director 
in accordance with Dutch Law. We are retaining the same structure as a company incorporated in the U.K. On May 21, 2015, 
the Board appointed Paul Edgerley as the Chairman of the Board. 

Director Independence

As of December 31, 2017, the Board consisted of ten directors. On February 21, 2018, Beda Bolzenius resigned from 
the Board to pursue other personal opportunities. There were no disagreements between Dr. Bolzenius and the Board or 
management. The Company will maintain nine directors until a tenth director is identified.

The Board is currently comprised of seven directors who qualify as “independent” directors (as such term is defined by 
the rules adopted by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") and the NYSE listing requirements). To be 
considered independent, the Board must determine each year that a director does not have any direct or indirect material 
relationship with us. When assessing the materiality of any relationship a director has with us, the Board reviews all the 
relevant facts and circumstances of the relationship to assure itself that no commercial or other relationship of a director 
impairs such director's independence. 

The Board has affirmatively determined that each of the director nominees, with the exception of Mr. Wroe and Ms. 
Sullivan qualify as independent. As of December 31, 2017, we fully comply with the NYSE requirements regarding board 
and committee independence.

Shareholder Communications with the Board of Directors 

Any shareholders or other interested parties who have concerns that they wish to make known to our non-executive 
directors should send any such communication to the Chairman of the Audit Committee in care of the offices of Sensata 
Technologies Holding plc through our U.S. operating subsidiary, Sensata Technologies, Inc., at 529 Pleasant Street, 
Attleboro, Massachusetts 02703. All such communication will be reviewed by the Chairman of the Audit Committee and 
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discussed with the Audit Committee, which will determine an appropriate response or course of action. Examples of 
inappropriate communication include business solicitations, advertising, and communication that is frivolous in nature, 
relates to routine business matters (such as product inquiries, complaints, or suggestions), or raises grievances that are 
personal in nature.

Board Committees and Meetings 

During fiscal 2017, the Board of Directors held five meetings. We have no policy regarding director attendance at our 
Annual General Meeting. No directors were present at the 2017 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders.

There are currently four standing committees of the Board, including the Audit, Compensation, Finance, and 
Nominating and Governance Committees. The following table provides current membership information for the Audit, 
Compensation, Finance, and Nominating and Governance committees of the Board of Directors:

Committee Membership

Name Age Gender
Year of First
Appointment Audit Compensation Finance

Nominating
and

Governance

Paul Edgerley (Non-Executive Director) 62 Male 2010 — — X   X*
Martha Sullivan (Chief Executive Officer) 61 Female 2013 — — — —
James Heppelmann (Non-Executive Director) 53 Male 2014 — X* X X
Constance E. Skidmore (Non-Executive Director) 66 Female 2017 X* — — X
Charles W. Peffer (Non-Executive Director) 70 Male 2010 X — — —
Kirk Pond (Non-Executive Director) 73 Male 2011 — X — —
Andrew Teich (Non-Executive Director) 57 Male 2014 — X X X
Thomas Wroe (Non-Executive Director) 67 Male 2010 — — — —
Stephen Zide (Non-Executive Director) 58 Male 2010 X —   X* —

* Committee Chairperson

For the last date of the current appointment period of the directors and the positions of the directors specified above at 
other organizations, reference is made to the definitive proxy statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission 
at www.sec.gov on April 20, 2017, which is also available on the Company’s website at www.sensata.com. We expect that 
our 2018 proxy statement will be filed on or around April 16, 2018.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation 

No current member of the Compensation Committee, or member who served on the Compensation Committee during 
fiscal year 2017, is or has been an officer or employee of the Company, and none of our executive officers currently serves or 
served during fiscal year 2017 as a member of the board of directors or compensation committee, or other committee serving 
an equivalent function, of any other third-party entity that has one or more of its executive officers serving as a member of 
the Board of Directors or Compensation Committee or any board committee of any of our subsidiaries. There are, and during 
fiscal year 2017 there were, no interlocking relationships between any of our executive officers and the Compensation 
Committee, on the one hand, and the executive officers and compensation committee of any other companies, on the other 
hand. 

Related Person Transaction Policy

The Board of Directors has adopted a statement of policy regarding transactions with related persons, which we refer to 
as our “related person policy.” Our related person policy requires that a “related person” (as defined as in paragraph (a) of 
Item 404 of Regulation S-K of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission) must promptly disclose to our General 
Counsel any “related person transaction” (defined as any transaction that is reportable by us under Item 404(a) of 
Regulation S-K, in which we were or are to be a participant and the amount involved exceeds $120,000 and in which any 
related person had or will have a direct or indirect material interest) and all material facts with respect thereto. Our General 
Counsel will then promptly communicate that information to the Audit Committee. No related person transaction will be 
consummated or will continue without the approval or ratification of our Audit Committee. If advance Audit Committee 
approval is not feasible, then the related person transaction shall be considered and may be ratified, modified, or terminated 
as the Audit Committee may determine at its next regularly scheduled meeting. In determining whether to approve or ratify a 
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related person transaction, the Audit Committee will take into account, among other factors it deems appropriate, whether the 
interested transaction is on terms no less favorable than terms generally available to an unaffiliated third party under the same 
or similar circumstances and the extent of the related person’s interest in the transaction. It is our policy that directors 
interested in a related person transaction will recuse themselves from any vote involving a related person transaction in which 
they have an interest. 

Risk Oversight 

The Board is responsible for overseeing our risk management process. The Board focuses on our general risk 
management strategy and the most significant risks facing us, and ensures that appropriate risk mitigation strategies are 
implemented by management. The Board is also apprised of particular risk management matters in connection with its 
general oversight and approval of corporate matters. 

The Board has delegated to the Audit Committee oversight of our risk management process. Among its duties, the 
Audit Committee: (a) reviews with management our policies with respect to risk assessment and management of risks that 
may be material to us, including the risk of fraud, (b) reviews the integrity of our financial reporting processes, both internal 
and external, (c) reviews our major financial risk exposures and the steps management has taken to monitor and control such 
exposures, and (d) reviews our compliance with legal and regulatory requirements. The Audit Committee is also responsible 
for reviewing legislative and regulatory developments that could materially impact our contingent liabilities and risk profile. 
Other Board committees also consider and address risk as they perform their respective committee responsibilities. All 
committees report to the full Board as appropriate, including when a matter rises to the level of a material or enterprise level 
risk. 

Under the guidance of the Board, our management is responsible for managing the day-to-day oversight of the risk 
management strategy for our ongoing business. This oversight includes identifying, evaluating, and addressing potential risks 
that may exist at the enterprise, strategic, financial, operational, compliance, and reporting levels. Our internal audit function 
(which is not a fixed department but a rotating system of internal finance personnel) serves as a monitoring control for 
Company-wide policies and procedures. 

We believe the division of risk management responsibilities described above is an effective approach for addressing the 
risks facing us and that our Board leadership structure supports this approach. 

The Board confirms:

• the report provides sufficient insights into the effectiveness of the internal risk management and control systems;

• the internal control framework provides reasonable assurance that the financial reporting does not contain any 
material inaccuracies;

• based on the current state of affairs, it is justified that the financial reporting is prepared on a going concern basis; 
and 

• that no material risks and uncertainties exist that are relevant to the expectation of the company’s continuity for the 
period of twelve months after the preparation of the report.
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The below directors are signing as members of the Board of Directors of Sensata Technologies Holding plc, the 
successor to Sensata Technologies Holding N.V., on behalf of Sensata Technologies Holding N.V.

Swindon, April 12, 2018 

/S/    PAUL EDGERLEY         /S/    MARTHA SULLIVAN    
Paul Edgerley Martha Sullivan
Its: Director Its: Director

/S/    STEPHEN ZIDE         /S/    JAMES HEPPELMANN     
Stephen Zide James Heppelmann
Its: Director Its: Director

/S/  CONSTANCE SKIDMORE /S/    CHARLES PEFFER     
Constance Skidmore Charles Peffer
Its: Director Its: Director

/S/    KIRK POND         /S/   ANDREW TEICH       
Kirk Pond Andrew Teich
Its: Director Its: Director

/S/    THOMAS WROE        
Thomas Wroe
Its: Director
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Report of the Non-Executive Directors

On an ongoing basis our Board of Directors  supervises and discusses the Company’s strategy, the implementation of 
the strategy and the principal risks associated with it.

Non-executive directors

For biographies of our non-executive directors, reference is made to the definitive proxy statement filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission at www.sec.gov on April 20, 2017, which is also available on our website at 
www.sensata.com. We expect that our 2018 proxy statement will be filed on or around April 16, 2018.

Evaluation

The Board is committed to continuous improvement and conducts an annual self-assessment of the performance of the 
Board and each of the Board committees. The assessment process is led and coordinated by the Nominating and Governance 
Committee. The self-assessment is designed to identify areas where the Board and its committees are particularly effective 
and to surface opportunities for further enhancement. When the self-assessments have been completed, the results and any 
recommendations made by the Nominating and Governance Committee to further enhance the Board’s functioning are 
discussed by the full Board.

Independence Non-executive Directors 

As of December 31, 2017, the Board consisted of ten directors, including nine non-executive directors. On February 21, 
2018, Beda Bolzenius (a non-executive director) resigned from the Board to pursue other personal opportunities. There were 
no disagreements between Dr. Bolzenius and the Board or management. The Company will maintain nine directors until a 
tenth director is identified.

The Board is currently comprised of seven non-executive directors who qualify as “independent” directors (as such 
term is defined by the rules adopted by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") and the NYSE listing 
requirements). To be considered independent, the Board must determine each year that a director does not have any direct or 
indirect material relationship with us. When assessing the materiality of any relationship a director has with us, the Board 
reviews all the relevant facts and circumstances of the relationship to assure itself that no commercial or other relationship of 
a director impairs such director's independence. 

The Board has affirmatively determined that each of the non-executive director nominees, with the exception of Mr. 
Wroe qualify as independent. As of December 31, 2017, we fully comply with the NYSE requirements regarding board and 
committee independence.

Internal audit function

The Dutch Corporate Code recommends that companies have an internal audit department. If there is no separate 
department for the internal audit function, the non-executive directors will assess annually whether adequate alternative 
measures have been taken, partly on the basis of a recommendation issued by the audit committee, and will consider whether 
it is necessary to establish an internal audit department. The Board has determined that the Company will form an internal 
audit department.

Committees

Below is a description of the Audit, Compensation, Finance, and Nominating and Governance committees of the Board 
of Directors and information regarding committee meetings held in fiscal year 2017. The charter for each of our committees 
is available on the investor relations page of our website at www.sensata.com. You may contact the Vice President, Investor 
Relations at 1 (508) 236-3800 for a printed copy of these documents free of charge.

Audit Committee 

Our Audit Committee is currently composed of three directors: Ms. Skidmore (who serves as Chair) and Messrs. Peffer 
and Zide, each of whom is an independent director for audit committee purposes according to the rules and regulations of the 
SEC and the NYSE. Each member of the Audit Committee has the ability to read and understand fundamental financial 
statements. The Board has determined that Ms. Skidmore is an “audit committee financial expert,” as such term is defined by 
the SEC. The Audit Committee met five times during fiscal year 2017. 
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The primary functions of the Audit Committee are to serve as an independent and objective party to oversee our 
internal control system and processes related to accounting and financial reporting; to pre-approve all auditing and non-
auditing services to be provided by our independent auditor; to review and oversee the audit efforts of our independent 
auditor; and to provide an open avenue of communication among the independent auditor, financial and senior management, 
and the Board. The Audit Committee is responsible for (1) recommending the appointment, retention, termination, and 
compensation of our independent auditor to our shareholders, (2) approving the overall scope of the audit performed by our 
independent auditor, (3) assisting the Board in monitoring the integrity of our financial statements, the independent auditor's 
qualifications and independence, the performance of our independent auditor and our internal audit function, and our 
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, (4) annually reviewing our independent auditor's report describing the 
auditing firm's internal quality-control procedures and any material issues raised by the most recent internal quality-control 
review, or peer review, or review by the U.S. Public Company Accounting Oversight Board, of our independent auditor, 
(5) discussing our annual audited financial and quarterly statements with management and our independent auditor, 
(6) discussing earnings press releases, as well as financial information and earnings guidance provided to analysts and rating 
agencies from time to time, (7) discussing policies with respect to risk assessment and risk management, (8) meeting 
separately, periodically, with management and our independent auditor, (9) reviewing with our independent auditor any audit 
problems or difficulties and management's response, (10) setting clear hiring policies for employees or former employees of 
our independent auditor, (11) handling such other matters that are specifically delegated to the Audit Committee by the Board 
of Directors from time to time, and (12) reporting regularly to the full Board of Directors. 

Compensation Committee 

The Compensation Committee is currently composed of three directors: Messrs. Heppelmann (who serves as Chair), 
Pond, and Teich, each of whom is an independent director for compensation committee purposes according to the rules and 
regulations of the SEC and the NYSE. The Compensation Committee met four times during fiscal year 2017.

The Compensation Committee has oversight responsibility relating to the compensation of our executive officers and 
directors and the administration of awards under our equity incentive plans. The Compensation Committee is responsible for 
(1) reviewing compensation policies, plans, and programs, (2) reviewing and approving the compensation of our executive 
officers, (3) reviewing and approving employment contracts and other similar arrangements between us and our executive 
officers, (4) reviewing and consulting with the CEO on the selection of officers and evaluation of executive performance and 
other related matters, (5) administration of stock plans and other incentive compensation plans, (6) handling such other 
matters that are specifically delegated to the Compensation Committee by the Board of Directors from time to time, and (7) 
reporting regularly to the Board of Directors. For the highlights of the remuneration policy, refer to Note 13, "Related Party 
Transactions," in the audited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report.

Finance Committee

The Finance Committee is currently composed of four directors: Messrs. Zide (who serves as Chair), Edgerley, 
Heppelmann, and Teich. The Finance Committee met one time during fiscal year 2017.

The purpose of the Finance Committee is to (1) review potential transactions, including strategic investments, mergers, 
acquisitions, and divestitures, and oversee borrowings or equity financings, credit arrangements, investments, and other 
similar transactions as part of our business strategy, (2) make recommendations to the Board regarding material potential 
transactions, (3) approve non-material transactions without need for further Board action, (4) evaluate, and oversee policies 
governing, our capital structure, including dividend policies and share repurchases, consider events and actions that impact 
our capital structure, and make recommendations to the Board and our management with respect to borrowing and equity 
practices, (5) evaluate other financial strategies, such as our hedging policy, and special projects as brought to the Finance 
Committee by management, (6) handling such other matters that are specifically delegated to the Finance Committee by the 
Board of Directors from time to time, and (7) reporting regularly to the Board of Directors.

Nominating and Governance Committee 

The Nominating and Governance Committee is currently composed of four directors: Messrs. Edgerley (who serves as 
Chair), Heppelmann, and Teich, and Ms. Skidmore, each of whom is an independent director for nominating and governance 
committee purposes according to the rules and regulations of the SEC and the NYSE. The Nominating and Governance 
Committee met four times during fiscal year 2017. 

The Nominating and Governance Committee assists the Board by identifying individuals qualified to become members 
of the Board of Directors based on criteria established by the Board, and by developing our corporate governance principles. 
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Responsibilities of the Nominating and Governance Committee include: (1) evaluating the composition, size, and governance 
of the Board and its committees and making recommendations regarding future planning and the appointment of directors to 
our committees, (2) establishing a policy for considering shareholder nominees for election to the Board, (3) evaluating and 
recommending candidates for election to the Board, (4) overseeing the performance and self-evaluation process of the Board 
and developing continuing education programs for our directors, (5) reviewing our corporate governance principles and 
providing recommendations to the Board regarding possible changes, and (6) reporting regularly to the Board of Directors. 

One of the goals of the Nominating and Governance Committee is to assemble a board of directors that offers a variety 
of perspectives, backgrounds, knowledge, and skills derived from high-quality business and professional experience. The 
Nominating and Governance Committee annually reviews the appropriate skills and characteristics required of directors in 
the context of the current composition of the Board, our operating requirements, and the long-term interests of our 
shareholders. We have a policy regarding age and length of term for our board members. To limit the impact of such a policy 
on the continuity of Board membership, we have a strategy for rotation of our directors, which we are in the process of 
implementing, and which we expect to continue to implement in the coming years.

The Nominating and Governance Committee generally will evaluate each candidate for election to the Board of 
Directors based on the extent to which the candidate contributes to the range of talent, skill, experience, and expertise 
appropriate for the Board generally, as well as the candidate's integrity, business acumen, understanding of our industry and 
business, diversity, potential conflicts of interest, availability, independence of thought, and overall ability to represent the 
interests of our shareholders. The Nominating and Governance Committee does not assign specific weights to particular 
criteria, and no particular criterion is necessarily applicable to all prospective nominees. Although the Nominating and 
Governance Committee uses these and other criteria as appropriate to evaluate potential nominees, it has no stated minimum 
criteria for nominees. The Nominating and Governance Committee may engage, for a fee, search firms to identify and assist 
the Committee with identifying, evaluating, and screening candidates for our Board. 

In evaluating candidates for election to the Board of Directors, the Nominating and Governance Committee and the 
Board seek the most qualified individuals based on the criteria and desired qualities described above and consider diversity in 
the following manner. We believe a diversity of professional backgrounds, gender, and race enhances the Board's 
performance of its leadership and oversight functions. Directors with a variety of professional and personal experience and 
expertise will be able to view all of the different elements and aspects of our business from different critical viewpoints. As a 
result, they will be prepared to ask questions and make proposals and decisions from a broader range of professional and 
personal views.  Such diversity enables a broader critical review of more aspects of our business, which we believe enhances, 
among other things, the Board's oversight of our risk management processes. A third-party search firm was retained by the 
Nominating and Governance Committee in order to identify and evaluate potential nominees for director of the Company.

The Nominating and Governance Committee will consider shareholder recommendations of nominees (other than self-
nominations) for election to the Board, provided that a complete description of the nominees' qualifications, experience, and 
background, together with a statement signed by each nominee in which he or she consents to act as such, accompanies the 
recommendations. Such recommendations should be submitted in writing to the attention of the Nominating and Governance 
Committee, Sensata Technologies Holding plc, c/o Sensata Technologies, Inc., Attention: Vice President, Investor Relations, 
529 Pleasant Street, Attleboro, Massachusetts 02703. 

Attendance at Board and Committee Meetings 

Each of our directors attended 100% of the total number of Board and committee meetings that such director was 
eligible to attend during fiscal year 2017. 
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Swindon, April 12, 2018 

/S/    PAUL EDGERLEY         /S/    THOMAS WROE        
Paul Edgerley Thomas Wroe
Its: Director Its: Director

/S/    STEPHEN ZIDE         /S/    JAMES HEPPELMANN     
Stephen Zide James Heppelmann
Its: Director Its: Director

/S/  CONSTANCE SKIDMORE /S/    CHARLES PEFFER     
Constance Skidmore Charles Peffer
Its: Director Its: Director

/S/    KIRK POND         /S/   ANDREW TEICH       
Kirk Pond Andrew Teich
Its: Director Its: Director
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Sensata Technologies Holding N.V.

Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Years Ended

December 31, 2017 and 2016 
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SENSATA TECHNOLOGIES HOLDING N.V.

Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Note
December 31,

2017
December 31,

2016
Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 21 $ 753,089 $ 351,428
Accounts receivable, net 25 556,541 500,211
Inventories 4 446,129 389,844
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 16 92,934 100,492
Total current assets 1,848,693 1,341,975

Non-current assets:
Property, plant and equipment, net 3 747,048 722,878
Goodwill 5, 6 2,996,833 2,996,833
Other intangible assets, net 5, 6 1,066,549 1,202,502
Deferred income tax assets 9 29,502 15,802
Other assets 10 84,160 71,711
Total non-current assets 4,924,092 5,009,726

Total assets $ 6,772,785 $ 6,351,701
Liabilities and shareholders’ equity
Current liabilities:

Current portion of long-term borrowings, finance lease and other financing obligations 8, 14 $ 15,720 $ 14,643
Accounts payable 322,671 299,198
Income taxes payable 9 31,544 23,889
Provisions 10, 14, 17 20,488 32,128
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 7, 16 236,096 211,470
Total current liabilities 626,519 581,328

Non-current liabilities:
Deferred income tax liabilities 9 346,996 411,652
Provisions 10 40,055 34,878
Finance lease and other financing obligations, less current portion 8, 14 28,739 32,369
Long-term borrowings, net of discount, less current portion 8 3,223,252 3,223,359
Other long-term liabilities 16 29,978 25,939
Total non-current liabilities 3,669,020 3,728,197

Total liabilities 4,295,539 4,309,525
Shareholders’ equity attributable to shareholders of the Company:

Ordinary shares, €0.01 nominal value per share, 400,000 shares authorized; 178,437
shares issued as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 12 2,289 2,289

Treasury shares, at cost, 7,076 and 7,557 shares as of December 31, 2017 and 2016,
respectively 12 (288,478) (306,505)

Additional paid-in capital 12 1,668,236 1,648,393
Retained earnings and other components of equity 12 1,095,199 697,999

Total shareholders’ equity 2,477,246 2,042,176
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 6,772,785 $ 6,351,701

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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SENSATA TECHNOLOGIES HOLDING N.V.

Consolidated Statements of Income
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

 

  For the year ended December 31,
  Note 2017 2016

Net revenue $ 3,306,733 $ 3,202,288
Operating costs and expenses:

Cost of revenue 2,151,607 2,088,503
Research and development 87,727 76,888
Selling, general and administrative 303,807 308,337
Amortization of intangible assets and capitalized development costs 5, 22 182,834 218,966
Restructuring and special charges 17 6,069 10,104

Total operating costs and expenses 2,732,044 2,702,798
Profit from operations 574,689 499,490
Interest expense, net (160,421) (166,482)
Other, net 18 10,218 (4,785)
Income before taxes 424,486 328,223
(Benefit from)/provision for income taxes 9 (17,459) 63,541
Net income $ 441,945 $ 264,682

Net income attributable to shareholders: $ 441,945 $ 264,682
Basic net income per share: 20 $ 2.58 $ 1.55
Diluted net income per share: 20 $ 2.57 $ 1.54

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



39

SENSATA TECHNOLOGIES HOLDING N.V.

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
(In thousands)

  Note
For the year ended

December 31,

  2017 2016

Net income $ 441,945 $ 264,682
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax:

Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently to the consolidated statements of
income

Net unrealized loss on derivative instruments designated and qualifying as cash
flow hedges

12,
16 (28,185) (3,477)

Items that will never be reclassified subsequently to the consolidated statements of
income

Remeasurement of defined benefit and retiree healthcare plans 10 (3,073) (3,548)
Other comprehensive loss (31,258) (7,025)
Comprehensive income $ 410,687 $ 257,657

Comprehensive income attributable to shareholders: $ 410,687 $ 257,657

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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SENSATA TECHNOLOGIES HOLDING N.V.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In thousands)

  Notes For the year ended December 31,
  2017 2016
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $ 441,945 $ 264,682
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation 3, 22 109,446 107,007
Amortization of transaction costs 8 7,901 7,998
Share-based compensation 11 19,843 17,436
Loss on refinancing of borrowings 8, 18 2,673 —
Amortization of inventory step-up to fair value 6 — 2,319
Amortization of intangible assets and capitalized development costs 5, 22 182,834 218,966
Deferred income taxes 9 (68,408) 12,727
Gain on sale of assets (1,180) —
Unrealized loss on hedges and other non-cash items 18 3,298 24,358
Increase/(decrease) from changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects of
acquisitions:

Accounts receivable, net 25 (56,330) (33,013)
Inventories 4 (57,119) (37,500)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (12,412) 7,251
Accounts payable, accrued expenses, and current portion of provisions 7, 14 21,924 (10,365)
Income taxes payable 9 7,655 (1,938)
Pension and retiree medical plan 10 2,696 (2,588)
Other (4,753) (6,086)

Net cash provided by operating activities 600,013 571,254
Cash flows from investing activities:
Acquisition of CST, net of cash received — 4,688
Additions to property, plant and equipment, capitalized software, and capitalized development costs 3, 5 (186,951) (186,814)
Investment in equity securities — (50,000)
Proceeds from sale of assets 3 8,862 751
Other (5,000) —
Net cash used in investing activities (183,089) (231,375)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from exercise of stock options and issuance of ordinary shares 11, 12 7,450 3,944
Proceeds from issuance of borrowings 8 927,794 —
Payments on borrowings 8, 14 (943,554) (329,388)
Payments to repurchase ordinary shares 12 (2,910) (4,752)
Payments of debt issuance costs (919) (518)
Other (3,124) —
Net cash used in financing activities (15,263) (330,714)
Net change in cash and cash equivalents 401,661 9,165
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 21 351,428 342,263
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 21 $ 753,089 $ 351,428
Supplemental cash flow items:
Cash paid for interest $ 164,370 $ 155,925
Cash paid for income taxes $ 48,482 $ 43,152

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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SENSATA TECHNOLOGIES HOLDING N.V. 

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity
(In thousands)

  Ordinary Shares Treasury Shares
Additional

Paid-In
Capital

Retained
Earnings and

Other
Components of

Equity

Total
Shareholders’

Equity

Total
Comprehensive

Income  Number
Nominal

Value Number
Nominal

Value

Balance as of January 1, 2016 178,437 $ 2,289 (8,038) $ (324,994) $ 1,630,957 $ 457,182 $ 1,765,434

Surrender of shares for tax withholding — — (62) (2,295) — — (2,295)

Stock options exercised — — 358 13,698 — (9,754) 3,944

Vesting of restricted securities — — 185 7,086 — (7,086) —

Share-based compensation — — — — 17,436 — 17,436

Net income — — — — — 264,682 264,682

Other comprehensive loss — — — — — (7,025) (7,025)

Total comprehensive income $ 257,657

Balance as of December 31, 2016 178,437 $ 2,289 (7.557) $ (306,505) $ 1,648,393 697,999 $ 2,042,176

Surrender of shares for tax withholding — — (67) (2,910) — — (2,910)

Stock options exercised — — 326 12,465 — (5,015) 7,450

Vesting of restricted securities — — 222 8,472 — (8,472) —

Share-based compensation — — — — 19,843 — 19,843

Net income — — — — — 441,945 441,945

Other comprehensive loss — — — — — (31,258) (31,258)

Total comprehensive income $ 410,687

Balance as of December 31, 2017 178,437 $ 2,289 (7.076) $ (288,478) $ 1,668,236 $ 1,095,199 $ 2,477,246

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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SENSATA TECHNOLOGIES HOLDING N.V.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In thousands, except per share amounts, or unless otherwise noted)

1. General Information

Description of Business

The accompanying consolidated financial statements reflect the financial position, income, comprehensive income, 
cash flows, and changes in shareholders' equity of Sensata Technologies Holding N.V. ("Sensata N.V.") and its wholly-owned 
subsidiaries, collectively referred to as the “Company,” “Sensata,” “we,” “our,” or “us.” The address of the registered office 
of Sensata Technologies Holding N.V. (through March 28, 2018) was Jan Tinbergenstraat 80, 7559 SP Hengelo, the 
Netherlands. The address of the registered office of Sensata-UK (the successor to Sensata N.V., as defined below) is Interface 
House, Interface Business Park, Bincknoll Lane, Royal Wootton Bassett, Swindon SN4 8SY, United Kingdom.

Sensata N.V. was incorporated under the laws of the Netherlands and conducted its operations through subsidiary 
companies that operate business and product development centers primarily in the United States (the "U.S."), the 
Netherlands, Belgium, Bulgaria, China, Germany, Japan, South Korea, and the United Kingdom (the "U.K."); and 
manufacturing operations primarily in China, Malaysia, Mexico, Bulgaria, France, Germany, the U.K., and the U.S. 

On September 28, 2017, the board of directors of Sensata N.V. unanimously approved a plan to change our parent 
company’s location of incorporation from the Netherlands to the U.K. To effect this change, on February 16, 2018, the 
shareholders of Sensata N.V. approved a cross-border merger between Sensata N.V. and Sensata Technologies Holding plc 
(“Sensata U.K.”), a newly formed, public limited company incorporated under the laws of England and Wales, with Sensata 
U.K. being the surviving entity (the “Merger”).

We received approval of the transaction by the U.K. High Court of Justice, and the Merger was completed on March 28, 
2018, on which date Sensata U.K. became the publicly-traded parent of the subsidiary companies that were previously 
controlled by Sensata N.V.

We organize our operations into two businesses, Performance Sensing and Sensing Solutions. 

Our Performance Sensing business is a manufacturer of pressure sensors, speed and position sensors, temperature 
sensors, and pressure switches used in subsystems of automobiles (e.g., powertrain, air conditioning, tire pressure monitoring, 
and ride stabilization) and heavy vehicle off-road ("HVOR"). These products help improve operating performance, for 
example, by making an automobile's heating and air conditioning systems work more efficiently, thereby improving gas 
mileage. These products are also used in systems that address environmental or safety concerns, for example, by reducing 
vehicle emissions or improving the stability control of the vehicle.

Our Sensing Solutions business is a manufacturer of various control products used in industrial, aerospace, military, 
commercial, medical device, and residential markets, and sensor products used in aerospace and industrial applications such 
as heating, ventilation, and air conditioning ("HVAC") systems and military and commercial aircraft. These products include 
motor and compressor protectors, motor starters, temperature sensors and switches/thermostats, pressure sensors and 
switches, electronic HVAC sensors and controls, charge controllers, solid state relays, linear and rotary position sensors, 
circuit breakers, and semiconductor burn-in test sockets. These products help prevent damage from overheating and fires in a 
wide variety of applications, including commercial HVAC systems, refrigerators, aircraft, lighting, and other industrial 
applications, and help optimize performance by using sensors which provide feedback to control systems. The Sensing 
Solutions business also manufactures direct current ("DC") to alternating current ("AC") power inverters, which enable the 
operation of electronic equipment when grid power is not available.

The consolidated financial statements of Sensata Technologies Holding N.V. for the year ended December 31, 2017 
were authorized for issuance in accordance with a resolution of the Directors of Sensata Technologies Holding plc (as 
successor to, and on behalf of, Sensata Technologies Holding N.V.) on April 12, 2018. These financial statements will be 
presented to shareholders for approval on May 31, 2018. 



43

2. Significant Accounting Policies

Statement of Compliance

The accompanying consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes have been prepared in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 
("IASB") and adopted by the European Union and with part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code (collectively referred to as 
IFRS in these financial statements). 

Significant New Accounting Standards Effective in the Current Year

There are no new accounting standards that have become effective in the current year that had a material impact on our 
financial position, performance, or disclosures.

Significant New Accounting Standards Effective in Future Years

In May 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“IFRS 15”), which replaces all 
existing revenue requirements in IFRS and applies to all revenue arising from contracts with customers. IFRS 15 outlines a 
comprehensive five-step revenue recognition model based on the principle that an entity should recognize revenue to depict 
the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity 
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. IFRS 15 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2018, and may be applied using either a full retrospective approach, in which all years included in the financial 
statements are presented under the revised guidance, or a modified retrospective approach, under which financial statements 
will be prepared under the revised guidance for the year of adoption, but not for prior years. Under the latter method, entities 
will recognize a cumulative catch-up adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings at the effective date for contracts 
that still require performance by the entity. We have developed an implementation plan to adopt this new guidance, which 
included an assessment of the impact of the new guidance on our financial position and results of operations. This 
implementation plan is substantially complete. We have determined that the adoption of IFRS 15 will not have a material 
impact on our financial position or results of operations. We adopted IFRS 15 on January 1, 2018 using the modified 
retrospective transition method.

In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments ("IFRS 9"), bringing together the 
classification and measurement, impairment, and hedge accounting phases of the IASB’s project to replace IAS 39 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and all previous versions of IFRS 9. IFRS 9 revises the accounting model used 
for classification and measurement of financial assets and liabilities, impairment of financial instruments, and hedge 
accounting. IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018. The transition to IFRS 9 differs by 
section, and is partly retrospective and partly prospective. IFRS 9 must be applied in its entirety. We adopted IFRS 9 on 
January 1, 2018 and have determined that this adoption will not have a material impact on our financial position or results of 
operations. 

In January 2016, the IASB issued IFRS 16 Leases ("IFRS 16"), which establishes new accounting and disclosure 
requirements for leases. IFRS 16 requires lessees to initially recognize, for most leases, an asset and liability on the balance 
sheets, with subsequent recognition of the related depreciation and interest expense in the statements of income. Entities may 
elect to account for certain short-term or low-value leases using a method similar to the current operating lease model. IFRS 
16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019, with early adoption permitted on, or subsequent to, 
the date of adoption of IFRS 15. IFRS 16 may be applied using either a full retrospective or a modified retrospective 
approach for leases existing at the date of transition, with certain exceptions available. We are currently evaluating the impact 
that IFRS 16 will have on our consolidated financial statements, and have not determined the date of adoption or the 
transition method that we will use.

In June 2017, the IASB issued IFRIC Interpretation 23 Uncertainty Over Income Tax Treatments ("IFRIC Interpretation 
23") which clarifies application of the recognition and measurement requirements in IAS 12 Income Taxes when there is 
uncertainty over income tax treatments.  IFRIC Interpretation 23 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 
1, 2019, with early adoption permitted.  We are currently evaluating the impact that IFRIC Interpretation 23 will have on our 
consolidated financial statements.

Other new accounting standards that are effective in future years are not applicable to Sensata or are not expected to 
have a material impact on our financial position or performance.
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Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared primarily on a historical cost basis, except for certain items, 
including derivative financial instruments and share-based payments, which are recorded at fair value. All amounts presented, 
except per share amounts, are stated in thousands of U.S. dollars, unless otherwise indicated. All amounts presented herein 
are calculated based on unrounded numbers. Accordingly, certain amounts may not add due to the effects of rounding.

Basis of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of Sensata N.V. and its 
subsidiaries at December 31, 2017. Our subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on 
which we obtain control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases. All intercompany balances 
and transactions have been eliminated. 

A complete list of subsidiaries held directly or indirectly by Sensata N.V. at December 31, 2017 is presented below. All 
subsidiaries are fully owned. In addition, the reporting year and accounting policies of the subsidiaries are all consistent with 
those of Sensata N.V.

Name Jurisdiction of Incorporation

Sensata Technologies B.V.    The Netherlands

Sensata Technologies Intermediate Holding B.V.    The Netherlands

Sensata Technologies Japan Limited    Japan

Sensata Technologies Malaysia Sdn. Bhd.    Malaysia

Sensata Technologies Korea Limited    Korea

Sensata Technologies Holland B.V.    The Netherlands

Sensata Technologies Holding Company Mexico, B.V.    The Netherlands

Sensata Technologies de México, S. de R.L. de C.V.    Mexico

Sensata Technologies Finance Company, LLC    United States

Sensata Technologies Holding Company, U.S., B.V.    The Netherlands

Sensata Technologies, Inc.    United States

Sensata Technologies India Private Limited    India

Sensata Technologies Singapore Pte. Ltd.    Singapore

Sensata Technologies Taiwan Co., Ltd.    Taiwan

Sensata Technologies Hong Kong, Limited    Hong Kong

Sensata Technologies Baoying Co., Ltd.    China

Sensata Technologies Spain, S.L.    Spain

Sensata Technologies Sensores e Controles do Brasil Ltda.    Brazil

Sensata Technologies Changzhou Co., Ltd.    China

Sensata Technologies China Co., Ltd.    China

Sensata Technologies Italia S.r.L.    Italy

Control Devices, Inc.    United States

CDI Netherlands B.V.    The Netherlands

Sensata Technologies France SAS    France

Sensata Technologies Holding Company UK    United Kingdom

Sensata Technologies Limited    United Kingdom

FTCP Bermuda Ltd.    Bermuda

Sensata Technologies Dominicana, S.r.L.    Dominican Republic
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Name Jurisdiction of Incorporation

Sensata Technologies US, LLC United States

Sensata Technologies US II, LLC United States

Sensata Technologies US Cooperatief U.A. The Netherlands

Sensata Technologies Bermuda Ltd. Bermuda

Sensata Technologies (Europe) Limited    United Kingdom

Sensata Technologies Mex Distribution, S.A. de C.V.    Mexico

Airpax Electronics (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.    China

Sensata Technologies Automotive Sensors (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.    China

Sensor-Nite N.V. Belgium

Sensata Technologies Bulgaria EOOD Bulgaria

Sensata Technologies Management China Co., Ltd. China

Wabash Technologies Limited United Kingdom

Wabash Technologies Mexico S. de R.L. de C.V. Mexico

Sensata Technologies GmbH Germany

DeltaTech Controls (Shanghai) Company Limited China

DeltaTech Controls (Hong Kong) Company Limited Hong Kong

ST Schrader Holding Company UK Limited United Kingdom

ST August Lux Company S.á.r.l. Luxembourg

ST August Lux Intermediate Holdco S.á.r.l. Luxembourg

August Lux Holding Company S.á.r.l. Luxembourg

August Lux UK Holding Company S.á.r.l. Luxembourg

August Brazil Holding Company S.á.r.l. Luxembourg

August France Holding Company S.A.S. France

August UK HoldCo Limited United Kingdom

Schrader International Brasil Ltda. Brazil

Schrader SAS France

Schrader-Bridgeport International, Inc. United States

Schrader, LLC United States

Schrader Electronics Limited United Kingdom

Swindon Silicon Systems Limited United Kingdom

Schrader Engineered Products (Kunshan) Co. Ltd. China

Schrader International GmbH Germany

Sensata Finance Ireland Limited Ireland

Sensata Technologies Poland Sp, z.o.o Poland

STI Holdco, Inc. United States

Sensata Technologies Sensors (Changzhou) Co., Ltd China

Sensata Finance Ireland Limited II Ireland

Sensata Technologies UK Financing Co., plc United Kingdom

BEI North America, LLC United States
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Name Jurisdiction of Incorporation

BEI Sensors SAS France

Crydom SSR Limited United Kingdom

Crydom, Inc. United States

Custom Sensors & Technologies de Mexico S.A. de C.V. Mexico

Custom Sensors & Technologies Newco Ltd. United Kingdom

Custom Sensors & Technologies Transportation de Mexico S.A. de C.V. Mexico

Custom Sensors & Technologies US Corp. United States

Custom Sensors & Technologies US LLC United States

Custom Sensors & Technologies Inc. United States

Kavlico Corporation United States

Sensata Germany GmbH Germany

Sensata Technologies Germany GmbH Germany

Newall Electronics Inc. United States

Newall Measurement Systems LTD United Kingdom

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires us to exercise our judgment in 
the process of applying our accounting policies. It also requires that we make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingencies at the date of the financial statements and the 
reported amounts of revenue and expense during the reporting periods.

Estimates are used when accounting for certain items, such as allowances for doubtful accounts and sales returns, 
depreciation and amortization, inventory obsolescence, asset impairments (including goodwill and other intangible assets), 
contingencies, the value of share-based compensation, the determination of accrued expenses, certain asset valuations 
including deferred tax asset valuations, the useful lives of property and equipment, post-retirement obligations, and the 
accounting for business combinations. The accounting estimates used in the preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements will change as new events occur, as more experience is acquired, as additional information is obtained, and as the 
operating environment changes. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

When making estimates, we must use judgments or make assumptions regarding certain unknowns, either that have 
occurred but for which we do not have enough information, or that have not occurred yet. Significant judgments and 
assumptions we make include those used in calculating share-based compensation expense, such as inputs to the Black-
Scholes-Merton method and the estimate of future forfeiture rates (see Note 11, "Share-Based Payment Plans"), those used in 
valuing goodwill and intangible assets, such as discount rates and future expected cash flows used in discounted cash flow 
analyses (see Note 5, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets"), those used in calculating deferred tax assets, such as the 
estimation of the likelihood of utilization of deferred tax assets (see Note 9, "Income Taxes"), and those used in determining 
pension and other post-retirement benefit expense and assets and liabilities, including discount rates and mortality rates (see 
Note 10, "Pension and Other Post-Retirement Benefits").

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash comprises cash on hand at financial institutions. Cash equivalents are short-term, highly-liquid investments that 
are readily convertible to known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value, and have original 
maturities of three months or less.

We prepared the accompanying consolidated statements of cash flows using the indirect method.

Refer to Note 21, "Cash and Cash Equivalents," for details on the components of our cash and cash equivalents 
balances.



47

Revenue Recognition

The following discussion of our revenue recognition accounting policies is based on the accounting principles that were 
used to prepare the fiscal year 2017 consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report. On January 1, 2018, we 
adopted IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers ("IFRS 15"). This standard replaces existing revenue recognition 
rules with a comprehensive revenue measurement and recognition standard and expanded disclosure requirements.

We recognize revenue to the extent it is probable that the economic benefit will flow to us and the revenue can be 
reliably measured. Revenue and related cost of revenue from product sales are recognized when the significant risks and 
rewards of ownership have been transferred, title to the product and risk of loss transfers to our customers, and collection of 
sales proceeds is reasonably assured. Based on the above criteria, revenue is generally recognized when the product is 
shipped from our warehouse or, in limited instances, when it is received by the customer, depending on the specific terms of 
the arrangement. Product sales are recorded net of trade discounts (including volume and early payment incentives), sales 
returns, value-added tax, and similar taxes. Amounts billed to our customers for shipping and handling are recorded in 
revenue. Shipping and handling costs are included in cost of revenue. Sales to customers generally include a right of return 
for defective or non-conforming product. Sales returns have not historically been significant in relation to our revenue and 
have been within our estimates.

Many of our products are designed and engineered to meet customer specifications. These activities, and the testing of 
our products to determine compliance with those specifications, occur prior to any revenue being recognized. Products are 
then manufactured and sold to customers. Customer arrangements do not involve post-installation or post-sale testing and 
acceptance.

Share-Based Compensation

IFRS 2 Share-based Payments ("IFRS 2"), requires that a company measure at fair value any new or modified share-
based compensation arrangements with employees, such as stock options and restricted stock units, and recognize, as 
compensation expense, that fair value over the requisite service period.

We estimate the fair value of options with service and/or performance vesting conditions on the date of grant using the 
Black-Scholes-Merton option-pricing model. Key assumptions used in estimating the grant-date fair value of these options 
are as follows: the fair value of the ordinary shares, expected term, expected volatility, risk-free interest rate, and expected 
dividend yield. Significant factors used in determining these assumptions are detailed below.

We use the closing price of our ordinary shares on the New York Stock Exchange on the date of the grant as the fair 
value of ordinary shares in the Black-Scholes-Merton option-pricing model.

The expected term, which is a key factor in measuring the fair value and related compensation costs of share-based 
payments, has been determined by comparing the terms of our options granted against those of publicly-traded companies 
within our industry.

We consider our own historical volatility, as well as the historical and implied volatilities of publicly-traded companies 
within our industry, in estimating expected volatility for options. Implied volatility provides a forward-looking indication and 
may offer insight into expected industry volatility. 

The risk-free interest rate is based on the yield for a U.S. Treasury security having a maturity similar to the expected 
term of the related option grant. 

The dividend yield of 0% is based on our history of having never declared or paid any dividends on our ordinary 
shares, and our current intention of not declaring any such dividends in the foreseeable future.

Restricted securities are valued using the closing price of our ordinary shares on the New York Stock Exchange 
(“NYSE”) on the date of the grant. Certain of our restricted securities include performance conditions that require us to 
estimate the probable outcome of the performance condition. This assessment is based on management's judgment using 
internally developed forecasts and is assessed at each reporting period. Compensation cost is recorded if it is probable that the 
performance condition will be achieved.

We recognize share-based compensation net of estimated forfeitures and, therefore, only recognize compensation cost 
for those awards expected to vest over the requisite service period. The forfeiture rate is based on our estimate of forfeitures 
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by plan participants based on historical forfeiture rates. Compensation expense recognized for each award ultimately reflects 
the number of units that actually vest.

Share-based compensation expense is generally recognized as a component of Selling, general and administrative 
("SG&A") expense, which is consistent with where the related employee costs are recorded. 

We issue ordinary shares held in treasury as part of our share-based compensation programs and employee stock 
purchase plan.

Refer to Note 11, "Share-Based Payment Plans," for details on our share-based compensation plans and the related 
accounting.

Financial Instruments - Derivatives and Hedging Activities

We record all derivatives on the balance sheet at fair value. The accounting for the change in the fair value of 
derivatives depends on the intended use of the derivative, whether we have elected to designate a derivative as a hedging 
instrument for accounting purposes, and whether the hedging relationship has satisfied the criteria necessary to apply hedge 
accounting. For derivative instruments that qualify for hedge accounting, changes in the fair value are either (a) offset against 
the change in fair value of the hedged assets, liabilities, or firm commitments through earnings or (b) recognized in equity 
until the hedged item is recognized in earnings, depending on whether the derivative is being used to hedge changes in fair 
value or cash flows. The ineffective portion of a derivative’s change in fair value is immediately recognized in earnings. We 
do not use derivative financial instruments for trading or speculation purposes.

We are exposed to fluctuations in various foreign currencies against our functional currency, the U.S. dollar. We enter 
into forward contracts for certain foreign currencies, including the Euro, Japanese yen, Mexican peso, Chinese renminbi, 
Korean won, Malaysian ringgit, and British pound sterling. The fair value of foreign currency forward contracts is 
determined using widely accepted valuation techniques, including discounted cash flow analysis on the expected cash flows 
of each instrument. These analyses utilize observable market-based inputs, including foreign exchange rates, and reflect the 
contractual terms of these instruments, including the period to maturity. Certain of these contracts have not been designated 
as accounting hedges, and we recognize the changes in the fair value of these contracts in the consolidated statements of 
income. The specific contractual terms utilized as inputs in determining fair value and a discussion of the nature of the risks 
being mitigated by these instruments are detailed in Note 16, “Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” under the 
caption “Hedges of Foreign Currency Risk.”

We enter into forward contracts for certain commodities, including silver, gold, nickel, aluminum, copper, platinum, 
and palladium used in the manufacturing of our products. The terms of these forward contracts fix the price at a future date 
for various notional amounts associated with these commodities. The fair value of our commodity forward contracts is 
determined using widely accepted valuation techniques, including discounted cash flow analysis on the expected cash flows 
of each instrument. These analyses utilize observable market-based inputs, including commodity forward curves, and reflects 
the contractual terms of these instruments, including the period to maturity. These contracts have not been designated as 
accounting hedges. We recognize changes in the fair value of these contracts in the consolidated statements of income. The 
specific contractual terms utilized as inputs in determining fair value and a discussion of the nature of the risks being 
mitigated by these instruments are detailed in Note 16, “Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” under the caption 
“Hedges of Commodity Risk.”

We incorporate credit valuation adjustments to appropriately reflect both our own non-performance risk and the 
respective counterparty’s non-performance risk in the fair value measurements. In adjusting the fair value of our derivative 
contracts for the effect of non-performance risk, we have considered the impact of netting and any applicable credit 
enhancements, such as collateral postings, thresholds, mutual puts, and guarantees.

We report cash flows arising from our derivative financial instruments consistent with the classification of cash flows 
from the underlying hedged items. 

Refer to Note 16, "Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities," for further details on these instruments.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Businesses acquired in purchase transactions are recorded at their fair value on the date of acquisition with the excess 
of the purchase price over the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed recognized as goodwill. Goodwill and 
intangible assets determined to have an indefinite useful life are not amortized. Instead these assets are evaluated for 
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impairment on an annual basis and whenever events or business conditions warrant. We evaluate goodwill and indefinite-
lived intangible assets for impairment in the fourth quarter of each fiscal year, unless events occur which trigger the need for 
an earlier impairment review. 

Goodwill: Historically, we had identified six cash-generating units. In connection with the 2017 review of those cash-
generating units, we determined that the portion of the Power Management cash-generating unit that serves the aerospace end 
market should be reallocated into a separate reporting unit. As a result, we now have seven cash-generating units: 
Performance Sensing, Electrical Protection, Aerospace, Power Management, Industrial Sensing, Interconnection, and 
Inverters. 

We establish our cash-generating units based on an analysis of the lowest level at which the goodwill is monitored for 
internal management purposes. Goodwill is assigned to cash-generating units as of the date of the related acquisition. If 
goodwill is assigned to more than one cash-generating unit, we utilize an allocation methodology that is consistent with the 
manner in which the amount of goodwill in a business combination is determined.

Our judgments regarding the existence of impairment indicators are based on several factors, including the performance 
of the end-markets served by our customers, as well as the actual financial performance of our cash-generating units and their 
respective financial forecasts over the long-term. IAS 36 Impairment of Assets ("IAS 36") permits the carry-forward of the 
most recent quantitative goodwill impairment analysis for individual cash-generating units from a preceding year, provided 
certain conditions are met. Otherwise, the one-step approach requires that an impairment test be performed at the cash-
generating unit level by comparing the cash-generating unit's carrying amount, including goodwill, with its recoverable 
amount. 

When using the one-step approach, we estimate the recoverable amount of cash-generating units based on the higher of 
the fair value less costs to sell and its value-in-use, which is determined using discounted cash flow models based on our 
most recent long-range plans and an estimated weighted-average cost of capital appropriate for each cash-generating unit, 
giving consideration to valuation multiples (e.g., Invested Capital/EBITDA) for peer companies. We then compare the 
estimated value-in-use of each cash-generating unit to its net book value, including goodwill. If the carrying amount of a 
cash-generating unit exceeds its estimated recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognized in an amount equal to that 
excess. Impairment losses relating to goodwill cannot be reversed in future periods.

The preparation of forecasts of revenue growth and profitability for use in the long-range plans, the selection of the pre-
tax discount rates, and the estimation of the terminal year multiples involve significant judgments. Changes to these 
assumptions could affect the estimated value-in-use of one or more of the cash-generating units and could result in a goodwill 
impairment charge in a future period.

Definite-lived intangible assets: Identified definite-lived intangible assets are amortized over the useful life of the asset 
using a method of amortization that reflects the pattern in which the economic benefits of the intangible asset are consumed 
over its estimated useful life. If that pattern cannot be reliably determined, then we amortize the intangible asset using the 
straight-line method. Capitalized software is amortized on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life. Capitalized 
software licenses are amortized on a straight-line basis over the lesser of the term of the license or the useful life of the 
software.

Impairment of definite-lived intangible assets: Reviews are regularly performed to determine whether facts or 
circumstances exist that indicate that the carrying values of our definite-lived intangible assets to be held and used are 
impaired. The recoverability of these assets is assessed by comparing their recoverable amount to their respective carrying 
values. Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell or value-in-use. Fair value is determined by using the 
appropriate income approach valuation methodology. Impairment, if any, is based on the excess of the carrying amount over 
the estimated recoverable amount of those assets. 

Impairment of indefinite-lived intangible assets: We perform an annual impairment review of our indefinite-lived 
intangible assets in the fourth quarter of each fiscal year, unless events occur that trigger the need for an earlier impairment 
review. The impairment review requires us to make assumptions about future conditions impacting the value of the 
indefinite-lived intangible assets, including projected growth rates, cost of capital, effective tax rates, royalty rates, market 
share, and other items. The recoverability of these assets is assessed by comparing their recoverable value to their respective 
carrying amounts. Impairment, if any, is based on the excess of the carrying value over the recoverable value. We determine 
recoverable value by using the appropriate income approach valuation methodology. 
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Refer to Note 5, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets," for further details on the accounting and balances of our 
goodwill and other intangible assets.

Transaction Costs

Our borrowings are accounted for at amortized cost (the principal amount outstanding, net of transaction costs). 
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of a borrowing are capitalized against the carrying 
value of the debt instrument. Transaction costs and original issue discounts associated with the issuance of debt instruments 
are amortized over the term of the respective financing arrangement using the effective interest method.

Refer to Note 8, "Borrowings," for further details on our borrowing transactions and the related transaction costs.

Income Taxes

We provide for income taxes utilizing the asset and liability method. Under this method, deferred income taxes are 
recorded to reflect the tax consequences in future years of differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their 
financial reporting amounts at each balance sheet date, based on enacted tax laws and statutory tax rates applicable to the 
periods in which the differences are expected to reverse or settle. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change 
in statutory tax rates is recognized in the consolidated statements of income as an adjustment to income tax expense in the 
period that includes the enactment date.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are individually assessed and recorded at the respective reporting period end. 
Deferred income tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which 
the losses can be utilized. At each reporting period, we evaluate the projected operating results of the underlying entities for 
which deferred tax assets are recorded to conclude on our recognition of the deferred tax asset. The preparation of forecasts 
involve significant judgments and changes to the forecasts could result in a change in the value of our deferred tax assets. The 
carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced when it is no 
longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow for the deferred income tax assets to be utilized. 
Deferred income tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences.

Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off 
current tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred income taxes relate to the same taxation authority.

Refer to Note 9, "Income Taxes," for further details on our income taxes.

Pension and Other Post-Retirement Benefit Plans

We sponsor various pension and other post-retirement benefit plans covering our current and former employees in 
several countries. We estimate the cost of providing employee benefits in the period in which the benefits are earned, rather 
than when they are paid or payable. We allocate this cost within Cost of revenue, Research and development, and SG&A 
expense in the consolidated statements of income based on the allocation of payroll costs.

Our pension plans include both defined contribution and defined benefit plans. A defined contribution plan is a pension 
plan in which we make fixed contributions into state or private pension schemes based on legal or contractual requirements 
or on a voluntary basis. The contributions are recognized as employee benefit expense in the period incurred. Once the 
contributions have been paid, we have no further obligations. A defined benefit plan typically defines an amount of pension 
benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, usually dependent on one or more factors such as age, years of service, 
and compensation. The liability recognized in the consolidated statements of financial position is the present value of the 
defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period less the fair value of plan assets. The defined benefit obligation is 
calculated annually by independent actuaries. 

The projected unit credit method is used in determining the present value of the defined benefit obligation and related 
current service costs. The projected unit credit method is defined as an actuarial valuation method that recognizes each period 
of service as giving rise to an additional unit of benefit entitlement and measures each unit separately to build up the final 
obligation. The current service cost is defined as the increase in the present value of the defined benefit obligation arising 
from employee service in the current year. The current service cost is recognized as expense in the current period. 

The estimates of the obligations and related expense of these plans recorded in the consolidated financial statements are 
based on certain assumptions. The most significant assumptions relate to discount rate and rate of increase in healthcare 
costs. Other assumptions used include employee demographic factors such as compensation rate increases, retirement 
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patterns, employee turnover rates, and mortality rates. We review these assumptions annually. Our review of demographic 
assumptions includes analyzing historical patterns and/or referencing industry standard tables, combined with our 
expectations around future compensation and staffing strategies. Actuarial gains and losses, which consist of differences 
between assumptions and actual experiences and the effects of changes in actuarial assumptions, are recorded directly in 
other comprehensive income.

The discount rate reflects the current rate at which the pension and other post-retirement liabilities could be effectively 
settled, considering the timing of expected payments for plan participants. It is used to discount the estimated future 
obligations of the plans to the present value of the liability reflected in the consolidated financial statements. In estimating 
this rate in countries that have a market of high-quality, fixed-income investments, we consider rates of return on these 
investments included in various bond indices, adjusted to eliminate the effect of call provisions and differences in the timing 
and amounts of cash outflows related to the bonds. In other countries where a market of high-quality fixed-income 
investments do not exist, we estimate the discount rate using government bond yields.

The rate of increase of healthcare costs directly impacts the estimate of our future obligations in connection with our 
post-retirement medical benefits. Our estimate of healthcare cost trends is based on historical increases in healthcare costs 
under similarly designed plans, the level of increase in healthcare costs expected in the future, and the design features of the 
underlying plan. The outcomes within the next financial year may vary from the assumption made and could require 
adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected.

We have adopted use of the Retirement Plan ("RP") 2014 mortality tables with the updated Mortality Projection ("MP") 
2017 mortality improvement scale as issued by the Society of Actuaries in 2017 for our U.S. defined benefit plans. The 
updated MP 2017 mortality improvement scale reflects improvements in longevity as compared to the MP 2016 mortality 
improvement scale the Society of Actuaries issued in 2016, primarily because it includes actual Social Security mortality data 
through 2015. The MP projection scale is used to factor in projected mortality improvements over time, based on age and 
date of birth (i.e., two-dimension generational).

Refer to Note 10, "Pension and Other Post-Retirement Benefits," for further information on our pension and other 
post-retirement benefit plans.

Allowance for Losses on Receivables

The allowance for losses on receivables is used to provide for potential impairment of receivables. The allowance 
represents an estimate of probable but unconfirmed losses in the receivable portfolio. We estimate the allowance on the basis 
of specifically identified receivables that are evaluated individually for impairment and a statistical analysis of the remaining 
receivables determined by reference to past default experience. Customers are generally not required to provide collateral for 
purchases. 

Management judgments are used to determine when to charge off uncollectible trade accounts receivable. We base 
these judgments on the age of the receivable, credit quality of the customer, current economic conditions, and other factors 
that may affect a customer’s ability to pay.

Losses on receivables have not historically been significant.

Refer to Note 25, "Accounts Receivable, net," for further details on our accounts receivable balances and allowance for 
losses on receivables.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or estimated net realizable value. Cost for raw materials, work-in-process, 
and finished goods is determined based on a first-in, first-out ("FIFO") basis and includes material, labor, and applicable 
manufacturing overhead. We conduct quarterly inventory reviews for salability and obsolescence, and inventory considered 
unlikely to be sold is adjusted to net realizable value. 

Refer to Note 4, "Inventories," for details on our inventory balances.
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Property, Plant and Equipment (“PP&E”) and Other Capitalized Costs

PP&E is stated at cost, and in the case of plant and equipment, is depreciated on a straight-line basis over its estimated 
economic useful life. The depreciable lives of plant and equipment are as follows:

Buildings and improvements 2 – 40 years
Machinery and equipment 2 – 15 years

Leasehold improvements are amortized using the straight-line method over the shorter of the remaining lease term or 
the estimated economic useful lives of the improvements. 

Assets held under finance leases are recorded at the lower of the present value of the minimum lease payments or the 
fair value of the leased asset at the inception of the lease. Amortization expense associated with finance leases is computed 
using the straight-line method over the shorter of the estimated useful lives of the assets or the period of the related lease, 
unless ownership is transferred by the end of the lease or there is a bargain purchase option, in which case the asset is 
amortized, normally on a straight-line basis, over the useful life that would be assigned if the asset were owned. Amortization 
expense associated with finance leases is included within depreciation expense.

Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred, whereas major improvements that 
increase asset values and extend useful lives are capitalized.

The assets' residual values, useful lives, and methods of depreciation are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at each 
fiscal year end.

Refer to Note 3, "Property, Plant and Equipment," for details on our PP&E balances.

Provisions

Provisions consist of liabilities of uncertain timing or amounts that arise from litigation, restructuring plans, pension 
and other post-retirement obligations, and product warranty costs. Provisions are recognized when there is a legal or 
constructive obligation which is probable and when the future cash out flow can be reasonably estimated. Obligations arising 
from restructuring plans are recognized when formal plans have been established and when there is a valid expectation that 
such plans will be carried out by either starting to implement them or announcing their main features.

Leases

We evaluate arrangements at inception to determine whether the arrangement contains a lease. An arrangement may 
contain a lease if it conveys a right to control the use of the underlying asset in return for a payment or series of payments.

Foreign Currency

The functional currency of all of our subsidiaries is the U.S. dollar because of the significant influence of the U.S. 
dollar on our operations. In certain instances, we enter into transactions that are denominated in a currency other than the 
U.S. dollar. At the date the transaction is recognized, each asset, liability, revenue, expense, gain, or loss arising from the 
transaction is measured and recorded in U.S. dollars using the exchange rate in effect at that date. At each balance sheet date, 
recorded monetary balances denominated in a currency other than the U.S. dollar are adjusted to the U.S. dollar using the 
current exchange rate, with gains or losses recorded in Other, net in the consolidated statements of income.

Research and Development Costs

Research and development costs consist of costs related to direct product development and application engineering. Our 
basic technologies have been developed through a combination of internal development and acquisition. Development 
expense is typically associated with:

• engineering core technology platforms to specific applications;

• improving functionality of existing products; and

• projects that have not met certain technological feasibility and economic benefit criteria.
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The level of research and development costs is related to the number of products in development, the stage of the 
development process, the complexity of the underlying technology, potential scale of the product upon successful 
commercialization, and the level of our exploratory research. 

An intangible asset arising from development expenditures on an individual project is recognized only when we can 
demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale, our intention 
to complete and our ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future economic benefits, the availability of 
resources to complete the asset, and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the development process. Costs 
that do not meet this criteria for recognition as an intangible asset are recorded within the Research and development line of 
our consolidated statements of income. Intangible assets arising from development costs are amortized over five years, 
beginning in the period in which customer acceptance of the project is obtained. Amortization of intangible assets arising 
from development costs is recorded within the amortization line of our consolidated statements of income. Capitalized 
development costs are written-off through selling, general, and administrative expense when the criteria required to capitalize 
the expenditures are no longer present. 

3. Property, Plant and Equipment

PP&E, net as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 consisted of the following:

Land
Building and

improvements
Machinery and

equipment Total
Purchase value:
Balance as of December 31, 2015 $ 15,624 $ 214,397 $ 924,342 $ 1,154,363
Additions due to acquisitions (1) 817 3,888 7,622 12,327
Other additions 7,313 10,736 120,225 138,274
Disposals (3,575) (1,591) (21,470) (26,636)
Balance as of December 31, 2016 $ 20,179 $ 227,430 $ 1,030,719 $ 1,278,328
Additions — 19,578 121,412 140,990
Reclassification to held for sale (240) (1,630) (70) (1,940)
Disposals — (3,974) (14,826) (18,800)
Balance as of December 31, 2017 $ 19,939 $ 241,404 $ 1,137,235 $ 1,398,578

Depreciation:
Balance as of December 31, 2015 $ — $ (73,032) $ (396,816) $ (469,848)
Depreciation expense — (15,977) (91,030) (107,007)
Disposals — 1,419 19,986 21,405
Balance as of December 31, 2016 $ — $ (87,590) $ (467,860) $ (555,450)
Reclassification to held for sale 200 58 258
Depreciation expense — (14,446) (95,000) (109,446)
Disposals — 1,451 11,657 13,108
Balance as of December 31, 2017 $ — $ (100,385) $ (551,145) $ (651,530)

Carrying amounts, net:
At December 31, 2016 20,179 139,840 562,859 722,878
At December 31, 2017 19,939 141,019 586,090 747,048

(1) Additions due to acquisitions in fiscal year 2016 relate to the finalization of the allocation of purchase price for the 
acquisition of CST. See Note 6, "Acquisitions," for discussion of the acquisition of CST.

As December 31, 2017 and 2016, assets totaling $289.8 million and $244.1 million, respectively, were fully depreciated 
but continued to be in service.
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As described in Note 8, "Borrowings," our borrowings under the 4.875% Senior Notes, the 5.625% Senior Notes, the 
5.0% Senior Notes, the 6.25% Senior Notes, and the Senior Secured Credit Facilities (each defined therein) are 
unconditionally guaranteed by certain of our subsidiaries. As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, PP&E, net associated with or 
owned by these subsidiaries totaled $424.4 million and $379.7 million, respectively. 

PP&E as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 included the following assets, primarily buildings, under finance leases:

December 31,
2017

December 31,
2016

PP&E recognized under finance leases $ 45,249 $ 44,637
Accumulated depreciation (20,631) (18,410)
Net PP&E recognized under finance leases $ 24,618 $ 26,227

4. Inventories

The components of Inventories as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 were as follows:

December 31,
2017

December 31,
2016

Finished goods $ 195,089 $ 169,304
Work-in-process 92,678 74,810
Raw materials 158,362 145,730
Total $ 446,129 $ 389,844

As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, Inventories totaling $11.2 million and $10.3 million, respectively, had been 
consigned to customers. As described in Note 8, "Borrowings," our borrowings under the 4.875% Senior Notes, the 5.625% 
Senior Notes, the 5.0% Senior Notes, the 6.25% Senior Notes, and the Senior Secured Credit Facilities (each defined therein) 
are unconditionally guaranteed by certain of our subsidiaries. As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, Inventories owned by 
these subsidiaries totaled $294.4 million and $228.7 million, respectively.

5. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

The following table outlines the changes in Goodwill, by segment:

  Performance Sensing Sensing Solutions Total

 
Gross

Goodwill
Accumulated
Impairment

Net
Goodwill

Gross
Goodwill

Accumulated
Impairment

Net
Goodwill

Gross
Goodwill

Accumulated
Impairment

Net
Goodwill

Balance at
December 31,
2015 $ 2,162,272 $ (6,115) $2,156,157 $ 915,382 $ (62,324) $ 853,058 $ 3,077,654 $ (68,439) $3,009,215
CST - purchase
accounting
adjustment (992) — (992) (11,390) — (11,390) (12,382) — (12,382)
Balance as of
December 31,
2016 and 2017 $ 2,161,280 $ (6,115) $2,155,165 $ 903,992 $ (62,324) $ 841,668 $ 3,065,272 $ (68,439) $2,996,833

Goodwill attributed to acquisitions reflects our allocation of purchase price to the estimated fair value of certain assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed. The purchase accounting adjustments above generally reflect revisions in fair value 
estimates of liabilities assumed and tangible and intangible assets acquired, as well as an adjustment to arrive at the final 
allocation of goodwill to our segments based on a methodology utilizing anticipated future earnings of the components of the 
business.

Historically, we had identified six cash-generating reporting units. In connection with the 2017 review of those cash-
generating units, we determined that the portion of the Power Management cash-generating unit that serves the aerospace end 
market should be reallocated into a separate cash-generating unit. As a result, we now have seven cash-generating units: 
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Performance Sensing, Electrical Protection, Aerospace, Power Management, Industrial Sensing, Interconnection, and 
Inverters.

Each of our cash-generating units are tested for impairment annually or when impairment indicators are present. The 
Electrical Protection, Interconnection, Aerospace, Power Management, Inverters, and Industrial Sensing cash-generating 
units have been aggregated into the Sensing Solutions reportable segment due to their similar economic characteristics and 
the nature of products, production process, customers, geographies, and regulatory environments. The Performance Sensing 
cash-generating unit comprises the Performance Sensing reportable segment. 

IAS 36 permits the carry forward of the most recent quantitative goodwill impairment analysis for individual cash-
generating units from a preceding year, provided certain conditions are met. Otherwise, a one-step approach requires that an 
impairment test be performed at the cash-generating unit level. As of October 1, 2017, it was determined that the 
Performance Sensing, Electrical Protection, Industrial Sensing, Inverters, and Interconnection cash-generating units met the 
criteria for the carry-forward approach and therefore, the previous quantitative impairment tests (which were performed in 
2015 for Performance Sensing and Industrial Sensing, 2014 for Inverters, and 2013 for Electrical Protection and 
Interconnection) was carried forward to 2017 for these cash-generating units. The one-step approach was required for the 
Power Management and Aerospace cash-generating units. See Note 2, "Significant Accounting Policies," for a further 
discussion of this process.

Based on our analysis of Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets as of October 1, 2017, we have determined that 
there were no circumstances to indicate impairment at that date. Should certain assumptions used in the development of the 
recoverable amount of our cash-generating units or indefinite-lived intangible assets change, we may be required to recognize 
Goodwill or intangible asset impairments. 

The following table outlines the key assumptions used in determining the recoverable amount of our cash-generating 
units as of October 1, 2017 and 2016:

Performance 
Sensing (1)

Electrical 
Protection(1) Interconnection(1) 

Power 
Management (2) Aerospace

Industrial 
Sensing (1) Inverters (1)

Net revenue compound
annual growth rate over
projection period:
Q4 2017 9.0% 6.7% 4.9% 2.6% 9.0% 7.2% 11.1%
Q4 2016 9.0% 6.7% 4.9% 5.9% NA 7.2% 11.1%
Capitalization rate used
in Gordon Growth
Model:
Q4 2017 NA NA 13.5% NA NA NA NA
Q4 2016 NA NA 13.5% NA NA NA NA
Exit multiple applied to
earnings in final year:
Q4 2017 10.5x 9.0x NA 9.0x 9.0x 9.0x 6.5x
Q4 2016 10.5x 9.0x NA 9.0x NA 9.0x 6.5x
Discount rate (pre-tax):
Q4 2017 10.1% 13.0% 22.3% 15.8% 15.4% 12.2% 20.4%
Q4 2016 10.1% 13.0% 22.3% 14.4% NA 12.2% 20.4%

_______________________________

(1) The carry forward method was used for these cash-generating units. Therefore, information contained in this schedule 
for 2017 is consistent with 2016. 

(2) In 2017, a portion of the Power Management cash-generating unit was reallocated to a new cash-generating unit, 
Aerospace. The 2016 assumptions for the Power Management cash-generating unit includes Aerospace.
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The following table reflects the percentages by which the recoverable amount of each of our cash-generating units 
exceeded their estimated book values at the time they were tested for impairment in the fourth quarter of 2017 and 2016:

Performance
Sensing 

Electrical
Protection Interconnection 

Power
Management Aerospace

Industrial
Sensing Inverters

2017 115.6% 253.4% 483.3% 66.2% 25.4% 21.9% 66.7%
2016 115.4% 246.1% 381.2% 25.2% NA 25.5% 33.5%

The following table outlines information related to the carrying amount of goodwill and other intangible assets 
associated with each of our cash generating units at December 31, 2017 (in millions):

Performance
Sensing 

Electrical 
Protection Interconnection

Power
Management Inverters Aerospace

Industrial
Sensing Total

Goodwill $ 2,155 $ 179 $ 2 $ 69 $ 25 $ 252 $ 315 $ 2,997
Other Intangible assets,
net $ 560 $ 52 $ 11 $ 21 $ 26 $ 170 $ 193 $ 1,033

Definite-lived intangible assets have been amortized on an economic benefit basis according to the useful lives of the 
assets or on a straight-line basis, if a pattern of economic benefit cannot be determined. The following table outlines the 
components of definite-lived intangible assets, excluding Goodwill, as of December 31, 2017 and 2016:

 

Weighted-
Average

Life (Years)

December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016
Gross

Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

Accumulated
Impairment

Net
Carrying

Value

Gross
Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

Accumulated
Impairment

Net
Carrying

Value
Completed
technologies 14 $ 728,133 $ (421,248) $ (157) $ 306,728 $ 729,333 $ (360,751) $ (157) $ 368,425
Customer
relationships 11 1,771,198 (1,293,970) (843) 476,385 1,771,198 (1,202,579) (843) 567,776
Non-compete
agreements 8 23,400 (23,400) — — 23,400 (23,400) — —
Tradenames 22 50,754 (11,094) — 39,660 50,754 (8,672) — 42,082
Research and
development 7 234,093 (92,639) — 141,454 193,595 (72,276) — 121,319
Capitalized
software 7 59,909 (26,057) — 33,852 54,284 (19,854) — 34,430

Definite-
lived
intangible
assets 12 $ 2,867,487 $ (1,868,408) $ (1,000) $ 998,079 $ 2,822,564 $ (1,687,532) $ (1,000) $ 1,134,032
Indefinite-
lived brand
name $ 68,470 $ 68,470 $ 68,470 $ 68,470
Total other
intangible
assets $ 2,935,957 $1,066,549 $ 2,891,034 $ 1,202,502

The following summarizes the gross value of Other intangible assets, before impairments and amortization, by 
segment: 

Performance
Sensing

Sensing
Solutions  Corporate  Total

Balance as of January 1, 2016 $ 1,734,205 $ 1,063,277 $ 55,152 $ 2,852,634

Additions 15,931 39,147 (868) 54,210

Write offs of R&D (13,134) (2,676) — (15,810)

Balance as of December 31, 2016 $ 1,737,002 $ 1,099,748 $ 54,284 $ 2,891,034

Additions 41,167 — 5,625 46,792

Write offs of R&D (1,869) — — (1,869)

Balance as of December 31, 2017 $ 1,776,300 $ 1,099,748 $ 59,909 $ 2,935,957



57

In connection with the completion of the acquisition of the Sensors & Controls business of Texas Instruments 
Incorporated (the "2006 Acquisition"), we concluded that our Klixon® brand name is an indefinite-lived intangible asset, as 
the brand has been in continuous use since 1927, and we have no plans to discontinue using the Klixon® name. An amount of 
$59.1 million was assigned to the brand name in the purchase price allocation and is allocated to our Electrical Protection 
cash-generating unit.

In connection with the Airpax Acquisition, we concluded that our Airpax® brand name is an indefinite-lived intangible 
asset, as the brand has been in continuous use since 1948 and we have no plans to discontinue using the Airpax® name. An 
amount of $9.4 million was assigned to the brand name in the purchase price allocation and is allocated to our Power 
Management cash-generating unit.

During the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, we capitalized intangible assets derived from our research and 
development projects totaling $42.4 million and $49.7 million, respectively. 

The following table outlines amortization expense on acquisition-related definite-lived intangible assets, capitalized 
software, and capitalized research and development costs for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016:

December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016

Acquisition-related definite-lived intangible assets $ 154,510 $ 195,264
Capitalized software 7,321 7,243
Capitalized research and development costs 21,003 16,459
Total amortization expense $ 182,834 $ 218,966

This amortization expense was presented as Amortization of intangible assets and capitalized development costs in the 
accompanying consolidated statements of income.

6. Acquisitions 

CST

On December 1, 2015, we completed the acquisition of all of the outstanding shares of certain subsidiaries of Custom 
Sensors & Technologies Ltd. in the U.S., the U.K., and France, as well as certain assets in China (collectively, "CST"), for an 
aggregate purchase price of $1,000.8 million. The acquisition included the Kavlico, BEI, Crydom, and Newall product lines 
and brands, and encompassed sales, engineering, and manufacturing sites in the U.S., the U.K., Germany, France, and 
Mexico. We acquired CST to further extend our sensing content beyond automotive markets and build scale in pressure 
sensing. Portions of CST are being integrated into each of our segments. The allocation of the purchase price related to this 
acquisition was finalized in the fourth quarter of 2016.

7. Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 consisted of the following:

December 31,
2017

December 31,
2016

Accrued compensation and benefits $ 89,816 $ 83,008
Foreign currency and commodity forward contracts 35,094 26,151
Accrued interest 36,919 36,805
Other accrued expenses and current liabilities 74,267 65,506
Total $ 236,096 $ 211,470
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8. Borrowings

Our long-term borrowings and finance lease and other financing obligations as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 
consisted of the following:

Original 
Issuance 

(in millions) Maturity Date
December 31,

2017
December 31,

2016

Term loans $ 990.1 October 14, 2021 927,794 937,794
4.875% Senior Notes $ 500.0 October 15, 2023 500,000 500,000
5.625% Senior Notes $ 400.0 November 1, 2024 400,000 400,000
5.0% Senior Notes $ 700.0 October 1, 2025 700,000 700,000
6.25% Senior Notes $ 750.0 February 15, 2026 750,000 750,000
Less: discount (14,424) (17,655)
Less: current portion (9,802) (9,901)
Less: transaction costs (30,316) (36,879)
Long-term borrowings, net of discount and
transaction costs, less current portion $ 3,223,252 $ 3,223,359
Present value of finance lease and other financing
obligations $ 34,657 $ 37,111
Less: current portion (5,918) (4,742)
Present value of finance lease and other financing
obligations, less current portion $ 28,739 $ 32,369

Senior Secured Credit Facilities

In May 2011, we entered into a series of financing transactions designed to refinance our then existing indebtedness. 
These transactions included the execution of a credit agreement (as amended, the “Credit Agreement”) providing for senior 
secured credit facilities (the “Senior Secured Credit Facilities”), consisting of a term loan facility, a revolving credit facility, 
and incremental availability under which additional secured credit facilities can be issued. Currently outstanding under the 
Senior Secured Credit Facilities are a term loan facility (the "Term Loan") provided under the eighth amendment (the "Eighth 
Amendment") of the Credit Agreement, a $420.0 million revolving credit facility (the “Revolving Credit Facility”), and $1.0 
billion incremental facilities under which additional term loans may be issued or the capacity of the Revolving Credit Facility 
may be increased (the “Accordion”). The terms of the Eighth Amendment are described in more detail below.

All obligations under the Senior Secured Credit Facilities are unconditionally guaranteed by certain of our subsidiaries 
in the U.S., the Netherlands, Mexico, Japan, Belgium, Bulgaria, Malaysia, Bermuda, Luxembourg, France, Ireland, and the 
U.K. (collectively, the "Guarantors"). The collateral for such borrowings under the Senior Secured Credit Facilities consists 
of substantially all present and future property and assets of STBV, Sensata Technologies Finance Company, LLC, and the 
Guarantors.

The Credit Agreement stipulates certain events and conditions that may require us to use excess cash flow, as defined by 
the terms of the Credit Agreement, generated by operating, investing, or financing activities, to prepay some or all of the 
outstanding borrowings under the Senior Secured Credit Facilities. The Credit Agreement also requires mandatory 
prepayments of the outstanding borrowings under the Senior Secured Credit Facilities upon certain asset dispositions and 
casualty events, in each case subject to certain reinvestment rights, and the incurrence of certain indebtedness (excluding any 
permitted indebtedness). These provisions were not triggered during the year ended December 31, 2017.

On November 7, 2017, we entered into the Eighth Amendment, which resulted in a “Repricing Transaction” per the 
terms of the Credit Agreement. As a result, the Term Loan replaced the term loan provided under the Sixth Amendment. 
Pursuant to the Eighth Amendment, changes from the previously issued term loan included the following: (i) the applicable 
interest rate margins were reduced to 0.75% for Base Rate loans and 1.75% for Eurodollar Rate loans, the Base Rate floor 
was reduced to 1.00%, and the Eurodollar Rate floor was reduced to 0.00%; (ii) a prepayment premium of 1.0% was added 
with respect to any repricing event that occurs with respect to the Term Loan prior to the date that is six months after the 
effective date of the Eighth Amendment; (iii) the senior secured net leverage ratio threshold that triggers the excess cash flow 
mandatory prepayment requirement was increased; (iv) the Accordion was re-set to $1.0 billion as of the effective date of the 
Eighth Amendment; (v) various baskets, permissions and other provisions under certain of the affirmative and negative 
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covenants were increased or otherwise amended for our benefit; and (vi) certain other changes were made to the Credit 
Agreement that are not considered material. The Term Loan retains all other provisions of the Sixth Amendment, including 
original principal amount and maturity, amongst others.

The terms presented herein reflect the current terms as a result of all Credit Agreement amendments.

Term Loan

The Term Loan may, at our option, be maintained from time to time as a Base Rate loan or a Eurodollar Rate loan (each 
as defined in the Credit Agreement), each with a different determination of interest rates. The principal amount of the Term 
Loan amortizes in equal quarterly installments in an aggregate annual amount equal to 1.0% of the original principal amount 
of the term loan provided under the Sixth Amendment, with the balance due at maturity. The applicable margins for the Term 
Loan as of December 31, 2017 were 0.75% and 1.75% for Base Rate loans and Eurodollar Rate loans, respectively, (a 
decrease from 1.25% and 2.25%, respectively, pursuant to the Sixth Amendment) subject to floors of 1.00% and 0.00% for 
Base Rate loans and Eurodollar Rate loans, respectively (a decrease from 1.75% and 0.75%, respectively, pursuant to the 
Sixth Amendment). 

As of December 31, 2017, we maintained the Term Loan as a Eurodollar Rate loan, which accrued interest at a rate of 
3.21%. 

Revolving Credit Facility

At our option, the Revolving Credit Facility may be maintained from time to time as a Base Rate loan or a Eurodollar 
Rate loan (each as defined in the Credit Agreement), each with a different determination of interest rates. Interest rates and 
fees on the Revolving Credit Facility are as follows (each depending on the achievement of certain senior secured net 
leverage ratios) (i) the index rate spread for Eurodollar Rate loans is 1.75% or 1.50%; (ii) the index rate spread for Base Rate 
loans is 0.75% or 0.50%; and (iii) the letter of credit fees are 1.625% or 1.375%. 

We are required to pay to our revolving credit lenders, on a quarterly basis, a commitment fee on the unused portion of 
the Revolving Credit Facility. The commitment fee is subject to a pricing grid based on our leverage ratio. The spreads on the 
commitment fee currently range from 0.25% to 0.375%. 

As of December 31, 2017, there was $415.3 million of availability under the Revolving Credit Facility, (net of $4.7 
million in letters of credit). Outstanding letters of credit are issued primarily for the benefit of certain operating activities. As 
of December 31, 2017, no amounts had been drawn against these outstanding letters of credit.

Revolving loans may be borrowed, repaid, and re-borrowed to fund our working capital needs and for other general 
corporate purposes. 

Senior Notes

At December 31, 2017, we had various tranches of senior notes outstanding, including the 4.875% Senior Notes, the 
5.625% Senior Notes, the 5.0% Senior Notes, and the 6.25% Senior Notes (each as defined below, and collectively, the 
“Senior Notes”).

At any time, we may redeem the Senior Notes (with the exception of the 6.25% Senior Notes, the redemption terms of 
which are discussed in more detail below), in whole or in part, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount 
of the Senior Notes redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the date of redemption, plus the Applicable 
Premium (also known as the "make-whole premium") set forth in the indentures under which the Senior Notes were issued 
(the “Senior Notes Indentures”). Upon the occurrence of certain change in control events, we will be required to make an 
offer to purchase the Senior Notes then outstanding at a purchase price equal to 101% of their principal amount, plus accrued 
and unpaid interest, if any, to the date of repurchase. In addition, if certain changes in the law of any relevant taxing 
jurisdiction become effective that would impose withholding taxes or other deductions on the payments of the Senior Notes 
or the guarantees, we may redeem the Senior Notes in whole, but not in part, at any time, at a redemption price of 100% of 
the principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, and additional amounts, if any, to the date of redemption.

The Senior Notes Indentures provide for events of default (subject in certain cases to customary grace and cure periods) 
that include, among others, nonpayment of principal or interest when due, breach of covenants or other agreements in the 
Senior Notes Indentures, defaults in payment of certain other indebtedness, certain events of bankruptcy or insolvency, failure 
to pay certain judgments, and when the guarantees of significant subsidiaries cease to be in full force and effect. Generally, if 
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an event of default occurs, the trustee or the holders of at least 25% in principal amount of the then outstanding Senior Notes 
may declare the principal of, and accrued but unpaid interest on, all of the Senior Notes to be due and payable immediately. 
All provisions regarding remedies in an event of default are subject to the Senior Notes Indentures.

4.875% Senior Notes

In April 2013, we completed the issuance and sale of $500.0 million aggregate principal amount of 4.875% senior notes 
due 2023 (the "4.875% Senior Notes"), which were issued under an indenture dated April 17, 2013 (the "4.875% Senior 
Notes Indenture") among STBV, as issuer, The Bank of New York Mellon, as trustee, and the Guarantors. The 4.875% Senior 
Notes were offered at par. Interest on the 4.875% Senior Notes is payable semi-annually on April 15 and October 15 of each 
year.

Our obligations under the 4.875% Senior Notes are guaranteed by all of STBV’s existing and future wholly-owned 
subsidiaries that guarantee our obligations under the Senior Secured Credit Facilities. The 4.875% Senior Notes and the 
related guarantees are the senior unsecured obligations of STBV and the Guarantors, respectively. The 4.875% Senior Notes 
and the guarantees rank equally in right of payment to all existing and future senior unsecured indebtedness of STBV or the 
Guarantors.

5.625% Senior Notes

In October 2014, we completed the issuance and sale of $400.0 million aggregate principal amount of 5.625% senior 
notes due 2024 (the "5.625% Senior Notes"), which were issued under an indenture dated October 14, 2014 (the "5.625% 
Senior Notes Indenture") among STBV, as issuer, The Bank of New York Mellon, as trustee, and the Guarantors. The 5.625% 
Senior Notes were offered at par. Interest on the 5.625% Senior Notes is payable semi-annually on May 1 and November 1 of 
each year. 

Our obligations under the 5.625% Senior Notes are guaranteed by all of STBV’s existing and future wholly-owned 
subsidiaries that guarantee our obligations under the Senior Secured Credit Facilities. The 5.625% Senior Notes and the 
related guarantees are the senior unsecured obligations of STBV and the Guarantors, respectively. The 5.625% Senior Notes 
and the guarantees rank equally in right of payment to all existing and future senior unsecured indebtedness of STBV or the 
Guarantors.

5.0% Senior Notes

In March 2015, we completed the issuance and sale of $700.0 million aggregate principal amount of 5.0% senior notes 
due 2025 (the "5.0% Senior Notes"), which were issued under an indenture dated March 26, 2015 (the "5.0% Senior Notes 
Indenture") among STBV, as issuer, The Bank of New York Mellon, as trustee, and the Guarantors. The 5.0% Senior Notes 
were offered at par. Interest on the 5.0% Senior Notes is payable semi-annually on April 1 and October 1 of each year.

Our obligations under the 5.0% Senior Notes are guaranteed by all of STBV’s existing and future wholly-owned 
subsidiaries that guarantee our obligations under the Senior Secured Credit Facilities. The 5.0% Senior Notes and the related 
guarantees are the senior unsecured obligations of STBV and the Guarantors, respectively. The 5.0% Senior Notes and the 
guarantees rank equally in right of payment to all existing and future senior unsecured indebtedness of STBV or the 
Guarantors.

6.25% Senior Notes

In November 2015, we completed the issuance and sale of $750.0 million aggregate principal amount of 6.25% senior 
notes due 2026 (the "6.25% Senior Notes"), which were issued by Sensata Technologies UK Financing Co. plc ("STUK") 
under an indenture dated November 27, 2015 (the "6.25% Senior Notes Indenture") among STUK, as issuer, The Bank of 
New York Mellon, as trustee, and the Guarantors. The 6.25% Senior Notes were offered at par. Interest on the 6.25% Senior 
Notes is payable semi-annually on February 15 and August 15 of each year.
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We may redeem the 6.25% Senior Notes, in whole or in part, at any time prior to February 15, 2021, at a redemption 
price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the 6.25% Senior Notes redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to 
the date of redemption, plus the Applicable Premium (also known as the “make-whole” premium) set forth in the 6.25% 
Senior Notes Indenture. Thereafter, we may redeem the 6.25% Senior Notes, in whole or in part, at the following prices (plus 
accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the date of redemption):

Period beginning February 15, Price
2021 103.125%
2022 102.083%
2023 101.042%
2024 and thereafter 100.000%

In addition, at any time prior to November 15, 2018, we may redeem up to 40% of the aggregate principal amount of 
the 6.25% Senior Notes with the net cash proceeds from certain equity offerings at the redemption price of 106.25% plus 
accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the date of redemption, provided that at least 60% of the aggregate principal amount of 
the 6.25% Senior Notes remains outstanding immediately after each such redemption.

Our obligations under the 6.25% Senior Notes are guaranteed by STBV and certain of STBV’s existing and future 
wholly-owned subsidiaries (other than STUK) that guarantee our obligations under the Senior Secured Credit Facilities. The 
6.25% Senior Notes and the related guarantees are the senior unsecured obligations of STUK and the Guarantors, 
respectively. The 6.25% Senior Notes and the guarantees rank equally in right of payment to all existing and future senior 
unsecured indebtedness of STUK, STBV, or the Guarantors.

Restrictions

As of December 31, 2017, all of the subsidiaries of STBV were subject to certain restrictive covenants. Under certain 
circumstances, STBV will be permitted to designate a subsidiary as "unrestricted," in which case the restrictive covenants 
will not apply to that subsidiary. STBV has not designated any subsidiaries as unrestricted.

Under the Revolving Credit Facility, STBV and its subsidiaries are required to maintain a senior secured net leverage 
ratio not to exceed 5.0:1.0 at the conclusion of certain periods when outstanding loans and letters of credit that are not cash 
collateralized for the full face amount thereof exceed 10% of the commitments under the Revolving Credit Facility. In 
addition, STBV and its subsidiaries are required to satisfy this covenant, on a pro forma basis, in connection with any new 
borrowings (including any letter of credit issuances) under the Revolving Credit Facility as of the time of such borrowings.

The Credit Agreement also contains non-financial covenants that limit our ability to incur subsequent indebtedness, 
incur liens, prepay subordinated debt, make loans and investments (including acquisitions), merge, consolidate, dissolve or 
liquidate, sell assets, enter into affiliate transactions, change our business, change our accounting policies, make capital 
expenditures, amend the terms of our subordinated debt and our organizational documents, pay dividends and make other 
restricted payments, and enter into certain burdensome contractual obligations. These covenants are subject to important 
exceptions and qualifications set forth in the Credit Agreement.

The Senior Notes Indentures contain restrictive covenants that limit the ability of STBV and its subsidiaries to, among 
other things: incur additional debt or issue preferred stock; create liens; create restrictions on STBV's subsidiaries' ability to 
make payments to STBV; pay dividends and make other distributions in respect of STBV's and its subsidiaries' capital stock; 
redeem or repurchase STBV's capital stock, our capital stock, or the capital stock of any other direct or indirect parent 
company of STBV or prepay subordinated indebtedness; make certain investments or certain other restricted payments; 
guarantee indebtedness; designate unrestricted subsidiaries; sell certain kinds of assets; enter into certain types of transactions 
with affiliates; and effect mergers or consolidations. These covenants are subject to important exceptions and qualifications 
set forth in the Senior Notes Indentures. Certain of these covenants will be suspended if the Senior Notes are assigned an 
investment grade rating by Standard & Poor's Rating Services or Moody's Investors Service, Inc. and no default has occurred 
and is continuing at such time. The suspended covenants will be reinstated if the Senior Notes are no longer rated investment 
grade by either rating agency and an event of default has occurred and is continuing at such time. As of December 31, 2017, 
the Senior Notes were not rated investment grade by either rating agency.

The Guarantors under the Credit Agreement and the Senior Notes Indentures are generally not restricted in their ability 
to pay dividends or otherwise distribute funds to STBV, except for restrictions imposed under applicable corporate law.
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STBV, however, is limited in its ability to pay dividends or otherwise make distributions to its immediate parent 
company and, ultimately, to us, under the Credit Agreement and the Senior Notes Indentures. Specifically, the Credit 
Agreement prohibits STBV from paying dividends or making any distributions to its parent companies except for limited 
purposes, including, but not limited to: (i) customary and reasonable operating expenses, legal and accounting fees and 
expenses, and overhead of such parent companies incurred in the ordinary course of business in the aggregate not to exceed 
$20.0 million in any fiscal year, plus reasonable and customary indemnification claims made by our directors or officers 
attributable to the ownership of STBV and its subsidiaries; (ii) franchise taxes, certain advisory fees, and customary 
compensation of officers and employees of such parent companies to the extent such compensation is attributable to the 
ownership or operations of STBV and its subsidiaries; (iii) repurchase, retirement, or other acquisition of equity interest of 
the parent from certain present, future, and former employees, directors, managers, consultants of the parent companies, 
STBV, or its subsidiaries in an aggregate amount not to exceed $20.0 million in any fiscal year, plus the amount of cash 
proceeds from certain equity issuances to such persons, the amount of equity interests subject to a certain deferred 
compensation plan, and the amount of certain key-man life insurance proceeds; (iv) so long as no default or event of default 
exists and the senior secured net leverage ratio is less than 2.0:1.0 calculated on a pro forma basis, dividends and other 
distributions in an aggregate amount not to exceed $100.0 million, plus certain amounts, including the retained portion of 
excess cash flow; (v) dividends and other distributions in an aggregate amount not to exceed $50.0 million in any calendar 
year (subject to increase upon the achievement of certain ratios); and (vi) so long as no default or event of default exists, 
dividends and other distributions in an aggregate amount not to exceed $150.0 million.

The Senior Notes Indentures generally provide that STBV can pay dividends and make other distributions to its parent 
companies upon the achievement of certain conditions and in an amount as determined in accordance with the Senior Notes 
Indentures.

The net assets of STBV subject to these restrictions totaled $2,390.2 million at December 31, 2017.

Maturities

The final maturity of the Revolving Credit Facility is March 26, 2020. Loans made pursuant to the Revolving Credit 
Facility must be repaid in full on or prior to such date and are pre-payable at our option at par. All letters of credit issued 
thereunder will terminate at the final maturity of the Revolving Credit Facility unless cash collateralized prior to such time. 
The final maturity of the Term Loan is October 14, 2021. The Term Loan must be repaid in full on or prior to this date. The 
4.875% Senior Notes, the 5.625% Senior Notes, the 5.0% Senior Notes, and the 6.25% Senior Notes mature on October 15, 
2023, November 1, 2024, October 1, 2025, and February 15, 2026, respectively.

The following table presents the remaining mandatory principal repayments of long-term borrowings, excluding finance 
lease payments, other financing obligations, and discretionary repurchases of borrowings, in each of the years ended 
December 31, 2018 through 2021 and thereafter. 

For the year ended December 31, Aggregate Maturities
2018 9,802
2019 9,901
2020 9,901
2021 898,190
Thereafter 2,350,000
Total long-term principal payments $ 3,277,794

Compliance with Financial and Non-Financial Covenants 

As of and for the year ended December 31, 2017, we were in compliance with all of the covenants and default 
provisions associated with our indebtedness.
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Accounting for Borrowings

During the year ended December 31, 2017, we recorded a loss of $2.7 million in Other, net related to the entry into the 
Eighth Amendment, of which $0.6 million related to third party and creditor fees. The remaining losses recorded to Other, net 
primarily relate to the write-off of unamortized transaction costs and debt discounts. 

During the year ended December 31, 2017, $0.6 million was accounted for as transaction costs related to the Eighth 
Amendment and were recorded on the balance sheet as an adjustment to the carrying amount of the debt liability. 

During the year ended December 31, 2016 we did not enter into any debt financing transactions.

Transaction Costs 

During the year ended December 31, 2017, we executed the Eighth Amendment, and as a result capitalized transaction 
costs of $0.6 million.

Amortization of transaction costs is included as a component of Interest expense, net, in the consolidated statements of 
income and amounted to $7.9 million and $8.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

Transaction costs reflected in the consolidated statements of financial position as a reduction of borrowings were $30.3 
million and $36.9 million as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

9. Income Taxes

Effective April 27, 2006 (inception), and concurrent with the completion of the acquisition of the Sensors & Controls 
business ("S&C") of Texas Instruments Incorporated ("TI") (the "2006 Acquisition"), we commenced filing tax returns in the 
Netherlands as a stand-alone entity. Several of our Dutch resident subsidiaries are taxable entities in the Netherlands and file 
tax returns under Dutch fiscal unity (i.e., consolidation). Prior to April 30, 2008, we filed one consolidated tax return in the 
U.S. On April 30, 2008, our U.S. subsidiaries executed a separation and distribution agreement that divided our U.S. 
businesses, resulting in two separate U.S. consolidated federal income tax returns. On January 1, 2016, our U.S. subsidiaries 
resumed filing one consolidated tax return. Our remaining subsidiaries will file income tax returns in the countries in which 
they are incorporated and/or operate, including the Netherlands, Japan, China, Germany, Belgium, Bulgaria, South Korea, 
Malaysia, the U.K., France, and Mexico. The 2006 Acquisition purchase accounting and the related debt and equity 
capitalization of the various subsidiaries of the consolidated company, and the realignment of the functions performed and 
risks assumed by the various subsidiaries, are of significant consequence to the determination of future book and taxable 
income of the respective subsidiaries and Sensata as a whole.

We utilize the "probable" criteria established in IAS 12 Income Taxes, to determine whether the future benefit from the 
deferred tax assets should be recognized. Since our inception, we have incurred tax losses in the U.S., resulting in allowable 
tax net operating loss carryforwards. In measuring the related deferred tax assets, we considered all available evidence, both 
positive and negative, to determine whether, based on the weight of that evidence, it is probable that we will utilize our 
deferred tax assets. Judgment is required in considering the relative impact of negative and positive evidence. The weight 
given to the potential effect of negative and positive evidence is commensurate with the extent to which it can be objectively 
verified. The more negative evidence that exists, the more positive evidence is necessary and the more difficult it is to support 
a conclusion that we will utilize deferred tax assets. As a result, we have not recognized deferred tax assets in jurisdictions 
that it is not probable that the assets will be utilized in the foreseeable future. 

Income/(loss) from continuing operations before income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 is as 
follows:

U.S. Non-U.S. Total

For the year ended December 31,
2017 $ 7,932 $ 416,554 $ 424,486
2016 $ (32,066) $ 360,289 $ 328,223
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Provision for/(benefit from) income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 is as follows:

U.S. Federal Non-U.S. U.S. State Total

For the year ended December 31,
2017
Current tax expense:

Current year $ — $ 46,115 $ 240 $ 46,355
Adjustment in respect of current income tax of
previous year — 4,594 — 4,594

Deferred tax expense:
Origination and reversal of temporary differences 18,472 (6,545) 1,525 13,452
Change in tax rate (73,563) 3,912 — (69,651)
Recognition of previously unrecognized tax losses
and deductible temporary differences — $ (12,209) — (12,209)
Total $ (55,091) $ 35,867 $ 1,765 $ (17,459)

2016
Current tax expense:

Current year $ 464 $ 54,474 $ 226 $ 55,164
Adjustment in respect of current income tax of
previous year — (4,350) — (4,350)

Deferred tax expense:
Origination and reversal of temporary differences 9,649 5,152 (3,732) 11,069
Change in tax rate — 2,542 — 2,542
Recognition of previously unrecognized tax losses
and deductible temporary differences — (884) — (884)
Total $ 10,113 $ 56,934 $ (3,506) $ 63,541

Principal reconciling items from income tax computed at the Dutch statutory tax rate for the years ended December 31, 
2017 and 2016 are as follows:

  For the year ended December 31,
  2017 2016

Tax computed at statutory rate of 25% $ 106,122 $ 82,056
Foreign tax rate differential (71,177) (53,266)
Unrealized foreign exchange (gain)/loss (13,853) 8,062
Change in tax law or rates 3,912 2,542
Withholding taxes not creditable 3,896 6,014
U.S Tax Reform impact (73,563) —
Current year losses for which no tax benefit was recognized 5,818 28,614
Recognition of previously unrecognized tax losses (12,209) (884)
State taxes, net of federal benefit 1,087 (2,166)
Reserve for tax exposure 38,013 11,227
Patent box deduction (5,922) (10,961)
Other 417 (7,697)

$ (17,459) $ 63,541
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U.S. Tax Reform Impact.  On December 22, 2017 President Donald Trump signed into U.S. law the Tax Cuts and Jobs 
Act of 2017 (“Tax Reform”). As a result of Tax Reform, the U,S, statutory tax rate was lowered from 35 percent to 21 
percent, effective on January 1, 2018.  We are required to remeasure our U.S. deferred tax assets and liabilities to the new tax 
rate.  We recorded $73.6 million of income tax benefit for the remeasurement of the deferred tax liabilities associated with 
indefinite-lived intangible assets that will reverse at the new 21 percent rate.

A rollforward of the primary components of deferred income tax assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2017 is as 
follows:

Beginning of
the year  Acquisitions

Recognized in other
comprehensive loss

Recognized in
Profit & Loss 

End of the
Year 

Deferred tax assets:
Inventories and related reserves $ 9,081 $ — $ — $ 2,101 $ 11,182
Accrued expenses 17,107 — — (3,151) 13,956
Property, plant and equipment 4,839 — — 4,628 9,467
Intangible assets 10 — — 313 323
Unrealized exchange loss 2,347 — — 9,191 11,538
NOL and interest expense carryforwards 229,869 — — (78,524) 151,345
Pension liability 5,296 — 550 (1,047) 4,799
Financing fees and other (313) — — 6,123 5,810
Share-based compensation 4,498 — — 2,997 7,495

Total deferred tax assets 272,734 — 550 (57,369) 215,915
Deferred tax liabilities:

Property, plant and equipment (33,605) — — 6,223 (27,382)
Intangible assets and goodwill (574,781) — — 113,678 (461,103)
Unrealized foreign exchange gain (11,705) — 9,398 (3,723) (6,030)
Tax on undistributed earnings of
subsidiaries (48,493) — — 9,599 (38,894)

Total deferred tax liabilities (668,584) — 9,398 125,777 (533,409)
Net deferred tax liabilities $ (395,850) $ — $ 9,948 $ 68,408 $ (317,494)
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A rollforward of the primary components of deferred income tax assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2016 is as 
follows:

Beginning of
the year  Acquisitions

Recognized in other
comprehensive loss

Recognized in
Profit & Loss 

End of the
Year 

Deferred tax assets:
Inventories and related reserves $ 5,985 $ 1,895 $ — $ 1,201 $ 9,081
Accrued expenses 38,883 2,085 — (23,861) 17,107
Property, plant and equipment 11,994 — — (7,155) 4,839
Intangible assets 26,850 — — (26,840) 10
Unrealized exchange loss 295 — — 2,052 2,347
NOL and interest expense carryforwards 221,285 — — 8,584 229,869
Pension liability 4,837 — 1,066 (607) 5,296
Share-based compensation 8,414 111 — (4,027) 4,498

Total deferred tax assets 318,543 4,091 1,066 (50,653) 273,047
Deferred tax liabilities:

Property, plant and equipment (27,326) (3,502) — (2,777) (33,605)
Intangible assets and goodwill (616,540) (1,031) — 42,790 (574,781)
Unrealized foreign exchange gain (11,728) — 1,276 (1,253) (11,705)
Tax on undistributed earnings of
subsidiaries (44,078) 50 — (4,465) (48,493)
Financing fees and other (4,019) 75 — 3,631 (313)

Total deferred tax liabilities (703,691) (4,408) 1,276 37,926 (668,897)
Net deferred tax liability $ (385,148) $ (317) $ 2,342 $ (12,727) $ (395,850)

Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect of the following items:

  For the year ended December 31,

  2017 2016

Deductible temporary differences $ 361,162 $ 440,527
Tax losses 520,963 485,390
Total $ 882,125 $ 925,917

Certain of our subsidiaries are currently eligible, or have been eligible, for tax exemptions or holidays in their 
respective jurisdictions. From 2016 through 2018, our subsidiary in Changzhou, China was eligible for a reduced tax rate of 
15%. The impact of the tax holidays and exemptions on our effective rate is included in the foreign tax rate differential line in 
the reconciliation of the statutory rate to effective rate.

Withholding taxes may apply to intercompany interest, royalty, and management fees, and certain payments to third 
parties. Such taxes are expensed if they cannot be credited against the recipient’s tax liability in its country of residence. 
Additional consideration also has been given to the withholding taxes associated with the remittance of presently unremitted 
earnings and the recipient's ability to obtain a tax credit for such taxes. Earnings are not considered to be indefinitely 
reinvested in the jurisdictions in which they were earned.

As of December 31, 2017, we have U.S. federal net operating loss carryforwards of $724.9 million and interest expense 
carryforwards of $472.0 million. U.S. federal net operating loss carryforwards will expire from 2026 to 2037, state net 
operating loss carryforwards will expire from 2018 to 2037, and the interest carryovers have an unlimited life. It is more 
likely than not that these net operating losses will not be utilized in the foreseeable future. We also have non-U.S. net 
operating loss carryforwards of $262.6 million, which will begin to expire in 2018.

We believe a change of ownership within the meaning of Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code occurred in the 
fourth quarter of 2012. As a result, our U.S. federal net operating loss utilization will be limited to an amount equal to the 
market capitalization of our U.S. subsidiaries at the time of the ownership change multiplied by the federal long-term tax 
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exempt rate. A change of ownership under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code is defined as a cumulative change of 
fifty percentage points or more in the ownership positions of certain stockholders owning five percent or more of our 
common stock over a three year rolling period. We do not believe the resulting limitation will prohibit the utilization of our 
U.S. federal net operating loss.

The amount of unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, 2017 that will impact our effective tax rate is $5.4 million, 
which relates to the allocation of taxable income to the various jurisdictions where we are subject to tax.

Our major tax jurisdictions include the Netherlands, the U.S., Japan, Germany, Mexico, China, South Korea, Belgium, 
Bulgaria, France, Malaysia, and the U.K. These jurisdictions generally remain open to examination by the relevant tax 
authority for the tax years 2006 through 2017.

We have various indemnification provisions in place with TI, Honeywell, William Blair, Tomkins Limited, and Custom 
Sensors & Technologies Ltd. These provisions provide for the reimbursement by TI, Honeywell, William Blair, Tomkins 
Limited, and Custom Sensors & Technologies Ltd of future tax liabilities paid by us that relate to the pre-acquisition periods 
of the acquired businesses including S&C, First Technology Automotive, Airpax, Schrader, and CST, respectively.

10. Pension and Other Post-Retirement Benefits

We provide various pension and other post-retirement plans for current and former employees, including defined 
benefit, defined contribution, and retiree healthcare benefit plans.

U.S. Benefit Plans

The principal retirement plans in the U.S. include a qualified defined benefit pension plan and a defined contribution 
plan. In addition, we provide post-retirement medical coverage and non-qualified benefits to certain employees.

Defined Benefit Pension Plans

The benefits under the qualified defined benefit pension plan are determined using a formula based upon years of 
service and the highest five consecutive years of compensation.

TI closed the qualified defined benefit pension plan to participants hired after November 1997. In addition, participants 
eligible to retire under the TI plan as of April 26, 2006 were given the option of continuing to participate in the qualified 
defined benefit pension plan or retiring under the qualified defined benefit pension plan and thereafter participating in the 
enhanced defined contribution plan.

We intend to contribute amounts to the qualified defined benefit pension plan in order to meet the minimum funding 
requirements of federal laws and regulations, plus such additional amounts as we deem appropriate. We do not expect to 
contribute to the qualified defined benefit pension plan during 2018.

We also sponsor a non-qualified defined benefit pension plan, which is closed to new participants and is unfunded.

Effective January 31, 2012, we froze the defined benefit pension plans and eliminated future benefit accruals. 

An Investment Committee is responsible for determining the overall investment decisions and target allocations of our 
defined benefit plans with the support of the plan trustees and investment advisors. The plan design is reviewed periodically 
by an Administration Committee to assess whether the plan is aligned with market practice. Should a plan be amended, the 
Administration Committee or the Board of Directors approves the plan amendment prior to implementation. 

Defined Contribution Plans

Prior to August 1, 2012, we offered two defined contribution plans. Both defined contribution plans offered an 
employer matching savings option that allowed employees to make pre-tax contributions to various investment choices.

Employees who elected not to remain in the qualified defined benefit pension plan, and new employees hired after 
November 1997, could participate in an enhanced defined contribution plan, where employer matching contributions were 
provided for up to 4% of the employee’s annual eligible earnings. In addition, this plan provided for an additional fixed 
employer contribution of 2% of the employee’s annual eligible earnings for employees who elected not to remain in the 
qualified defined benefit pension plan and employees hired between November 1997 and December 31, 2003. Effective in 
2012, we discontinued the additional fixed employer contribution of 2%.
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Employees who remained in the qualified defined benefit pension plan were permitted to participate in a defined 
contribution plan, where 50% employer matching contributions were provided for up to 2% of the employee’s annual eligible 
earnings. Effective in 2012, we increased the employer matching contribution to 100% for up to 4% of the employee's annual 
eligible earnings.

In 2012, we merged the two defined contribution plans into one plan. The combined plan provides for an employer 
matching contribution of up to 4% of the employee's annual eligible earnings. Our matching of employees' contributions 
under our defined contribution plan is discretionary and is based on our assessment of our financial performance.

The aggregate expense related to the defined contribution plans for U.S. employees was $5.9 million and $5.8 million 
for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

Retiree Healthcare Benefit Plan

We offer access to group medical coverage during retirement to some of our U.S. employees. We make contributions 
toward the cost of those retiree medical benefits for certain retirees. The contribution rates are based upon varying factors, the 
most important of which are an employee’s date of hire, date of retirement, years of service, and eligibility for Medicare 
benefits. The balance of the cost is borne by the participants in the plan. For the year ended December 31, 2017, we did not, 
and do not expect to, receive any amount of Medicare Part D Federal subsidy. Our projected benefit obligation as of 
December 31, 2017 and 2016 did not include an assumption for a Federal subsidy. 

Non-U.S. Benefit Plans

Retirement coverage for non-U.S. employees is provided through separate defined benefit and defined contribution 
plans. Retirement benefits are generally based on an employee’s years of service and compensation. Funding requirements 
are determined on an individual country and plan basis and are subject to local country practices and market circumstances. 
We expect to contribute approximately $2.3 million to non-U.S. defined benefit plans during 2018. 

Certain of our non-U.S. defined benefit plans have Works Counsels or Investment Committees which are responsible 
for determining the overall investment decisions and target allocations with the support of the plan trustees and investment 
advisors. The plan design is reviewed periodically by the Works Counsel or Investment Committee to assess whether the plan 
is aligned with market practice. Should a plan be amended, the applicable Works Counsel or Investment Committee approves 
the plan amendment prior to implementation.

Effect on Statement of Income and the Statement of Financial Position

The following table outlines the net periodic benefit cost of the defined benefit and retiree healthcare benefit plans for 
the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 that was recognized in the consolidated statements of income: 

  For the year ended December 31,
  2017 2016

  U.S. Plans
Non-U.S.

Plans U.S. Plans
Non-U.S.

Plans

 
Defined
Benefit

Retiree
Healthcare

Defined
Benefit Total

Defined
Benefit

Retiree
Healthcare

Defined
Benefit Total

Current service cost $ — $ 74 $ 2,582 $ 2,656 $ — $ 83 $ 2,716 $ 2,799
Past service cost — — (6) (6) — — (2,246) (2,246)
Net interest (income)/expense 116 — 642 758 45 364 685 1,094
Interest expense on effect of asset
ceiling — 325 — 325 53 — — 53
Administrative costs 119 — 28 147 100 — 28 128
Net periodic benefit (income)/cost $ 235 $ 399 $ 3,246 3,880 $ 198 $ 447 $ 1,183 1,828
Total U.S. defined contribution
expense 5,945 5,804
Total expense $ 9,825 $ 7,632
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The following table outlines the rollforward of the benefit obligation and plan assets for the defined benefit and retiree 
healthcare benefit plans for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016:

  For the year ended December 31,
  2017 2016

  U.S. Plans
Non-U.S.

Plans U.S. Plans
Non-U.S.

Plans

 
Defined
Benefit

Retiree
Healthcare

Defined
Benefit

Defined
Benefit

Retiree
Healthcare

Defined
Benefit

Change in Benefit Obligation
Beginning balance $ 57,679 $ 10,296 $ 59,056 $ 57,626 $ 11,108 $ 56,102
Current service cost — 74 2,582 — 83 2,716
Interest cost 1,604 325 1,053 1,677 364 1,179
Past service cost — — (6) — — (2,246)
Acquisitions (1) — — — — 282 253
Plan participants’ contributions — 519 120 — 405 139
Actuarial loss/(gain) 2,936 (197) 2,692 4,730 (984) 5,127
Benefits paid (13,604) (1,325) (2,572) (6,354) (962) (3,186)
Foreign currency exchange rate changes — — 4,488 — — (1,028)
Ending balance $ 48,615 $ 9,692 $ 67,413 $ 57,679 $ 10,296 $ 59,056

Change in Plan Assets
Beginning balance $ 52,042 $ — $ 37,361 $ 55,867 $ — $ 33,961
Interest income 1,488 — 411 1,632 — 494
Actual return on plan assets, excluding
interest income 950 — 858 730 — 2,003
Employer contributions 344 1,325 2,586 267 962 3,552
Plan participants’ contributions — — 120 — — 139
Benefits paid (13,604) (1,325) (2,572) (6,354) (962) (3,186)
Administrative costs (119) — (28) (100) — (28)
Foreign currency exchange rate changes — — 2,486 — — 426
Ending balance $ 41,101 $ — $ 41,222 $ 52,042 $ — $ 37,361

(1) Relates to unfunded defined benefit plans assumed as part of the acquisition of CST.

The following table provides the detail of remeasurements recognized in other comprehensive income/(loss) for the 
years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016:

  For the year ended December 31,
2017 2016

U.S. Plans
Non-U.S.

Plans U.S. Plans
Non-U.S.

Plans
Defined
Benefit

Retiree
Healthcare

Defined
Benefit Total

Defined
Benefit

Retiree
Healthcare

Defined
Benefit Total

Actual return on plan assets,
excluding interest income $ 950 $ — $ 858 $ 1,808 $ 730 $ — $ 2,003 $ 2,733
Experience adjustments (2,129) 190 (2,732) (4,671) (1,417) 988 (1,351) (1,780)
Changes in demographic
assumptions (752) 40 (438) (1,150) (576) 115 (237) (698)
Changes in financial assumptions (55) (33) 478 390 (2,737) (119) (3,539) (6,395)
Changes in the effect of asset ceiling
limitation — — — — 1,756 — — 1,756
Total remeasurements recognized in
other comprehensive income/(loss)
(gross of tax) $ (1,986) $ 197 $ (1,834) (3,623) $ (2,244) $ 984 $ (3,124) (4,384)
Income tax benefit/(expense) 550 836
Total remeasurements recognized in
other comprehensive income/(loss)
(net of tax) $ (3,073) $ (3,548)



70

There were no changes in the unrecognized assets of the U.S. defined benefit plans during the year ended December 31, 
2017.  The following table shows the movement in unrecognized assets of the U.S. defined benefit plans for the year ended 
December 31, 2016:

For the year ended
December 31,

2016

Beginning balance $ 1,703
Limitation on interest income 53
Changes due to asset ceiling (1,756)
Ending balance $ —

There were no changes in unrecognized assets for our non-U.S. defined benefit plans during the years ended 
December 31, 2017 and 2016.

The net funding status of our plan obligations as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 is as follows:

December 31, 2017

U.S. Plans
Non-U.S.

Plans 

2017 Total
Defined
Benefit 

Retiree
Healthcare 

Total U.S.
Plans

Defined
Benefit 

Benefit obligations
Funded plans $ (45,313) $ — $ (45,313) $ (42,859) $ (88,172)
Unfunded plans (3,302) (9,692) (12,994) (24,554) (37,548)

Total benefit obligations (48,615) (9,692) (58,307) (67,413) (125,720)

Fair value of plan assets 41,101 — 41,101 41,222 82,323
Net liability $ (7,514) $ (9,692) $ (17,206) $ (26,191) $ (43,397)

December 31, 2016

U.S. Plans
Non-U.S.

Plans 

2016 Total
Defined
Benefit 

Retiree
Healthcare 

Total U.S.
Plans

Defined
Benefit 

Benefit obligations
Funded plans $ (54,223) $ — $ (54,223) $ (39,904) $ (94,127)
Unfunded plans (3,456) (10,296) (13,752) (19,152) (32,904)

Total benefit obligations (57,679) (10,296) (67,975) (59,056) (127,031)

Fair value of plan assets 52,042 — 52,042 37,361 89,403
Net liability $ (5,637) $ (10,296) $ (15,933) $ (21,695) $ (37,628)

The following table outlines the funded status amounts recognized in the consolidated statements of financial position 
as of December 31, 2017 and 2016:

  December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016

  U.S. Plans
Non-U.S.

Plans U.S. Plans
Non-U.S.

Plans

 
Defined
Benefit

Retiree
Healthcare

Defined
Benefit

Defined
Benefit

Retiree
Healthcare

Defined
Benefit

Current liabilities (638) (1,210) (1,494) (651) (1,226) (873)
Noncurrent liabilities (6,876) (8,482) (24,697) (4,986) (9,070) (20,822)

$ (7,514) $ (9,692) $ (26,191) $ (5,637) $ (10,296) $ (21,695)
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Assumptions and Investment Policies

Weighted-average assumptions used to calculate the projected benefit obligations of our defined benefit and retiree 
healthcare benefit plans as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 are as follows:

  December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016

 
Defined
Benefit

Retiree
Healthcare

Defined
Benefit

Retiree
Healthcare

U.S. assumed discount rate 3.00% 3.10% 3.20% 3.30%
Non-U.S. assumed discount rate 2.07% NA 1.75% NA
Non-U.S. average long-term pay progression 2.66% NA 2.46% NA

Weighted-average assumptions used to calculate the net periodic benefit cost of our defined benefit pension and retiree 
healthcare plans for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 are as follows:

  For the year ended December 31,
  2017 2016

 
Defined
Benefit

Retiree
Healthcare

Defined
Benefit

Retiree
Healthcare

U.S. assumed discount rate 3.20% 3.30% 3.10% 3.50%
Non-U.S. assumed discount rate 3.90% NA 3.83% NA
Non-U.S. average long-term pay progression 3.75% NA 3.78% NA

Assumed healthcare cost trend rates for the U.S. retiree healthcare benefit plan as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 are 
as follows:

  Retiree Healthcare

 
December 31,

2017
December 31,

2016

Assumed healthcare trend rate for next year:
Attributed to less than age 65 6.90% 7.10%
Attributed to age 65 or greater 7.50% 7.80%

Ultimate trend rate 4.50% 4.50%
Year in which ultimate trend rate is reached:

Attributed to less than age 65 2038 2038
Attributed to age 65 or greater 2038 2038

Sensitivity Analysis

The discount rate used to calculate the defined benefit obligation has a significant effect on the amounts reported for 
our defined benefit and retiree healthcare benefit plans. A one percentage point change in the discount rate for the year ended 
December 31, 2017 would have the following effect on the defined benefit and retiree healthcare obligations:

1 percentage
point

increase

1 percentage
point

decrease

U.S. defined benefit plans $ (2,315) $ 1,660
U.S. retiree healthcare plan (163) 165
Non-U.S. defined benefit plans (10,879) 8,618
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Assumed healthcare trend rates could have a significant effect on the amounts reported for healthcare plans. A one 
percentage point change in the assumed healthcare trend rates for the year ended December 31, 2017 would have the 
following effect on the retiree healthcare benefit obligation:

1 percentage
point

increase

1 percentage
point

decrease

U.S. retiree healthcare plan $ 260 $ (228)

The sensitivity analysis takes into consideration the movement in our defined benefit pension plans and retiree 
healthcare obligations of adjusting the actuarial assumptions by one percentage point as of December 31, 2017. In this 
process, only one of the assumptions is adjusted at a time and the remaining parameters remain unchanged. 

The weighted average duration of our defined benefit and retiree healthcare obligations as of December 31, 2017 is as 
follows:

Amounts below are expressed in years

U.S. Plans
Non-U.S.

Plans
Defined
Benefit

Retiree
Healthcare

Defined
Benefit

As of December 31, 2017 4 6 14

The table below outlines the benefits expected to be paid to participants from the plans in each of the following years, 
which reflect expected future service, as appropriate. The majority of the payments will be paid from plan assets and not 
company assets.

Expected Benefit Payments

U.S.
Defined
Benefit

U.S.
Retiree

Healthcare

Non-U.S.
Defined
Benefit

For the year ending December 31,

2018 $ 6,211 $ 1,210 $ 2,848
2019 5,851 1,257 2,905
2020 5,341 1,219 3,178
2021 4,956 1,112 3,258
2022 4,001 1,022 3,937
2023 - 2027 12,185 3,273 20,474

Plan Assets

We hold assets for our defined benefit plans in the U.S., Japan, the Netherlands, and Belgium. Information about the 
assets for each of these plans is detailed below.

U.S. Plan Assets

Our target asset allocation for the U.S. defined benefit plan is 83% fixed income and 17% equity securities. To arrive at 
the targeted asset allocation, we and our investment adviser collaboratively reviewed market opportunities using historic and 
statistical data, as well as the actuarial valuation for the plan, to ensure that the levels of acceptable return and risk are well-
defined and monitored. Currently, we believe that there are no significant concentrations of risk associated with the plan 
assets. 
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The following table presents information about the plan’s target asset allocation, as well as the actual allocation, as of 
December 31, 2017:

Asset Class Target Allocation
Actual Allocation as of

December 31, 2017

U.S. large cap equity 8% 8%
U.S. small / mid cap equity 2% 2%
Globally managed volatility fund 3% 3%
International (non-U.S.) equity 4% 4%
Fixed income (U.S. investment and non-investment grade) 68% 67%
High-yield fixed income 2% 2%
International (non-U.S.) fixed income 1% 1%
Money market funds 12% 12%

The portfolio is monitored for automatic rebalancing on a monthly basis.

The following table presents information about the plan assets measured at fair value as of December 31, 2017 and 
2016, aggregated by the level in the fair value hierarchy within which those measurements fall:

  December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016

Asset Class

Quoted
Prices in
Active

Markets
for Identical

Assets
(Level 1)

Significant
Other

Observable
Inputs

(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3) Total

Quoted
Prices in
Active

Markets
for Identical

Assets
(Level 1)

Significant
Other

Observable
Inputs

(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3) Total

U.S. large cap equity $ 3,288 $ — $ — $ 3,288 $ 3,786 $ — $ — $ 3,786
U.S. small / mid cap equity 942 — — 942 2,109 — — 2,109
Global managed volatility
fund 1,288 — — 1,288 — — — —
International (non-U.S.)
equity 1,788 — — 1,788 2,867 — — 2,867
Total equity mutual funds 7,306 — — 7,306 8,762 — — 8,762
Fixed income (U.S.
investment grade) 27,507 — — 27,507 42,053 — — 42,053
High-yield fixed income 821 — — 821 788 — — 788
International (non-U.S.)
fixed income 398 — — 398 439 — — 439
Total fixed income mutual
funds 28,726 — — 28,726 43,280 — — 43,280
Money market funds 5,069 $ — 5,069 — — — —

Total $ 41,101 $ — $ — $ 41,101 $ 52,042 $ — $ — $ 52,042

Investments in mutual funds are based on the publicly-quoted final net asset values on the last business day of the year.

Permitted asset classes include U.S. and non-U.S. equity, U.S. and non-U.S. fixed income, and cash and cash 
equivalents. Fixed income includes both investment grade and non-investment grade. Permitted investment vehicles include 
mutual funds, individual securities, derivatives, and long-duration fixed income securities. While investment in individual 
securities, derivatives, long-duration fixed income, and cash and cash equivalents is permitted, the plan did not hold these 
types of investments as of December 31, 2017 or 2016.

Prohibited investments include direct investment in real estate, commodities, unregistered securities, uncovered 
options, currency exchange, and natural resources (such as timber, oil, and gas).
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Japan Plan Assets

The target asset allocation of the Japan defined benefit plan is 50% equity securities and 50% fixed income securities 
and cash and cash equivalents, with allowance for a 40% deviation in either direction. We, along with the trustee of the plan's 
assets, minimize investment risk by thoroughly assessing potential investments based on indicators of historical returns and 
current ratings. Additionally, investments are diversified by type and geography.

The following table presents information about the plan’s target asset allocation, as well as the actual allocation, as of 
December 31, 2017:

Asset Class Target Allocation
Actual Allocation as of

December 31, 2017

Equity securities 10 % - 90 % 29%
Fixed income securities and cash and cash equivalents 10 % - 90 % 71%

The following table presents information about the plan assets measured at fair value as of December 31, 2017 and 
2016, aggregated by the level in the fair value hierarchy within which those measurements fall:

  December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016

Asset Class

Quoted
Prices in
Active

Markets
for Identical

Assets
(Level 1)

Significant
Other

Observable
Inputs

(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3) Total

Quoted
Prices in
Active

Markets
for Identical

Assets
(Level 1)

Significant
Other

Observable
Inputs

(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3) Total

U.S. equity $ 2,461 $ — $ — $ 2,461 $ 2,791 $ — $ — $ 2,791
International (non-U.S.)
equity 6,567 — — 6,567 5,581 — — 5,581
Total equity securities 9,028 — — 9,028 8,372 — — 8,372
U.S. fixed income 2,968 268 — 3,236 2,894 249 — 3,143
International (non-U.S.)
fixed income 11,046 — — 11,046 11,288 — — 11,288
Total fixed income securities 14,014 268 — 14,282 14,182 249 — 14,431
Cash and cash equivalents 7,921 — — 7,921 5,927 — — 5,927

Total $ 30,963 $ 268 $ — $ 31,231 $ 28,481 $ 249 $ — $ 28,730

The fair value of equity and fixed income securities are based on publicly-quoted closing stock and bond values on the 
last business day of the year.

Permitted asset classes include equity securities that are traded on the official stock exchange(s) of the respective 
countries, fixed income securities with certain credit ratings, and cash and cash equivalents.

The Netherlands Plan Assets

The assets of the Netherlands defined benefit plans are composed of insurance policies with Nationale Nederlanden 
(“NN”). The contributions (or premiums) we pay are used to purchase insurance policies that provide for specific benefit 
payments to our plan participants. The benefit formula is determined independently by us. On retirement of an individual 
plan participant, the insurance contracts purchased are converted to provide specific benefits for the participant. The 
contributions paid by us are commingled with contributions paid to NN by other employers for investment purposes and to 
reduce plan administration costs. These defined benefit plans are not considered multi-employer plans.
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The following table presents information about the plans’ assets measured at fair value as of December 31, 2017 and 
2016, aggregated by the level in the fair value hierarchy within which those measurements fall:

  December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016

Asset Class

Quoted
Prices in
Active

Markets
for Identical

Assets
(Level 1)

Significant
Other

Observable
Inputs

(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3) Total

Quoted
Prices in
Active

Markets
for Identical

Assets
(Level 1)

Significant
Other

Observable
Inputs

(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3) Total

Insurance policies $ — $ — $ 9,059 $ 9,059 $ — $ — $ 8,014 $ 8,014
Total $ — $ — $ 9,059 $ 9,059 $ — $ — $ 8,014 $ 8,014

The following table presents a rollforward of the Level 3 assets in our Netherlands' pension plans for the years ended 
December 31, 2017 and 2016: 

 
Significant unobservable

inputs (Level 3)

Balance as of December 31, 2015 $ 5,757
Actual return on plan assets still held at reporting date 2,064
Purchases, sales, settlements, and exchange rate changes 193
Balance as of December 31, 2016 8,014
Actual return on plan assets still held at reporting date (597)
Purchases, sales, settlements, and exchange rate changes 1,642
Balance as of December 31, 2017 $ 9,059

The fair value of the insurance contracts are measured based on the future benefit payments that would be made by the 
insurance company to vested plan participants if we were to switch to another insurance company without actually 
surrendering our policy. In this case, the insurance company would guarantee to pay the vested benefits at retirement accrued 
under the plan based on current salaries and service to date (i.e., no allowance for future salary increases or pension 
increases). The cash flows of the future benefit payments are discounted using the same discount rate as is used to value the 
defined benefit plan liabilities. 

Belgium Plan Assets

The assets of the Belgium defined benefit plan are composed of insurance policies. As of December 31, 2017 and 2016 
the fair value of these plan assets was $0.9 million and $0.8 million, respectively, and are considered to be Level 3 financial 
instruments.

11. Share-Based Payment Plans

In connection with the completion of our initial public offering ("IPO"), we adopted the Sensata Technologies Holding 
N.V. 2010 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2010 Equity Incentive Plan”). The purpose of the 2010 Equity Incentive Plan is to 
promote long-term growth and profitability by providing our present and future eligible directors, officers, and employees 
with incentives to contribute to, and participate in, our success. There are 10.0 million ordinary shares authorized under the 
2010 Equity Incentive Plan, of which 3.8 million were available as of December 31, 2017.

Share-Based Compensation Awards

We grant share-based compensation awards under the 2010 Equity Incentive Plan for which vesting is subject only to 
continued employment and the passage of time (options and restricted stock units ("RSUs")), as well as those for which 
vesting also depends on the attainment of certain performance criteria (performance options and performance-based restricted 
stock units ("PRSUs")).
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Options

A summary of stock option activity for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 is presented in the table below 
(amounts have been calculated based on unrounded shares):

Stock Options

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price Per 

Option

Weighted-Average
Remaining

Contractual Term
(in years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value

Options
Balance at December 31, 2015 3,361 $ 32.89 6.2 $ 47,967
Granted (1) 654 $ 37.89
Forfeited and expired (111) $ 43.95
Exercised (358) $ 11.05 $ 9,501
Balance at December 31, 2016 3,546 $ 35.67 6.3 $ 19,844
Granted 387 $ 43.67
Forfeited and expired (1) $ 32.03
Exercised (326) $ 22.86 $ 7,175
Balance at December 31, 2017 3,606 $ 37.69 6.0 $ 50,130
Options vested and exercisable as of
December 31, 2017 2,422 $ 35.47 4.8 $ 38,872
Vested and expected to vest as of 
December 31, 2017(2) 3,426 $ 37.43 5.8 $ 48,476
 __________________
(1)  Includes 257 performance-based options.
(2)  Consists of vested options and unvested options that are expected to vest. The expected to vest options are determined 

by applying the forfeiture rate assumption, adjusted for cumulative actual forfeitures, to total unvested options.

During 2017, a total of 326 options were exercised at an average selling price of $44.88. During 2016, a total of 358 
options were exercised at an average selling price of $37.57. The range of exercise prices of our outstanding options at 
December 31, 2017 was $14.80 to $56.94.

A summary of the status of our unvested options as of December 31, 2017 and of the changes during the year then 
ended is presented in the table below (amounts have been calculated based on unrounded shares): 

  Stock Options

Weighted-
Average Grant-
Date Fair Value

Unvested as of December 31, 2016 1,223 $ 13.28
Granted during the year 387 14.50
Vested during the year (425) $ 13.16
Forfeited during the year (1) $ 10.09
Unvested as of December 31, 2017 1,184 $ 13.72

The fair value of stock options that vested during the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 was $5.6 million and 
$7.1 million, respectively. 

Non-performance-based options granted to employees under the 2010 Equity Incentive Plan generally vest 25% per 
year over four years from the date of grant. Performance-based options granted to employees under the 2010 Equity Incentive 
Plan vest after three years, depending on the extent to which certain performance criteria are met. 
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We recognize compensation expense for non-performance-based options on an accelerated basis over the requisite 
service period, which is generally the same as the vesting period. All options expire ten years from the date of grant. Except 
as otherwise provided in specific option award agreements, if a participant ceases to be employed by us for any reason, 
options not yet vested expire at the termination date, and options that are fully vested expire 60 days after termination of the 
participant’s employment for any reason other than termination for cause (in which case the options expire on the 
participant’s termination date) or due to death or disability (in which case the options expire 6 months after the participant’s 
termination date). 

The weighted-average grant-date fair value per option granted during the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 
was $14.50 and $12.08, respectively. The fair value of options was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes-
Merton option-pricing model. See Note 2, "Significant Accounting Policies," for further discussion of how we estimate the 
fair value of options. The weighted-average key assumptions used in estimating the grant-date fair value of options are as 
follows:

  For the year ended December 31,
  2017 2016

Expected dividend yield 0% 0%
Expected volatility 30.00% 30.00%
Risk-free interest rate 2.08% 1.48%
Expected term (years) 6.0 6.0
Fair value per share of underlying ordinary shares $ 43.67 $ 37.89

We did not grant options to our directors in 2017 or 2016. 

Restricted Securities

We grant RSUs that cliff vest over various lengths of time ranging from one to four years, as well as those that vest 
25% per year over four years. We grant PRSUs that generally cliff vest three years after the grant date. The number of PRSUs 
that ultimately vest will depend on the extent to which certain performance criteria are met, as defined in the table below. See 
Note 2, "Significant Accounting Policies," for discussion of how we estimate the fair value of restricted securities.

A summary of restricted securities granted in the past two years is presented below:

Percentage Range of PRSUs Awarded That May Vest (1)

0.0% to 172.5% 0.0% to 200.0%

Year ended December 31,
RSUs

Granted

Weighted-
Average

Grant-Date
Fair Value

PRSUs
Granted

Weighted-
Average

Grant-Date
Fair Value

PRSUs
Granted

Weighted-
Average

Grant-Date
Fair Value

2017 182 $ 43.24 183 $ 43.67 53 $ 43.33
2016 319 $ 38.33 180 $ 38.96 — $ —

(1)  Represents the percentage range of PRSUs that may vest according to the terms of the awards, and does not reflect 
our current assessment of the probable outcome of vesting based on the achievement or expected achievement of 
performance conditions.

Compensation cost for the year ended December 31, 2017 reflects our estimate of the probable outcome of the 
performance conditions associated with the PRSUs granted in 2017 and 2016.
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A summary of activity related to outstanding restricted securities for 2017 and 2016 is presented in the table below 
(amounts have been calculated based on unrounded shares):

Restricted
Securities Granted

Weighted-Average
Grant-Date
Fair Value

Balance at December 31, 2015 654 $ 45.87
Granted 499 38.56
Forfeited (48) 47.01
Vested (185) 33.41
Balance at December 31, 2016 920 44.35
Granted 418 43.44
Forfeited (35) 43.94
Vested (222) 42.24
Balance at December 31, 2017 1,081 $ 44.43

Aggregate intrinsic value information for restricted securities as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 is presented below:

December 31,
2017

December 31,
2016

Outstanding $ 55,271 $ 35,845
Expected to vest $ 42,106 $ 26,937

The weighted-average remaining periods over which the restrictions will lapse, expressed in years, as of December 31, 
2017 and 2016 are as follows:

December 31,
2017

December 31,
2016

Outstanding 1.3 1.5
Expected to vest 1.4 1.5

The expected to vest restricted securities are calculated by considering our assessment of the probability of meeting the 
required performance conditions (for PRSUs) and/or by applying a forfeiture rate assumption for all restricted securities.

On April 25, 2016, our Board of Directors approved retroactive amendments to our RSUs and PRSUs to allow for 
accelerated vesting upon termination without cause within 24 months after a change in control, as defined in the 2010 Equity 
Incentive Plan. These changes were made in order to provide consistency across our equity awards, to better align 
management and shareholder interests, and to incorporate equity compensation best practices. There was no change to the 
terms of our option awards, as Section 4.3(b) of the 2010 Equity Incentive Plan specifically provides for accelerated vesting 
of options upon termination without cause within 24 months after a change in control.

Share-Based Compensation Expense

The table below presents non-cash compensation expense related to our equity awards:

  For the year ended

 
December 31,

2017
December 31,

2016

Options $ 6,071 $ 6,237
Restricted securities 13,772 11,199
Total share-based compensation expense $ 19,843 $ 17,436

This compensation expense is recorded within SG&A expense in the consolidated statements of income during the 
identified periods. We did not recognize a tax benefit associated with these expenses. 
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The table below presents unrecognized compensation expense at December 31, 2017 for each class of award and the 
remaining expected term for this expense to be recognized:

Unrecognized compensation
expense

Expected
recognition (years)

Options $ 5,293 1.8
Restricted securities 19,755 1.6
Total unrecognized compensation expense $ 25,048

12. Shareholders’ Equity

Our authorized share capital consists of 400.0 million ordinary shares with a nominal value of €0.01 per share, of which 
178.4 million ordinary shares were issued as of December 31, 2017 and 2016. Of these ordinary shares, 171.4 million and 
170.9 million were outstanding as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, which excludes outstanding restricted 
securities of 1.1 million and 0.9 million, respectively, and outstanding stock options of 3.6 million and 3.5 million, 
respectively. See Note 11, "Share-Based Payment Plans," for awards available for grant under our outstanding equity plan.

Treasury Shares

We have a $250.0 million share repurchase program in place. Under this program, we may repurchase ordinary shares 
from time to time, at such times and in amounts to be determined by our management, based on market conditions, legal 
requirements, and other corporate considerations, on the open market or in privately negotiated transactions. The share 
repurchase program may be modified or terminated by our Board of Directors at any time. We did not repurchase any 
ordinary shares under this program during the years ended December 31, 2017,or 2016. At December 31, 2017, $250.0 
million remained available for share repurchase under this program.

Ordinary shares repurchased by us are recorded at cost as treasury shares and result in a reduction of shareholders' 
equity. We reissue treasury shares as part of our share-based compensation programs. When shares are reissued, we determine 
the cost using the first-in, first-out method. During the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, we reissued 0.5 million and 
0.5 million, respectively. During the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, in connection with our treasury share 
reissuances, we recognized reductions in Retained earnings of $13.6 million, and $16.8 million, respectively.

Other Components of Equity

Other components of equity were as follows:

Net Unrealized (Loss)/Gain
on Derivative Instruments
Designated and Qualifying

as Cash Flow Hedges
Other Components of

Equity

Balance as of December 31, 2015 $ 4,145 $ 4,145
Pre-tax current period change (5,106) (5,106)
Income tax benefit 1,629 1,629

Balance as of December 31, 2016 668 668
Pre-tax current period change (37,603) (37,603)
Income tax benefit 9,401 9,401

Balance as of December 31, 2017 $ (27,534) $ (27,534)

13. Related Party Transactions

Texas Instruments

Cross License Agreement

We have entered into a perpetual, royalty-free cross license agreement with TI (the “Cross License Agreement”). Under 
the Cross License Agreement, the parties granted each other a license to use certain technology used in connection with the 
other party’s business.
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Named Executive Officer and Director Remuneration

We establish compensation policies for our executive officers to align compensation with our strategic goals and our 
growth objectives while concurrently providing competitive compensation that enables us to attract and retain highly 
qualified executives. Components of compensation consist of varying items including: (i) cash compensation in the form of 
base salary and annual incentive bonuses which collectively constitute the executive's total annual cash compensation; (ii) 
equity compensation in the form of options and restricted securities pursuant to the 2010 Equity Incentive Plan; and (iii) 
retirement and other benefits through participation in our pension plans, 401(k) plan, and other health and welfare programs.

We have adopted a compensation policy with respect to our directors. Pursuant to that policy, the Chairman of the 
Board receives an annual fee in the amount of $120 thousand, and other Board members receive an annual fee in the amount 
of $60 thousand. Audit Committee members receive an additional annual fee of $10 thousand, Compensation Committee 
members receive an additional annual fee of $5 thousand, Finance Committee members receive an additional annual fee of $5 
thousand, and Nominating and Governance Committee members receive an additional annual fee of $5 thousand. Chairs of 
committees receive the following annual fees (in addition to the committee membership fees noted in the previous sentence): 
$10 thousand for the chair of the Audit Committee, $5 thousand for the chair of the Compensation Committee, $5 thousand 
for the chair of the Finance Committee, and $5 thousand for the chair of the Nominating and Governance Committee. We 
also reimburse our directors for reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with their service on our Board of 
Directors and committees thereof. 

In addition, prior to 2016, our director compensation policy provided that each director elected, re-elected, or appointed 
to our Board of Directors was granted an initial stock option award equal to a grant-date fair value of $120 thousand. In 2013, 
the award given to the Chairman of the Board was increased to a grant-date fair value of $150 thousand. In 2016, our 
shareholders approved a change to our equity award policy for directors, whereby directors are now granted restricted stock 
units ("RSUs"). The value granted is the same as under the previous policy. Our directors are eligible to receive other equity-
based awards when and as determined by our Compensation Committee.

By recommendation of the Compensation Committee on June 3, 2016, the Board of Directors granted approximately 4 
thousand RSUs to each of our directors, and approximately 5 thousand RSUs to the Chairman of the Board. 

By recommendation of the Compensation Committee on June 1, 2017, the Board of Directors granted approximately 4 
thousand RSUs to each of our directors, including the Chairman of the Board. 

All of the options and RSUs granted to directors vest after one year. We grant equity awards to our directors in order to 
align directors' incentives with the goal of increasing value for our shareholders. 

The table below sets forth the total compensation paid (in thousands) to our non-employee directors in fiscal year 2017.

Name
Fees Earned or 
Paid in Cash (1) RSU Awards (2)

All Other 
Compensation(3) Total ($)

Paul Edgerley $ 135.0 $ 181.0 $ 19.2 $ 335.2
Beda Bolzenius 70.0 150.8 18.4 239.2
James Heppelmann 72.5 150.8 4.4 227.7
Michael Jacobson (5) 29.2 63.3 5.4 97.9
Charles Peffer 85.0 150.8 65.3 301.1
Kirk Pond 80.0 150.8 5.9 236.7
Constance Skidmore (4) 40.8 87.5 — 128.3
Andrew Teich 72.5 150.8 4.4 227.7
Thomas Wroe 60.0 150.8 4.9 215.7
Stephen Zide 70.0 150.8 4.5 225.3

(1) Represents amounts earned for services provided in fiscal year 2017.
(2) Represents the grant-date fair value calculated in accordance with IFRS 2, using the assumptions detailed in Note 11, 

"Share-Based Payment Plans." 
(3) During 2017, a wage tax audit was completed in the Netherlands, whereby it was determined that certain wage taxes in 

years prior to 2017 had been miscalculated, or in certain instances, under-withheld from the Director's wages. As a result, 
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in 2017, the Company paid any prior period wage taxes due and relieved its Directors of any tax obligations which had not 
been   withheld from prior period compensation. All Other Compensation represents the impact of the prior periods' wage 
taxes due in the Netherlands, including the related tax gross up.

(4) Constance E. Skidmore was nominated to the Board of Directors; her service has started May 18, 2017.
(5) Mr. Jacobson was no longer a director as of the 2017 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders held in May 2017.

The table below sets forth the total compensation paid to our non-employee directors in fiscal year 2016. 

Name

Fees Earned or Paid in 
Cash
($) (1)

Option
Awards

($) (2)

RSU
Awards

($) (2)
Total

($)

Paul Edgerley $ 132.1 $ 62.7 $ 104.1 $ 298.9
Lewis B. Campbell (3) 30.4 50.2 — 80.6
Beda Bolzenius (4) 40.8 — 86.7 127.5
James Heppelmann 71.0 50.2 86.7 207.9
Michael Jacobson 70.0 50.2 86.7 206.9
Charles Peffer 84.6 50.2 86.7 221.5
Kirk Pond 82.5 50.2 86.7 219.4
Andrew Teich 69.0 50.2 86.7 205.9
Thomas Wroe 60.0 50.2 86.7 196.9
Stephen Zide 69.2 50.2 86.7 206.1

(1) Represents amounts earned for services provided in fiscal year 2016.
(2) Represents the expense recorded in the year ended December 31, 2016 for equity awards, computed in accordance with 

the requirements of IFRS 2, using the assumptions detailed in Note 11, "Share-Based Payment Plans."
(3) Lewis B. Campbell was not re-nominated to the Board of Directors; his service ended May 19, 2016.
(4) Beda Bolzenius was nominated to the Board of Directors; his service has started May 19, 2016.

We have presented compensation information below for fiscal years 2017 and 2016 of our Named Executive Officers 
who were serving as officers during fiscal year 2017.

Fiscal
Year

Salary
($)

Bonus 
($) (1)

Stock 
Awards 

($) (2)

Option
Awards

($)(3)

Change in
Pension Value

and
Nonqualified

Deferred
Compensation

Earnings
($)(4)

All Other
Compensation

($)(5)
Total

($)
Martha Sullivan, President and Chief
Executive Officer

2017 903 1,277 2,957 1,467 234 41 6,879

2016 841 935 1,440 1,585 102 55 4,958

Jeffrey Cote, Executive Vice President,
Sensing Solutions, and Chief Operating
Officer

2017 568 635 836 1,103 — 24 3,166

2016 557 498 586 1,144 — 29 2,814

Paul Vasington, Executive Vice President,
Chief Financial Officer

2017 477 534 682 421 — 31 2,145

2016 463 415 774 381 — 30 2,063

Steven Beringhause, Executive Vice
President, Performance Sensing and Chief
Technology Officer

2017 476 534 617 942 87 608 3,264

2016 457 411 378 910 23 543 2,722

Allisha Elliott, Senior Vice President, Chief
Human Resources Officer and
Communications

2017 342 249 483 247 — 31 1,352

2016 329 193 230 243 — 29 1,024
________________________________

(1) Represents the annual incentive bonus and discretionary bonus awarded to each Named Executive Officer in the fiscal 
years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016. Martha Sullivan, our executive director, received a bonus at 103% and 88% 
of her target in 2017 and 2016, respectively. 
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(2) Represents the expense recorded for restricted securities in the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016. See Note 11, 
"Share-Based Payment Plans," for further discussion of the relevant assumptions used in calculating the grant date fair 
value.

(3) Represents the expense recorded for option awards in the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, computed in 
accordance with IFRS 2, using the assumptions detailed in Note 11, "Share-Based Payment Plans." For Martha Sullivan, 
in 2016, this includes $50 thousand related to her service as an executive director.

(4) Reflects the actuarial increase or decrease in the pension value provided under the Sensata Technologies Employees 
Pension Plan and the Supplemental Pension Plan.

(5) Includes amounts for financial counseling, insurance premium contributions, contributions to 401(k) plans, housing 
allowance, and director payments. 

14. Commitments and Contingencies

Future minimum payments for finance leases, other financing obligations, and non-cancelable operating leases in effect 
as of December 31, 2017 are as follows:

  Future Minimum Payments

Total Present Value of
Minimum Rental

Payments

 
Finance
Leases

Other Financing
Obligations

Operating
Leases Total

Finance Leases and
Other Financing
Arrangements

For the year ending December 31,
2018 5,472 3,125 12,871 21,468 5,918
2019 5,393 2,498 9,255 17,146 5,362
2020 5,429 459 6,534 12,422 3,882
2021 4,931 178 5,165 10,274 3,435
2022 4,561 — 4,189 8,750 3,200
2023 and thereafter 15,267 — 30,595 45,862 12,860
Net minimum rentals 41,053 6,260 68,609 115,922 $ 34,657
Less: interest portion (11,798) (858) — (12,656)
Present value of future minimum rentals $ 29,255 $ 5,402 $ 68,609 $ 103,266
Current portion of rental payments 3,140 2,778
Long-term finance lease obligation $ 26,115 $ 2,624

Non-cancelable purchase agreements exist with various suppliers, primarily for services, such as information 
technology support. The terms of these agreements are fixed and determinable. As of December 31, 2017, we had the 
following purchase commitments:

 
Purchase

Commitments

For the year ending December 31,
2018 $ 17,310
2019 11,200
2020 8,153
2021 6,467
2022 1,682
2023 and thereafter 70

Total $ 44,882

Lease Obligations

We operate in leased facilities with initial terms ranging up to 20 years. The lease agreements frequently include 
options to renew for additional periods or to purchase the leased asset and generally require that we pay taxes, insurance, and 
maintenance costs. Depending on the specific terms of the leases, our obligations are in two forms: finance leases and 
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operating leases. Rent and operating lease expense was $19.7 million and $18.1 million for the years ended December 31, 
2017 and 2016, respectively.

We have finance leases for facilities in Baoying, China and Attleboro, Massachusetts. As of December 31, 2017 and 
2016, the combined finance lease obligations outstanding for these facilities were $26.2 million and $27.8 million, 
respectively.

Other Financing Obligations

In 2013, we entered into an agreement with one of our suppliers, Measurement Specialties, Inc., under which we 
acquired the rights to certain intellectual property in exchange for quarterly royalty payments through the fourth quarter of 
2019. As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, we had recognized a liability of $3.5 million and $5.2 million, respectively, within 
Finance lease and other financing obligations. 

Off-Balance Sheet Commitments

From time to time, we execute contracts that require us to indemnify the other parties to the contracts. These 
indemnification obligations generally arise in two contexts. First, in connection with certain transactions, such as the sale of a 
business or the issuance of debt or equity securities, the agreement typically contains standard provisions requiring us to 
indemnify the purchaser against breaches by us of representations and warranties contained in the agreement. These 
indemnities are generally subject to time and liability limitations. Second, we enter into agreements in the ordinary course of 
business, such as customer contracts, which might contain indemnification provisions relating to product quality, intellectual 
property infringement, governmental regulations and employment related matters, and other typical indemnities. In certain 
cases, indemnification obligations arise by law. Performance under any of these indemnification obligations would generally 
be triggered by a breach of the terms of the contract or by a third-party claim. Historically, we have experienced only 
immaterial and irregular losses associated with these indemnifications. Consequently, any future liabilities brought about by 
these indemnifications cannot reasonably be estimated or accrued.

Indemnifications Provided As Part of Contracts and Agreements

We are party to the following types of agreements pursuant to which we may be obligated to indemnify a third party 
with respect to certain matters.

Officers and Directors: Our articles of association provide for indemnification of directors and officers by us to the 
fullest extent permitted by applicable law, as it now exists or may hereinafter be amended (but, in the case of an amendment, 
only to the extent such amendment permits broader indemnification rights than permitted prior thereto), against any and all 
liabilities including all expenses (including attorneys’ fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and 
reasonably incurred by him or her in connection with such action, suit or proceeding provided he or she acted in good faith 
and in a manner he or she reasonably believed to be in, or not opposed to, our best interests, and, with respect to any criminal 
action or proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe his or her conduct was unlawful or outside of his or her mandate. 
The articles do not provide a limit to the maximum future payments, if any, under the indemnification. No indemnification is 
provided for in respect of any claim, issue or matter as to which such person has been adjudged to be liable for gross 
negligence or willful misconduct in the performance of his or her duty on our behalf. 

In addition, we have a liability insurance policy that insures directors and officers against the cost of defense, 
settlement or payment of claims and judgments under some circumstances. Certain indemnification payments may not be 
covered under our directors’ and officers’ insurance coverage.

Initial Purchasers of Senior Notes: Pursuant to the terms of the purchase agreements entered into in connection with 
our private placement senior note offerings, we are obligated to indemnify the initial purchasers of the Senior Notes against 
certain liabilities caused by any untrue statement or alleged untrue statement of a material fact in various documents relied 
upon by such initial purchasers, or to contribute to payments the initial purchasers may be required to make in respect 
thereof. The purchase agreements do not provide a limit to the maximum future payments, if any, under these 
indemnifications.

Intellectual Property and Product Liability Indemnification: We routinely sell products with a limited intellectual 
property and product liability indemnification included in the terms of sale. Historically, we have had only immaterial and 
irregular losses associated with these indemnifications. Consequently, any future liabilities resulting from these 
indemnifications cannot reasonably be estimated or accrued.
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Guarantee of liabilities of subsidiaries: Sensata Technologies Holding N.V. has guaranteed the liabilities of the 
following subsidiaries in order that they may qualify for the exemption from audit under section 479A of the United 
Kingdom Companies Act of 2006 for the year ended December 31, 2017:

• Wabash Technologies Limited
• Sensata Technologies Holding Company UK
• Sensata Technologies Limited
• Sensata Technologies (Europe) Limited
• Crydom SSR Limited
• Newall Measurement Systems LTD

Refer to Note 2, "Significant Accounting Policies," for a detailed listing of all of the subsidiaries of Sensata N.V.

Product Warranty Liabilities

Our standard terms of sale provide our customers with a warranty against faulty workmanship and the use of defective 
materials, which, depending on the product, generally exists for a period of twelve to eighteen months after the date we ship 
the product to our customer or for a period of twelve months after the date the customer resells our product, whichever comes 
first. We do not offer separately priced extended warranty or product maintenance contracts. Our liability associated with this 
warranty is, at our option, to repair the product, replace the product, or provide the customer with a credit. 

We also sell products to customers under negotiated agreements or where we have accepted the customer’s terms of 
purchase. In these instances, we may provide additional warranties for longer durations, consistent with differing end-market 
practices, and where our liability is not limited. In addition, many sales take place in situations where commercial or civil 
codes, or other laws, would imply various warranties and restrict limitations on liability.

In the event a warranty claim based on defective materials exists, we may be able to recover some of the cost of the 
claim from the vendor from whom the materials were purchased. Our ability to recover some of the costs will depend on the 
terms and conditions to which we agreed when the materials were purchased. When a warranty claim is made, the only 
collateral available to us is the return of the inventory from the customer making the warranty claim. Historically, when 
customers make a warranty claim, we either replace the product or provide the customer with a credit. We generally do not 
rework the returned product. 

Our policy is to accrue for warranty claims when a loss is both probable and estimable. This is accomplished by 
accruing for estimated returns and estimated costs to replace the product at the time the related revenue is recognized. 
Liabilities for warranty claims have historically not been material. In some instances, customers may make claims for costs 
they incurred or other damages related to a claim. Any potentially material liabilities associated with these claims are 
discussed in this Note under the heading Legal Proceedings and Claims.

Environmental Remediation Liabilities

Our operations and facilities are subject to U.S. and non-U.S. laws and regulations governing the protection of the 
environment and our employees, including those governing air emissions, water discharges, the management and disposal of 
hazardous substances and wastes, and the cleanup of contaminated sites. We could incur substantial costs, including cleanup 
costs, fines, civil or criminal sanctions, or third-party property damage or personal injury claims, in the event of violations or 
liabilities under these laws and regulations, or non-compliance with the environmental permits required at our facilities. 
Potentially significant expenditures could be required in order to comply with environmental laws that may be adopted or 
imposed in the future. We are, however, not aware of any threatened or pending material environmental investigations, 
lawsuits, or claims involving us or our operations.

Legal Proceedings and Claims

Provisions are generally recorded for probable and estimable losses at our best estimate of a loss. These estimates are 
often developed prior to knowing the amount of the ultimate loss, require the application of considerable judgment, and are 
refined each accounting period as additional information becomes known. Accordingly, we are often initially unable to 
develop a best estimate of loss and therefore the midpoint of our estimate of a range of loss is recorded. As additional 
information becomes known, either the range is revised, resulting in a change to the midpoint at which the accrual is 
recorded, or a best estimate can be made. A best estimate amount may be changed to a lower amount when events result in an 
expectation of a more favorable outcome than previously expected.
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We are regularly involved in a number of claims and litigation matters in the ordinary course of business. Most of our 
litigation matters are third-party claims related to patent infringement allegations or for property damage allegedly caused by 
our products, but some involve allegations of personal injury or wrongful death. We believe that the ultimate resolution of the 
current litigation matters pending against us will not be material to our financial statements.

15. Fair Value Measures

A reporting entity's credit risk is a component of the non-performance risk associated with its obligation and, therefore, 
should be considered in measuring the fair value of its liabilities. Our assets and liabilities recorded at fair value have been 
categorized based upon a fair value hierarchy. The levels of the fair value hierarchy are described below:

• Level 1 inputs utilize quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets and liabilities that we have 
the ability to access at the measurement date.

• Level 2 inputs utilize inputs, other than quoted prices included in Level 1, that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly or indirectly. Level 2 inputs include quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active 
markets, quoted prices in markets that are not active, and inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for 
the asset or liability, such as interest rates and yield curves that are observable at commonly quoted intervals.

• Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability, allowing for situations where there is little, if any, 
market activity for the asset or liability.

Measured on a Recurring Basis

The following table presents information about our assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as 
of December 31, 2017 and 2016, aggregated by the level in the fair value hierarchy within which those measurements fell:

  December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016

 

Quoted Prices 
in Active 

Markets for
Identical 

Assets
(Level 1)

Significant
Other

Observable
Inputs

(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3) Total

Quoted Prices 
in Active 

Markets for
Identical 

Assets
(Level 1)

Significant
Other

Observable
Inputs

(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3) Total

Assets
Foreign currency
forward contracts $ — $ 3,955 $ — $ 3,955 $ — $ 32,757 $ — $32,757
Commodity
forward contracts — 6,458 — 6,458 — 2,639 — 2,639

Total $ — $ 10,413 $ — $10,413 $ — $ 35,396 $ — $35,396
Liabilities
Foreign currency
forward contracts $ — $ 40,969 $ — $40,969 $ — $ 27,201 $ — $27,201
Commodity
forward contracts — 1,104 — 1,104 — 3,790 — 3,790

Total $ — $ 42,073 $ — $42,073 $ — $ 30,991 $ — $30,991

See Note 2, "Significant Accounting Policies," under the caption Financial Instruments - Derivatives and Hedging 
Activities, for discussion of how we estimate the fair value of our financial instruments. See Note 16, "Derivative Instruments 
and Hedging Activities," for specific contractual terms utilized as inputs in determining fair value and a discussion of the 
nature of the risks being mitigated by these instruments.

Although we have determined that the majority of the inputs used to value our derivatives fall within Level 2 of the fair 
value hierarchy, the credit valuation adjustments associated with our derivatives utilize Level 3 inputs, such as estimates of 
current credit spreads, to appropriately reflect both our own non-performance risk and the respective counterparties' non-
performance risk in the fair value measurement. However, as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, we have assessed the 
significance of the impact of the credit valuation adjustments on the overall valuation of our derivative positions and have 
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determined that the credit valuation adjustments are not significant to the overall valuation of our derivatives. As a result, we 
have determined that our derivatives in their entirety are classified in Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy.

Measured on a Non-Recurring Basis

We evaluate the recoverability of goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets in the fourth quarter of each 
fiscal year, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that goodwill or other intangible assets may be 
impaired. As of October 1, 2017, we evaluated our goodwill for impairment using a combination of the carry-forward 
approach and one-step approach. Refer to Note 2, "Significant Accounting Policies," for further discussion of this process. 
Based on these analyses, we determined that there were no circumstances that indicated that goodwill was impaired at that 
date. Refer also to Note 5, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets," for further quantitative information."

As of October 1, 2017, we evaluated our other indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment and determined that the 
fair values of those assets exceeded their carrying values on that date. The fair values of our other indefinite-lived intangible 
assets are considered Level 3 fair value measurements.

As of December 31, 2017, no events or changes in circumstances occurred that would have triggered the need for an 
additional impairment review of goodwill or indefinite-lived intangible assets. 

When determining fair value using the one-step approach, the recoverable amount of our cash-generating units is 
determined primarily using discounted cash flow models that incorporate assumptions for a cash-generating unit’s short- and 
long-term revenue growth rates, operating margins and discount rates, which represent our best estimates of current and 
forecasted market conditions, current cost structure, and the implied rate of return that management believes a market 
participant would require for an investment in a company having similar risks and business characteristics to the reporting 
unit being assessed. We perform a similar analysis to determine whether our indefinite-lived intangible assets are recoverable.

Financial Instruments Not Recorded at Fair Value

The following table presents the carrying values and fair values of financial instruments not recorded at fair value in the 
consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2017 and 2016:

  December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016

Carrying
Value (1)

Fair Value Carrying
Value (1)

Fair Value
  Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Liabilities
Term loans $ 927,794 $ — $ 930,114 $ — $ 937,794 $ — $ 942,483 $ —
4.875% Senior Notes $ 500,000 $ — $ 521,875 $ — $ 500,000 $ — $ 514,375 $ —
5.625% Senior Notes $ 400,000 $ — $ 439,000 $ — $ 400,000 $ — $ 417,752 $ —
5.0% Senior Notes $ 700,000 $ — $ 741,125 $ — $ 700,000 $ — $ 686,000 $ —
6.25% Senior Notes $ 750,000 $ — $ 813,750 $ — $ 750,000 $ — $ 786,098 $ —

(1) The carrying value is presented excluding discount and transaction costs.

The fair values of the term loans and the Senior Notes are determined using observable prices in markets where these 
instruments are generally not traded on a daily basis. 

Cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, and trade payables are carried at their cost, which approximates fair 
value, because of their short-term nature.

In March 2016, we acquired Series B Preferred Stock of Quanergy for $50.0 million. In accordance with the guidance 
in International Accounting Standard ("IAS") 39 - Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, we have accounted 
for this investment at cost because the fair value cannot be measured reliably. 
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16. Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

We record all derivatives on the balance sheet at fair value. The accounting for changes in the fair value of derivatives 
depends on the intended use of the derivative, whether we have elected to designate the derivative as being in a hedging 
relationship, and whether the hedging relationship has satisfied the criteria necessary to apply hedge accounting. Derivatives 
designated and qualifying as a hedge of the exposure to changes in the fair value of an asset, liability, or firm commitment 
attributable to a particular risk, such as interest rate risk, are considered fair value hedges. Derivatives designated and 
qualifying as hedges of the exposure to variability in expected future cash flows, or other types of forecasted transactions, are 
considered cash flow hedges. Derivatives may also be designated as hedges of the foreign currency exposure of a net 
investment in a foreign operation. We currently only utilize cash flow hedges. 

Hedge accounting generally provides for the matching of the timing of gain or loss recognition on the hedging 
instrument with the recognition of the changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the 
hedged risk in a fair value hedge, or the earnings effect of the hedged forecasted transactions in a cash flow hedge. We may 
enter into derivative contracts that are intended to economically hedge certain risks, even though we elect not to apply hedge 
accounting. Changes in the fair value of derivatives not designated in hedging relationships are recorded directly in the 
consolidated statements of income. Specific information about the valuations of derivatives is described in Note 2, 
"Significant Accounting Policies," and classification of derivatives in the fair value hierarchy is described in Note 15, “Fair 
Value Measures.”

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives designated and qualifying as cash flow hedges is 
recorded in Other components of equity and is subsequently reclassified into earnings in the period in which the hedged 
forecasted transaction affects earnings. The ineffective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives designated and 
qualifying as cash flow hedges is recognized directly in earnings.

We do not offset the fair value amounts recognized for derivative instruments against fair value amounts recognized for 
the right to reclaim cash collateral or the obligation to return cash collateral. As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, we had 
posted no cash collateral.

Hedges of Foreign Currency Risk

We are exposed to fluctuations in various foreign currencies against our functional currency, the U.S. dollar. We use 
foreign currency forward agreements to manage this exposure. We currently have outstanding foreign currency forward 
contracts that qualify as cash flow hedges intended to offset the effect of exchange rate fluctuations on forecasted sales and 
certain manufacturing costs. We also have outstanding foreign currency forward contracts that are intended to preserve the 
economic value of foreign currency denominated monetary assets and liabilities; these instruments are not designated for 
hedge accounting treatment. Foreign currency forward contracts not designated as hedges are not speculative and are used to 
manage our exposure to foreign exchange movements

For each of the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, the ineffective portion of the changes in the fair value of our 
foreign currency forward agreements that are designated as cash flow hedges was not material and no amounts were excluded 
from the assessment of effectiveness. As of December 31, 2017, we estimate that $29.9 million in net losses will be 
reclassified from Other components of equity to earnings during the twelve months ending December 31, 2018.
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As of December 31, 2017, we had the following outstanding foreign currency forward contracts:

Notional
(in millions) Effective Date Maturity Date Index

Weighted
Average Strike

Rate Hedge Designation

61.0 EUR December 27, 2017 January 31, 2018 Euro to U.S. Dollar
Exchange Rate 1.19 USD Non-designated

443.0 EUR Various from March
2016 to December 2017

Various from January 2018
to December 2019

Euro to U.S. Dollar
Exchange Rate 1.15 USD Designated

640.0 CNY December 26, 2017 January 31, 2018 U.S. Dollar to Chinese
Renminbi Exchange Rate 6.57 CNY Non-designated

960.0 KRW Various from October to
December 2017

Various from January to
December 2018

U.S. Dollar to Chinese
Renminbi Exchange Rate 6.72 CNY Designated

200 JPY December 27, 2017 January 31, 2018 U.S. Dollar to Japanese Yen
Exchange Rate 112.83 JPY Non-designated

40,954.5 KRW Various from March
2016 to December 2017

Various from January 2018
to November 2019

U.S. Dollar to Korean Won
Exchange Rate 1,130.61 KRW Designated

19.5 MYR Various from March to
November 2016

Various from January to
October 2018

U.S. Dollar to Malaysian
Ringgit Exchange Rate 4.21 MYR Designated

215.0 MXN December 27, 2017 January 31, 2018 U.S. Dollar to Mexican
Peso Exchange Rate 19.83 MXN Non-designated

2,541.0 MXN Various from March
2016 to December 2017

Various from January 2018
to November 2019

U.S. Dollar to Mexican
Peso Exchange Rate 20.25 MXN Designated

35.5 GBP Various from March
2016 to December 2017

Various from January 2018
to November 2019

British Pound Sterling to
U.S. Dollar Exchange Rate 1.31 USD Designated

The notional amounts above represent the total quantities we have outstanding over the remaining contracted periods.

Hedges of Commodity Risk

Our objective in using commodity forward contracts is to offset a portion of our exposure to the potential change in 
prices associated with certain commodities used in the manufacturing of our products, including silver, gold, nickel, 
aluminum, copper, platinum, and palladium. The terms of these forward contracts fix the price at a future date for various 
notional amounts associated with these commodities. These instruments are not designated for hedge accounting treatment. 
Commodity forward contracts not designated as hedges are not speculative and are used to manage our exposure to 
commodity price movements.

We had the following outstanding commodity forward contracts, none of which were designated as derivatives in 
qualifying hedging relationships, as of December 31, 2017:

Commodity Notional Remaining Contracted Periods
Weighted-Average

Strike Price Per Unit

Silver 1,117,049 troy oz. January 2018 - November 2019 $17.75
Gold 12,200 troy oz. January 2018 - November 2019 $1,288.85
Nickel 275,490 pounds January 2018 - November 2019 $4.84
Aluminum 5,592,797 pounds January 2018 - November 2019 $0.88
Copper 7,413,661 pounds January 2018 - November 2019 $2.71
Platinum 8,029 troy oz. January 2018 - November 2019 $987.12
Palladium 1,935 troy oz. January 2018 - November 2019 $819.85

The notional amounts above represent the total quantities we have outstanding over the remaining contracted periods.



89

Financial Instrument Presentation

The following table presents the fair values of our derivative financial instruments and their classification in the 
consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2017 and 2016:

  Asset Derivatives Liability Derivatives
  Fair Value Fair Value

 
Balance Sheet

Location
December
31, 2017

December
31, 2016

Balance Sheet
Location

December
31, 2017

December
31, 2016

Derivatives designated as hedging
instruments
Foreign currency forward contracts Prepaid expenses

and other current
assets

$ 3,576 $ 24,796 Accrued expenses
and other current
liabilities

$ 32,806 $ 20,990

Foreign currency forward contracts Other assets 373 5,693 Other long- term
liabilities

6,881 3,814

Total $ 3,949 $ 30,489 $ 39,687 $ 24,804
Derivatives not designated as
hedging instruments
Commodity forward contracts Prepaid expenses

and other current
assets

$ 5,403 $ 2,097 Accrued expenses
and other current
liabilities

$ 1,006 $ 2,764

Commodity forward contracts Other assets 1,055 542 Other long- term
liabilities

98 1,026

Foreign currency forward contracts Prepaid expenses 
and other current 
assets

6 2,268 Accrued expenses 
and other current 
liabilities

1,282 2,397

Total $ 6,464 $ 4,907 $ 2,386 $ 6,187

These fair value measurements are all categorized within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. Refer to Note 15, "Fair 
Value Measures," for more information on these measurements.

The following tables present the effect of our derivative financial instruments on the consolidated statements of income 
and comprehensive income for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016:

Derivatives designated as
hedging instruments

Amount of Deferred Gain/(Loss)
Recognized in Other

Comprehensive (Loss)/Income

Location of Net Gain/
(Loss)

Reclassified from
Other Components of

Equity into Net Income

Amount of Net Gain/(Loss)
Reclassified from Other

Components of Equity into Net
Income

  2017 2016   2017 2016

Foreign currency forward contracts $ (68,071) $ 24,044 Net revenue $ (916) $ 17,720
Foreign currency forward contracts $ 15,555 $ (32,519) Cost of revenue $ (13,997) $ (21,089)

Derivatives not designated as
hedging instruments

Amount of (Loss)/Gain on Derivatives
Recognized in Net Income

Location of (Loss)/Gain on Derivatives
Recognized in Net Income

  2017 2016  

Commodity forward contracts $ 9,989 $ 7,399 Other, net
Foreign currency forward contracts $ (15,214) $ (1,850) Other, net

Credit risk related contingent features 

We have agreements with certain of our derivative counterparties that contain a provision whereby if we default on our 
indebtedness, and where repayment of the indebtedness has been accelerated by the lender, then we could also be declared in 
default on our derivative obligations. 
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As of December 31, 2017, the termination value of outstanding derivatives in a liability position, excluding any 
adjustment for non-performance risk, was $42.4 million. As of December 31, 2017, we have not posted any cash collateral 
related to these agreements. If we breach any of the default provisions on any of our indebtedness as described above, we 
could be required to settle our obligations under the derivative agreements at their termination values. 

17. Restructuring and Special Charges

During the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, we recorded restructuring and special charges of $6.1 million and 
$10.1 million, respectively, in the consolidated statements of income.

The restructuring and special charges recognized during the year ended December 31, 2017, consisted primarily of $4.6 
million of severance charges recorded in connection with the closing of our facility in Minden, Germany that was part of the 
acquisition of CST, and the termination of a limited number of employees. 

The restructuring and special charges recognized during the year ended December 31, 2016, consisted primarily of 
severance charges recorded in connection with acquired businesses and the termination of a limited number of employees.   

The following table outlines the changes to the liability associated with our restructuring actions during the years ended 
December 31, 2017 and 2016:

Severance

Balance at December 31, 2015 $ 5,744
Charges 9,493
Payments (7,252)
Impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates (38)
Balance at December 31, 2016 $ 7,947
Charges 6,070
Payments (14,043)
Impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates 1,215
Balance at December 31, 2017 $ 1,189

18. Other, net

Other, net for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 consisted of the following:

  For the year ended December 31,
  2017 2016

Currency remeasurement gain/(loss) on net monetary assets 18,041 (10,505)
Loss on foreign currency forward contracts (15,214) (1,850)
Gain on commodity forward contracts 9,989 7,399
Loss on financing of borrowings (2,673) —
Other 75 171

$ 10,218 $ (4,785)

19. Segment Reporting

We organize our business into two reportable segments, Performance Sensing and Sensing Solutions, each of which is 
also an operating segment. Our operating segments are businesses that we manage as components of an enterprise, for which 
separate information is available and is evaluated regularly by our chief operating decision maker in deciding how to allocate 
resources and assess performance.

An operating segment’s performance is primarily evaluated based on segment profit, which excludes share-based 
compensation expense, restructuring and special charges, and certain corporate costs not associated with the operations of the 
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segment, including amortization expense and a portion of depreciation expense associated with assets recorded in connection 
with acquisitions. In addition, an operating segment’s performance excludes results from discontinued operations, if any. 
Corporate costs excluded from an operating segment’s performance are separately stated below and also include costs that are 
related to functional areas such as finance, information technology, legal, and human resources. We believe that segment 
profit, as defined above, is an appropriate measure for evaluating the operating performance of our segments. However, this 
measure should be considered in addition to, and not as a substitute for, or superior to, income from operations or other 
measures of financial performance prepared in accordance with IFRS. The accounting policies of each of our two reporting 
segments are materially consistent with those in the summary of significant accounting policies as described in Note 2, 
"Significant Accounting Policies."

The Performance Sensing segment is a manufacturer of pressure sensors, speed and position sensors, temperature 
sensors, and pressure switches used in subsystems of automobiles (e.g., powertrain, air conditioning, tire pressure monitoring, 
and ride stabilization) and HVOR. These products help improve operating performance, for example, by making an 
automobile’s heating and air conditioning systems work more efficiently, thereby improving gas mileage. These products are 
also used in systems that address environmental or safety concerns, for example, by reducing vehicle emissions or improving 
the stability control of the vehicle.

The Sensing Solutions segment is a manufacturer of various control products, which are used in industrial, aerospace, 
military, commercial, medical device, and residential markets, and sensors products, which are used in aerospace and 
industrial applications such as HVAC systems and military and commercial aircraft. These products include motor and 
compressor protectors, motor starters, temperature sensors and switches/thermostats, pressure sensors and switches, 
electronic HVAC sensors and controls, charge controllers, solid state relays, linear and rotary position sensors, circuit 
breakers, and semiconductor burn-in test sockets. These products help prevent damage from overheating and fires in a wide 
variety of applications, including commercial HVAC systems, refrigerators, aircraft, lighting, and other industrial applications 
and help optimize performance by using sensors which provide feedback to control systems. The Sensing Solutions segment 
also manufactures DC to AC power inverters, which enable the operation of electronic equipment when grid power is not 
available.

The following table presents Net revenue and Segment operating income for the reported segments and other operating 
results not allocated to the reported segments for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016:

  For the year ended December 31,
  2017 2016

Net revenue:
Performance Sensing $ 2,460,600 $ 2,385,380
Sensing Solutions 846,133 816,908

Total net revenue $ 3,306,733 $ 3,202,288
Segment profit (as defined above):

Performance Sensing $ 700,669 $ 649,565
Sensing Solutions 270,120 257,814

Total segment profit 970,789 907,379
Corporate and other (207,197) (178,819)
Amortization of intangible assets and development costs (182,834) (218,966)
Restructuring and special charges (6,069) (10,104)
Profit from operations 574,689 499,490
Interest expense, net (160,421) (166,482)
Other, net 10,218 (4,785)
Income before income taxes $ 424,486 $ 328,223

No customer exceeded 10% of our Net revenue in any of the periods presented.
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The following table presents Net revenue by product categories for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016:

  Performance
Sensing

Sensing
Solutions

For the year ended December 31,
  2017 2016

Net revenue:
Pressure sensors (1) X X $ 1,818,382 $ 1,736,160
Speed and position sensors X X 425,371 420,111
Bimetal electromechanical controls X 333,907 321,202
Temperature sensors X X 193,322 191,463
Power conversion and control X 127,348 120,357
Thermal and magnetic-hydraulic circuit breakers X 107,097 109,719
Pressure switches X X 96,086 88,905
Interconnection X 59,725 57,518
Other X X 145,495 156,853

$ 3,306,733 $ 3,202,288

(1) Certain products, totaling $28.5 million, that were categorized as pressure sensors in 2016 have been recast to other.

The following table presents depreciation and amortization expense for the reported segments for the years ended 
December 31, 2017 and 2016:

  For the year ended December 31,
  2017 2016

Total depreciation and amortization
Performance Sensing $ 89,018 $ 84,279
Sensing Solutions 18,074 15,112
Corporate and other(1) 185,188 226,582

Total $ 292,280 $ 325,973
 __________________
(1) Included within Corporate and other is depreciation and amortization expense associated with the fair value step-up 

recognized in prior acquisitions and accelerated depreciation recorded in connection with restructuring actions. We do 
not allocate the additional depreciation and amortization expense associated with the step-up in the fair value of the 
PP&E and intangible assets associated with these acquisitions or accelerated depreciation related to restructuring 
actions to our segments. This treatment is consistent with the financial information reviewed by our chief operating 
decision maker.

The following table presents total assets for the reported segments as of December 31, 2017 and 2016:

December 31,
2017

December 31,
2016

Total assets
Performance Sensing $ 1,538,893 $ 1,415,227
Sensing Solutions 416,146 391,116
Corporate and other(1) 4,817,746 4,545,358

Total $ 6,772,785 $ 6,351,701
 __________________
(1) Included within Corporate and other as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 is $2,996.8 million and $2,996.8 million, 

respectively, of Goodwill, $1,066.5 million and $1,202.5 million, respectively, of Other intangible assets, net, $753.1 
million and $351.4 million, respectively, of cash, and $36.1 million and $21.1 million, respectively, of PP&E. This 
treatment is consistent with the financial information reviewed by our chief operating decision maker.
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The following table presents capital expenditures for the reported segments for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 
2016:

  For the year ended December 31,
  2017 2016

Total capital expenditures
Performance Sensing $ 148,887 $ 148,271
Sensing Solutions 13,980 12,704
Corporate/other 24,084 25,839

Total $ 186,951 $ 186,814

The following table presents capital expenditures by geographic area for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016:

For the year ended December 31,

Total capital expenditures 2017 2016

Americas $ 99,696 $ 91,298
Asia 41,214 46,365
Europe 46,041 49,151

Total $ 186,951 $ 186,814

Other Geographic Area Information

In the geographic area data below, Net revenue is aggregated based on an internal methodology that considers both the 
location of our subsidiaries and the primary location of each subsidiary's customers. Long-lived assets are aggregated based 
on the location of our subsidiaries.

The following tables present Net revenue by geographic area and by significant country for the years ended 
December 31, 2017 and 2016:

  Net Revenue
  For the year ended December 31,
  2017 2016

Americas $ 1,367,113 $ 1,367,860
Asia 903,118 810,094
Europe 1,036,502 1,024,334

$ 3,306,733 $ 3,202,288

  Net Revenue
  For the year ended December 31,
  2017 2016

United States $ 1,276,304 $ 1,322,206
The Netherlands 571,735 550,937
China 478,713 412,460
Korea 184,101 182,464
Japan 164,735 152,234
All Other 631,145 581,987

$ 3,306,733 $ 3,202,288



94

The following tables present long-lived assets, consisting of PP&E, Goodwill, and Other intangible assets, net, by 
geographic area and by significant country as of December 31, 2017 and 2016:

  Long-Lived Assets

 
December 31,

2017
December 31,

2016

Americas $ 2,489,386 $ 2,551,261
Asia 409,794 407,207
Europe 1,911,250 1,963,745
Total $ 4,810,430 $ 4,922,213

  Long-Lived Assets

 
December 31,

2017
December 31,

2016

United States $ 2,281,740 $ 2,384,502
United Kingdom 671,841 714,508
The Netherlands 669,105 672,195
China 231,459 225,244
Bulgaria 228,174 216,753
All Other 728,111 709,011

$ 4,810,430 $ 4,922,213

20. Net Income per Share

Basic and diluted net income per share are calculated by dividing Net income by the number of basic and diluted 
weighted-average ordinary shares outstanding during the period. For the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, the 
weighted-average shares outstanding for basic and diluted net income per share were as follows: 

For the year ended

 
December 31,

2017
December 31,

2016

Basic weighted-average ordinary shares outstanding 171,167 170,709
Dilutive effect of stock options 646 544
Dilutive effect of unvested restricted securities 376 195
Diluted weighted-average ordinary shares outstanding 172,189 171,448

Net income and net income per share are presented in the consolidated statements of income.

Certain potential ordinary shares were excluded from our calculation of diluted weighted-average shares outstanding 
because they would have had an anti-dilutive effect on net income per share, or because they related to share-based awards 
that were contingently issuable, for which the contingency had not been satisfied. Refer to Note 11, "Share-Based Payment 
Plans," for further discussion of our share-based payment plans.

For the year ended

 
December 31,

2017
December 31,

2016

Anti-dilutive shares excluded 1,418 1,347
Contingently issuable shares excluded 529 269
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21. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2017 and 2016 included:

December 31,
2017

December 31,
2016

Cash $ 178,288 $ 161,737
Cash equivalents 574,801 189,691

$ 753,089 $ 351,428

Cash earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Cash equivalents consist of money market funds 
and short-term deposits that are made for varying periods of between one day and three months, depending on our immediate 
cash requirements, and earn interest at the respective short-term deposit rate. 

22. Depreciation and Amortization

The following table presents additional information regarding depreciation and amortization recorded in the 
consolidated statements of income during the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016:

For the year ended
December 31,

2017
December 31,

2016

Depreciation included within:
Cost of revenue $ 104,129 $ 101,336
Selling, general and administrative 4,635 4,851
Research and development 682 820

Total depreciation 109,446 107,007
Amortization of intangible assets and capitalized development costs(1) 182,834 218,966

Total depreciation and amortization $ 292,280 $ 325,973

(1) Includes $21.0 million and $16.5 million of amortization of capitalized research and development costs for the years ended 
December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

23. Personnel Costs

For the year ended
December 31,

2017
December 31,

2016

Wages, salaries, and benefits $ 724,255 $ 699,565
Pension costs 9,426 7,185
Post-employment costs/(benefits) other than pensions 399 447
Expense of share-based payments 19,843 17,436
Total $ 753,923 $ 724,633

24. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

We are subject to credit, market, and liquidity risks. This note presents information about our exposures to each of these 
risks as well as our objectives, policies, and processes for measuring and managing these risks. Further quantitative 
disclosures are included throughout these consolidated financial statements.

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of our financial loss if a counterparty fails to meet its contractual obligations. We are subject to 
counterparty risk on financial instruments such as cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, and derivative instruments. 
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We manage our credit risk on cash equivalents by investing in highly rated, marketable instruments with major 
financial institutions of investment grade credit rating. 

We are subject to credit risk associated with derivative instruments. When the fair value of a derivative contract is 
positive, the counterparty owes us, thus creating a receivable risk for us. We minimize counterparty credit (or repayment) risk 
associated with derivative instruments by entering into transactions with major financial institutions of investment grade 
credit rating. The carrying value and fair value amounts for assets presented in Note 15, "Fair Value Measures," represent our 
maximum exposure to credit risk. 

Concentrations of credit risk with respect to trade receivables are limited due to the large number of customers, and 
their dispersion across different industries and geographic areas. We are a global company and are subject to sovereign risks 
as well as the increased counterparty risk of customers and financial institutions in those jurisdictions. We perform ongoing 
credit evaluations of our customers' financial condition. We do not provide or require collateral to offset possible credit risk. 

We are a global business, with significant operations around the world. We have a diverse revenue mix by geography, 
customer, and end-market. We generated 41.3%, 27.3%, and 31.4% of our net revenue in the Americas, Asia, and Europe, 
respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2017. Our largest customer accounted for approximately 8% of our net revenue 
for the year ended December 31, 2017. Our net revenue for the year ended December 31, 2017 was derived from the 
following end-markets: 24.0% from European automotive, 18.6% from North American automotive, 19.1% from Asia and 
rest of world automotive, 14.3% from HVOR, 9.4% from industrial, 6.3% from appliance and HVAC, 4.6% from aerospace, 
and 3.7% from all other end-markets. Within many of our end-markets, we are a significant supplier to multiple OEMs, 
reducing our exposure to fluctuations in market share within individual end-markets.

Market Risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates, will affect our 
income or the value of our holdings of financial instruments. We are also exposed to changes in the prices of certain 
commodities (primarily metals) that we use in production. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control 
market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimizing the return. 

Interest Rate Risk

Given the leveraged nature of our company, we have exposure to changes in interest rates. 

The significant components of our borrowings (presented excluding discount) as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 are 
shown in the following tables:

(Dollars in millions)

Interest Rate as
of December 31,

2017

Outstanding 
balance as of 
December 31, 

2017 (1)

Fair value as of
December 31,

2017

Term Loan (3) 3.21% 927.8 930.1
4.875% Senior Notes 4.875% 500.0 521.9
5.625% Senior Notes 5.625% 400.0 439.0
5.0% Senior Notes 5.00% 700.0 741.1
6.25% Senior Notes 6.25% 750.0 813.8

Total(2)(4) $ 3,277.8 $ 3,445.9

________________
(1) Outstanding balance is presented excluding discount.
(2) Total outstanding balance excludes finance leases and other financing obligations of $34.7 million.
(3) This component of our debt accrues interest at a variable rate calculated on the basis of a three hundred and sixty day 

year and actual days elapsed (which results in more interest, as applicable, being paid than if computed on the basis of a 
three hundred and sixty-five day year). 

(4) Total has been calculated based on the unrounded amount, and may not equal the sum of the rounded values in this table. 
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(Dollars in millions)

Interest Rate as
of December 31,

2016

Outstanding 
balance as of 
December 31, 

2016 (1)

Fair value as of
December 31,

2016

Term Loan (3) 3.02% $ 937.8 $ 942.5
4.875% Senior Notes 4.875% 500.0 514.4
5.625% Senior Notes 5.625% 400.0 417.8
5.0% Senior Notes 5.00% 700.0 686.0
6.25% Senior Notes 6.25% 750.0 786.1

Total (2)(4) $ 3,287.8 $ 3,346.7

_____________
(1) Outstanding balance is presented excluding discount.
(2) Total outstanding balance excludes finance leases and other financing obligations of $37.1 million.
(3) This component of our borrowings accrues interest at variable rates.
(4) Total has been calculated based on unrounded amounts, and may not equal the sum of the rounded balances in this table.

Sensitivity Analysis

As of December 31, 2017, we had total variable rate borrowings with an outstanding balance of $927.8 million issued 
under the Term Loan. Considering the impact of our interest rate floor, an increase of 100 basis points in the applicable 
interest rate would result in additional annual interest expense of $9.4 million in 2018. The next 100 basis point increase in 
the applicable interest rate would result in incremental annual interest expense of $9.4 million in 2018. 

As of December 31, 2016, we had total variable rate borrowings with an outstanding balance of $937.8 million, issued 
under the Term Loan and the Revolving Credit Facility. Considering the impact of our interest rate floor, an increase of 100 
basis points in the applicable interest rate would have resulted in additional annual interest expense of $9.3 million. The next 
100 basis point increase in the applicable interest rate would have resulted in incremental annual interest expense of $9.3 
million. 

Foreign Currency Risks

We are exposed to market risk from changes in foreign currency exchange rates, which could affect operating results as 
well as our financial position and cash flows. We monitor our exposures to these market risks and may employ derivative 
financial instruments, such as swaps, collars, forwards, options, or other instruments, to limit the volatility to earnings and 
cash flows generated by these exposures. We employ derivative contracts that may or may not be designated for hedge 
accounting treatment, and which may result in volatility to earnings depending upon fluctuations in the underlying markets. 
Derivative financial instruments are executed solely as risk management tools and not for trading or speculative purposes.

Our significant foreign currency exposures include the Euro, Japanese yen, Mexican peso, Chinese renminbi, Korean 
won, Malaysian ringgit, British pound sterling, and Bulgarian lev. 

Consistent with our risk management objectives and overall strategy to reduce exposure to variability in cash flows and 
variability in earnings, we entered into foreign currency exchange rate derivatives during the year ended December 31, 2017 
that qualify as cash flow hedges intended to offset the effect of exchange rate fluctuations on forecasted sales and certain 
manufacturing costs. The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives designated and qualifying as cash flow 
hedges is recorded in Retained earnings and other components of equity and is subsequently reclassified into earnings in the 
period in which the hedged forecasted transaction affects earnings. During 2017, we also entered into foreign currency 
forward contracts that were not designated for hedge accounting purposes. We recognized the change in the fair value of 
these non-designated derivatives in the consolidated statements of income.
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The following foreign currency forward contracts were outstanding as of December 31, 2017:

Notional
(in millions) Effective Date Maturity Date Index

Weighted Average
Strike Rate

Cash Flow Hedge
Designation

61.0 EUR December 27, 2017 January 31, 2018 Euro to U.S. Dollar
Exchange Rate 1.19 USD Non-designated

443.0 EUR Various from March
2016 to December 2017

Various from January 2018
to December 2019

Euro to U.S. Dollar
Exchange Rate 1.15 USD Designated

640.0 CNY December 26, 2017 January 31, 2018 U.S. Dollar to Chinese
Renminbi Exchange Rate 6.57 CNY Non-designated

960.0 CNY Various from October to
December 2017

Various from January to
December 2018

U.S. Dollar to Chinese
Renminbi Exchange Rate 6.72 CNY Designated

200.0 JPY December 27, 2017 January 31, 2018 U.S. Dollar to Japanese
Yen Exchange Rate 112.83 JPY Non-designated

40,954.5 KRW Various from March
2016 to December 2017

Various from January 2018
to November 2019

U.S. Dollar to Korean
Won Exchange Rate 1,130.61 KRW Designated

19.5 MYR Various from March to
November 2016

Various from January to
October 2018

U.S. Dollar to Malaysian
Ringgit Exchange Rate 4.21 MYR Designated

215.0 MXN December 27, 2017 January 31, 2018 U.S. Dollar to Mexican
Peso Exchange Rate 19.83 MXN Non-designated

2,541.0 MXN Various from March
2016 to December 2017

Various from January 2018
to November 2019

U.S. Dollar to Mexican
Peso Exchange Rate 20.25 MXN Designated

35.5 GBP Various from March
2016 to December 2017

Various from January 2018
to November 2019

British Pound Sterling to
U.S. Dollar Exchange

Rate
1.31 USD Designated

The following foreign currency forward contracts were outstanding as of December 31, 2016:

Notional 
(in millions) Effective Date Maturity Date Index

Weighted Average
Strike Rate

Hedge
Designation

97.7 EUR Various from February
2015 to December 2016 January 31, 2017 Euro to U.S. Dollar

Exchange Rate 1.07 USD Non-designated

444.9 EUR Various from March
2015 to December 2016

Various from February
2017 to December 2018

Euro to U.S. Dollar
Exchange Rate 1.13 USD Designated

545.0 CNY December 22, 2016 January 26, 2017 U.S. Dollar to Chinese
Renminbi Exchange Rate 7.01 CNY Non-designated

720.0 JPY December 22, 2016 January 31, 2017 U.S. Dollar to Japanese
Yen Exchange Rate 117.20 JPY Non-designated

3,321.6 KRW Various from February
2015 to August 2016 January 31, 2017 U.S. Dollar to Korean

Won Exchange Rate 1,158.87 KRW Non-designated

50,239.2 KRW Various from March
2015 to December 2016

Various from February
2017 to November 2018

U.S. Dollar to Korean
Won Exchange Rate 1,157.71 KRW Designated

5.7 MYR Various from February
2015 to April 2016 January 31, 2017 U.S. Dollar to Malaysian

Ringgit Exchange Rate 4.02 MYR Non-designated

81.8 MYR Various from March
2015 to November 2016

Various from February
2017 to October 2018

U.S. Dollar to Malaysian
Ringgit Exchange Rate 4.17 MYR Designated

204.0 MXN Various from February
2015 to December 2016 January 31, 2017 U.S. Dollar to Mexican

Peso Exchange Rate 18.62 MXN Non-designated

2,072.7 MXN Various from March
2015 to December 2016

Various from February
2017 to December 2018

U.S. Dollar to Mexican
Peso Exchange Rate 19.00 MXN Designated

21.5 GBP Various from February
2015 to December 2016 January 31, 2017

British Pound Sterling to
U.S. Dollar Exchange

Rate
1.27 USD Non-designated

56.2 GBP Various from March
2015 to December 2016

Various from February
2017 to December 2018

British Pound Sterling to
U.S. Dollar Exchange

Rate
1.40 USD Designated
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Sensitivity Analysis

The tables below present our foreign currency forward contracts as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 and the estimated 
impact to pre-tax earnings as a result of a 10% strengthening/(weakening) in the foreign currency exchange rate:

(Amounts in millions) Increase/(decrease) to pre-tax earnings due to

Net asset (liability) balance
as of December 31, 2017

10% strengthening
of the value of the
foreign currency

relative to the U.S.
dollar

10% weakening of the
value of the

foreign currency
relative to the U.S.

dollar

Euro $ (30.6) $ (61.5) $ 61.5
Chinese Renminbi $ (3.6) $ (24.4) $ 24.4
British Pound Sterling $ 2.0 $ 4.8 $ (4.8)
Japanese Yen $ 0.0 $ 0.2 $ (0.2)
Korean Won $ (2.3) $ (3.9) $ 3.9
Malaysian Ringgit $ 0.2 $ 0.5 $ (0.5)
Mexican Peso $ (2.6) $ 13.4 $ (13.4)

(Amounts in millions) Increase/(decrease) to pre-tax earnings due to

Asset (liability) balance as
of December 31, 2016

10% strengthening 
of the value of the
foreign currency 

relative to the U.S. 
Dollar

10% weakening of the 
value of the

foreign currency 
relative to the U.S. 

Dollar

Euro $ 30.3 $ (57.6) $ 57.6
Chinese Renminbi $ 0.1 $ (7.8) $ 7.8
British Pound Sterling $ (10.1) $ 9.6 $ (9.6)
Japanese Yen $ 0.0 $ 0.6 $ (0.6)
Korean Won $ 1.9 $ (4.4) $ 4.4
Malaysian Ringgit $ (1.8) $ 1.9 $ (1.9)
Mexican Peso $ (14.8) $ 10.6 $ (10.6)

Commodity Risk

We enter into forward contracts with third parties to offset a portion of our exposure to the potential change in prices 
associated with certain commodities, including silver, gold, platinum, palladium, copper, aluminum and nickel, used in the 
manufacturing of our products. The terms of these forward contracts fix the price at a future date for various notional 
amounts associated with these commodities.These derivatives are not designated as accounting hedges. We recognize the 
change in fair value of these derivatives in the consolidated statements of income.
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Sensitivity Analysis

The tables below present our commodity forward contracts as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 and the estimated 
impact to pre-tax earnings associated with a 10% increase/(decrease) in the related forward price for each commodity:

(Amounts in millions, except price per unit and notional amounts)

Increase/(decrease)
to pre-tax earnings due to

Commodity

Net asset/
(liability)
balance as

of
December
31, 2017 Notional

Weighted
Average
Contract

Price Per Unit

Average
Forward Price
Per Unit as of
December 31,

2017 Expiration

10% increase
in the forward 

price

10% decrease
in the forward 

price

Silver $(0.6) 1,117,049 troy oz. $17.75 $17.20
Various dates during

2018 and 2019 $1.9 $(1.9)

Gold $0.4 12,200 troy oz. $1,288.85 $1,322.24
Various dates during

2018 and 2019 $1.6 $(1.6)

Nickel $0.3 275,490 pounds $4.84 $5.83
Various dates during

2018 and 2019 $0.2 $(0.2)

Aluminum $0.9 5,592,797 pounds $0.88 $1.04
Various dates during

2018 and 2019 $0.6 $(0.6)

Copper $4.4 7,413,661 pounds $2.71 $3.30
Various dates during

2018 and 2019 $2.4 $(2.4)

Platinum $(0.3) 8,029 troy oz. $987.12 $943.94
Various dates during

2018 and 2019 $0.8 $(0.8)

Palladium $0.4 1,935 troy oz. $819.85 $1,022.19
Various dates during

2018 and 2019 $0.2 $(0.2)

(Amounts in millions, except price per unit and notional amounts)

Increase/(decrease)
to pre-tax earnings due to

Commodity

Net asset/
(liability)
balance as

of
December
31, 2016 Notional

Weighted
Average
Contract

Price Per Unit

Average
Forward Price
Per Unit as of
December 31,

2016 Expiration

10% increase
in the forward 

price

10% decrease
in the forward 

price

Silver $(0.8) 1,069,914 troy oz. $17.09 $16.32
Various dates during

2017 and 2018 $1.7 $(1.7)

Gold $(0.9) 14,113 troy oz. $1,233.30 $1,167.90
Various dates during

2017 and 2018 $1.6 $(1.6)

Nickel $(0.1) 339,402 pounds $4.98 $4.58
Various dates during

2017 and 2018 $0.2 $(0.2)

Aluminum $0.1 5,807,659 pounds $0.76 $0.77
Various dates during

2017 and 2018 $0.4 $(0.4)

Copper $1.4 7,707,228 pounds $2.32 $2.51
Various dates during

2017 and 2018 $1.9 $(1.9)

Platinum $(0.9) 8,719 troy oz. $1,017.41 $911.87
Various dates during

2017 and 2018 $0.8 $(0.8)

Palladium $0.1 1,923 troy oz. $641.43 $685.73
Various dates during

2017 and 2018 $0.1 $(0.1)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that we will not be able to meet our financial obligations as they become due. Our approach to 
managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that we will always have sufficient liquidity to meet our liabilities when 
due without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to our reputation.

Our liquidity requirements are significant due to our highly leveraged nature. Our indebtedness may limit our flexibility 
in planning for, or reacting to, changes in the business and future business opportunities since a substantial portion of our 
cash flow from operations will be dedicated to the payment of the debt service and this may place us at a competitive 
disadvantage as some of our competitors are less leveraged.

Under the Revolving Credit Facility, there was $415.3 million of availability (net of $4.7 million in letters of credit) as 
of December 31, 2017. Outstanding letters of credit are issued primarily for the benefit of certain operating activities. As of 
December 31, 2017, no amounts had been drawn against these outstanding letters of credit.
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Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments

The table below reflects our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2017. Amounts we pay in future periods may 
vary from those reflected in the table. Amounts in the table below have been calculated based on unrounded numbers. 
Accordingly, certain amounts may not add due to the effect of rounding. 

  Payments Due by Period

(Amounts in millions) Total
Less than

1 Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years
More than

5 Years

Borrowing obligations principal(1) $ 3,277.8 $ 9.8 $ 19.8 $ 898.2 $ 2,350.0
Borrowing obligations interest(2) 1,096.0 158.8 314.2 284.4 338.6
Finance lease obligations principal(3) 29.3 3.1 6.8 6.5 12.9
Finance lease obligations interest(3) 11.8 2.3 4.1 3.0 2.4
Other financing obligations principal(4) 5.4 2.8 2.5 0.1 —
Other financing obligations interest(4) 0.9 0.4 0.5 0.0 —
Operating lease obligations(5) 68.6 12.9 15.8 9.4 30.6
Non-cancelable purchase obligations(6) 44.9 17.3 19.4 8.1 0.1
Total(7)(8) $ 4,534.7 $ 207.4 $ 383.1 $ 1,209.7 $ 2,734.6
__________________

(1) Represents the contractually required principal payments, in accordance with the required payment schedule, on our 
borrowings in existence as of December 31, 2017. 

(2) Represents the contractually required interest payments, in accordance with the required payment schedule, on our 
borrowings in existence as of December 31, 2017. Cash flows associated with the next interest payment to be made on 
our variable rate debt subsequent to December 31, 2017 were calculated using the interest rates in effect as of the latest 
interest rate reset date prior to December 31, 2017, plus the applicable spread. 

(3) Represents the contractually required payments, in accordance with the required payment schedule, under our finance 
lease obligations in existence as of December 31, 2017. No assumptions were made with respect to renewing the lease 
term at its expiration date. 

(4) Represents the contractually required payments, in accordance with the required payment schedule, under our financing 
obligations in existence as of December 31, 2017. No assumptions were made with respect to renewing the financing 
arrangements at their expiration dates. 

(5) Represents the contractually required payments, in accordance with the required payment schedule, under our operating 
lease obligations in existence as of December 31, 2017. No assumptions were made with respect to renewing the lease 
obligations at the expiration date of their initial terms. 

(6) Represents the contractually required payments under our various purchase obligations in existence as of December 31, 
2017. No assumptions were made with respect to renewing the purchase obligations at the expiration date of their initial 
terms, and no amounts were assumed to be prepaid. 

(7) Contractual obligations denominated in a foreign currency were calculated utilizing the U.S. dollar to local currency 
exchange rates in effect as of December 31, 2017. 

(8) This table does not include the contractual obligations associated with our defined benefit and other post-retirement 
benefit plans. As of December 31, 2017, we had recognized a net benefit liability of $43.4 million, representing the net 
unfunded benefit obligations of the defined benefit and retiree healthcare plans. Refer to Note 10, "Pension and Other 
Post-Retirement Benefits," for additional information on pension and other post-retirement benefits, including expected 
benefit payments for the next 10 years. This table also does not include $5.4 million of unrecognized tax benefits as of 
December 31, 2017, as we are unable to make reasonably reliable estimates of when cash settlement, if any, will occur 
with a tax authority, as the timing of the examination and the ultimate resolution of the examination is uncertain. Refer to 
Note 9, "Income Taxes," for additional information on income taxes. 
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25. Accounts Receivable, net 

Accounts receivable, net, at December 31, 2017 and 2016 consisted of the following:

December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016

Accounts receivable, gross $ 569,488 $ 512,022
Provisions (12,947) (11,811)
Total $ 556,541 $ 500,211

At December 31, the aging analysis of net accounts receivable is as follows:

Past due but not impaired

Total 
Neither past due nor

impaired < 30 days > 30 days

2017 $ 556,541 $ 462,380 $ 75,266 $ 18,895
2016 $ 500,211 $ 426,733 $ 56,700 $ 16,778

A reconciliation of provisions recorded during fiscal years 2017 and 2016 is as follows:

Balance at the beginning of 
the period  Charged to costs and expenses Deductions

Balance at end of the
period

2017 $ 11,811 $ 2,205 $ (1,069) $ 12,947
2016 $ 9,535 $ 3,072 $ (796) $ 11,811

Concentrations of risk with respect to accounts receivable are generally limited due to the large number of customers in 
various industries and their dispersion across several geographic areas. Although we do not foresee credit risk associated with 
these receivables to deviate from historical experience, repayment is dependent upon the financial stability of those individual 
customers. Our largest customer accounted for approximately 8% and 9% of our net revenue for years ended December 31, 
2017 and 2016, respectively.

26. Proposed appropriation of net results

The Directors propose that the net income for the year be netted with retained earnings brought forward from the 
previous year. This proposal has been included in the financial statements.

27. Declaration and payment of dividends

No dividends were proposed by the Directors at December 31, 2017.

28. Other Arrangements with the Investor Group and its Affiliates 

None.

29. Other Events

None.

30. Subsequent Events

None.
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Statements of Financial Position
(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except per share amounts)

 (before appropriation of profit)

Note
December 31,

2017
December 31,

2016

Assets
Non-current assets:

Investment in subsidiaries 4 $ 2,390,178 $ 1,957,670
Other assets — —

Total non-current assets 2,390,178 1,957,670
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 2,150 1,719
Intercompany receivables from subsidiaries 94,094 84,398
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 643 683

Total current assets 96,887 86,800
Total assets $ 2,487,065 $ 2,044,470
Equity and Liabilities
Equity attributable to owners of the Parent:
Share capital: Ordinary shares, €0.01 nominal value per share, 400,000 shares
authorized; 178,437 shares issued as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 5 $ 2,289 $ 2,289
Share premium 5 1,668,236 1,648,393
Retained earnings 5 963,835 533,585
Legal reserves:

Capitalized R&D expense 5 151,867 156,715
Other internally generated capitalized costs 5 7,031 7,031
Net unrealized gain/(loss) on derivative instruments designated and qualifying as
cash flow hedges (27,534) 668

Treasury shares, at cost, 7,076 and 7,557 shares as of December 31, 2017 and 2016,
respectively 5 (288,478) (306,505)

Total equity 2,477,246 2,042,176
Non-current liabilities:
Pension obligations 528 475

Total non-current liabilities 528 475
Current Liabilities:

Accounts payable 607 64
Intercompany payables to subsidiaries 7,465 175
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 7 1,219 1,580

Total current liabilities 9,291 1,819
Total liabilities 9,819 2,294
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 2,487,065 $ 2,044,470

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statements of Income
(Thousands of U.S. dollars)

 

  Note For the year ended

 
December 31,

2017
December 31,

2016

Net revenue $ — $ —
Operating costs and expenses:

Cost of revenue — —
Selling, general and administrative 6,899 61

Total operating costs and expenses 6,899 61
Loss from operations (6,899) (61)
Interest income, net 8 72
Other, net (169) 107
Profit/(loss) before income taxes and equity in net income of subsidiaries (7,060) 118
Equity in net income of subsidiaries 449,005 264,564
Provision for income taxes — —
Net income $ 441,945 $ 264,682

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statements of Comprehensive Income
(Thousands of U.S. dollars)

  For the year ended

 
December 31,

2017
December 31,

2016

Net income $ 441,945 $ 264,682
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax:
Defined benefit and retiree healthcare plans 82 474
Subsidiaries' other comprehensive loss (31,340) (7,499)
Other comprehensive loss (31,258) (7,025)
Comprehensive income $ 410,687 $ 257,657

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Amounts in thousands of U.S. dollars)

1. Corporate Information

Sensata Technologies Holding N.V. ("Sensata N.V.," or the "Company," also referred to as "us," "our," or "we") was 
incorporated under the laws of the Netherlands, registration number 24192692 0000 with the Dutch Chamber of Commerce. 
Sensata N.V. conducted its operations through subsidiary companies that operate business and product development centers 
primarily in the United States (the "U.S."), the Netherlands, Belgium, Bulgaria, China, Germany, Japan, South Korea, and the 
United Kingdom (the "U.K."); and manufacturing operations primarily in China, Malaysia, Mexico, Bulgaria, France, 
Germany, the U.K., and the U.S. 

On September 28, 2017, the board of directors of Sensata N.V. unanimously approved a plan to change its location of 
incorporation from the Netherlands to the U.K. To effect this change, on February 16, 2018, the shareholders of Sensata N.V. 
approved a cross-border merger between Sensata N.V. and Sensata Technologies Holding plc (“Sensata U.K.”), a newly 
formed, public limited company incorporated under the laws of England and Wales, with Sensata U.K. being the surviving 
entity (the “Merger”).

We received approval of the transaction by the U.K. High Court of Justice, and the Merger was completed on March 
28, 2018, on which date Sensata U.K. became the publicly-traded parent of the subsidiary companies that were previously 
controlled by Sensata N.V.

2. Basis of Presentation

These company-only financial statements have been prepared as separate financial statements on a historical cost basis 
except for certain items, including derivative financial instruments and share-based payments that have been measured at fair 
value. The dollar amounts in the company-only financial statements and accompanying in the notes, except share amounts, 
are stated in thousands of U.S. dollars, unless otherwise indicated.

Disclosure requirements for these company-only financial statements are condensed from those required for 
consolidated financial statements. All information provided for the consolidated entity, Sensata N.V., is consistent in format 
and explanation with the company-only financial statements, except as noted below. For that reason, information has not been 
repeated unless required to provide further explanation to our results of operations for the periods presented.

3. Significant Accounting Policies

The company-only financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil 
Code. The accounting policies applied are in accordance with the provisions of article 362-8 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil 
Code and consistent with those policies used in the consolidated financial statements. 

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at net asset value. Related-party transactions between subsidiaries, 
investments, and members of the management board of the parent company, are conducted at an arm's length basis with terms 
comparable to transactions occurring with third parties.
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4. Investment in Subsidiaries

Investment in subsidiaries of Sensata N.V. consists of the following:

December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016

Balance at January 1 $ 1,957,670 $ 1,689,169
Return of capital from subsidiaries (5,000) (6,000)
Share in net income of subsidiaries 449,005 264,564
Share based compensation recorded in subsidiaries' equity 19,843 17,436
Other components of subsidiaries' equity (31,340) (7,499)
Total $ 2,390,178 $ 1,957,670

5. Equity

Movement of equity for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 is as follows:

Share
Capital

Share
Premium

Treasury
Stock

Legal
Reserve -

Other
Internally
Generated
Capitalized

Costs

Legal
Reserve -

R&D
Expense and
Derivatives

Retained
Earnings/

(Accumulated
Deficit) and

Other
Components of

Equity

Total
Shareholders'

Equity

Balance as of December 31, 2015 $ 2,289 $ 1,630,957 $ (324,994) $ 7,031 $ 132,085 $ 318,066 $ 1,765,434
Repurchase of ordinary shares — — (2,295) — — — (2,295)
Stock options exercised — — 13,698 — — (9,754) 3,944
Vesting of restricted ordinary shares — — 7,086 — — (7,086) —
Share- based compensation recorded in
subsidiaries' equity — 17,436 — — — — 17,436
Capitalized R&D expense and change
in derivative fair value — — — — 24,630 (24,630) —
Net income — — — — — 264,682 264,682
Remeasurement pension loss arising
during the year — — — — — 474 474
Subsidiaries' other comprehensive
income — — — — — (7,499) (7,499)
Balance as of December 31, 2016 $ 2,289 $ 1,648,393 $ (306,505) $ 7,031 $ 156,715 $ 534,253 $ 2,042,176
Repurchase of ordinary shares — — (2,910) — — — (2,910)
Stock options exercised — — 12,465 — — (5,015) 7,450
Vesting of restricted ordinary shares — — 8,472 — — (8,472) —
Share- based compensation recorded in
subsidiaries' equity — 19,843 — — — — 19,843
Capitalized R&D expense and change
in derivative fair value — — — — (4,848) 4,848 —
Net income — — — — — 441,945 441,945
Remeasurement pension gain arising
during the year — — — — — 82 82
Subsidiaries' other comprehensive loss — — — — — (31,340) (31,340)
Balance as of December 31, 2017 $ 2,289 $ 1,668,236 $ (288,478) $ 7,031 $ 151,867 $ 936,301 $ 2,477,246

See Note 11, "Share-Based Payment Plans," and Note 12, "Shareholders' Equity," in the accompanying consolidated 
financial statements appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report, for further discussion of our share-based payment plans and 
shareholders' equity, respectively.

See Note 10, "Pension and Other Post-Retirement Benefits," Note 16, "Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities," 
the statements of comprehensive income, and the statements of changes in shareholders' equity in the accompanying 
consolidated financial statements appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report, for further discussion of other components of 
equity, which relate to pension and derivative activity.
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6. Interest Bearing Borrowings

Sensata N.V. has no direct outstanding interest bearing borrowings as of December 31, 2017. Our indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary, Sensata Technologies B.V. is limited in its ability to pay dividends or otherwise make any distributions to 
us, except for limited purposes, due to certain restrictions imposed by its borrowings. For a discussion of the borrowings of 
the subsidiaries of Sensata N.V. and the related restrictions, see Note 8, "Borrowings," to the audited consolidated financial 
statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report. 

7. Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities of Sensata N.V. consist of the following:

December 31,
2017

December 31,
2016

Accrued professional fees $ 746 $ 1,478
Accrued payroll 473 102
Total $ 1,219 $ 1,580

8. Related Party Transactions

Directors' Interest and Remuneration

We paid $2.2 million and $2.0 million in compensation to our directors during fiscal year 2017 and 2016, respectively. 
See Note 13, "Related Party Transactions," in the accompanying consolidated financial statements, appearing elsewhere in this 
Annual Report, for further discussion of our related party transactions with regards to directors' interest and remuneration in 
2017 and 2016, respectively.

9. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Pursuant to article 2:382a BW we reported fees charged by Ernst & Young Accountants LLP for the years ended 
December 31, 2017 and 2016:

For the year ended
December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016

Audit fees $ 319 $ 369
Audit-related fees — —
Total $ 319 $ 369
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Other information

Statutory arrangements in respect of the appropriation of the net income

In accordance with Article 37 of our articles of association, net income for the most recent fiscal year is distributed first to 
holders of preference shares using a predetermined formula. Out of the net income that remains, such reservations will be made 
as the Board will determine. The net income that remains shall be at the disposal of the Annual General Meeting of 
Shareholders.
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Independent auditor's report
To: the shareholders and board of directors of Sensata Technologies Holding N.V.

Report on the audit of the financial statements 2017 included in the 
annual report
We have audited the financial statements 2017 of Sensata Technologies Holding N.V., based in Hengelo. The financial 
statements include the consolidated financial statements and the company financial statements.

In our opinion: 

• The accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of Sensata 
Technologies Holding N.V. as at 31 December 2017, and of its result and its cash flows for 2017 in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (EU-IFRS) and with Part 9 of Book 
2 of the Dutch Civil Code. 

• The accompanying company financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of Sensata 
Technologies Holding N.V. as at 31 December 2017, and of its result for 2017 in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 
of the Dutch Civil Code.

The consolidated financial statements comprise: 

• The consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2017 

• The following statements for 2017: the consolidated statement of income, the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of cash flows and the consolidated statement of changes in 
shareholders’ equity

• The notes comprising a summary of the significant accounting policies and other explanatory information

The company financial statements comprise: 

• The company statement of financial position as at 31 December 2017

• The company statement of income for 2017

• The company statement of comprehensive income for 2017

• The notes comprising a summary of the accounting policies and other explanatory information 

Basis for our opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Dutch law, including the Dutch Standards on Auditing. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the “Our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements” section of our 
report.

We are independent of Sensata Technologies Holding N.V.  in accordance with the Wet toezicht accountantsorganisaties 
(Wta, Audit firms supervision act), the Verordening inzake de onafhankelijkheid van accountants bij assurance-opdrachten 
(ViO, Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants, a regulation with respect to independence) and other relevant 
independence regulations in the Netherlands. Furthermore we have complied with the Verordening gedrags- en beroepsregels 
accountants (VGBA, Dutch Code of Ethics).
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We believe the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Materiality
Materiality $19,000,000 (2016: $16,000,000)
Benchmark applied 5% of income before taxes
Explanation We considered income before taxes to be the most appropriate benchmark for materiality.  The

primary users of the annual report focus on operating performance.  Income before taxes is relative
stable over the past years.

We have also taken misstatements into account and/or possible misstatements that in our opinion are material for the users of 
the financial statements for qualitative reasons.

We agreed with the board of directors that misstatements in excess of $1,000,000, which are identified during the audit, 
would be reported to them, as well as smaller misstatements that in our view must be reported on qualitative grounds.

Scope of the group audit

Sensata Technologies Holding N.V. is at the head of a group of entities. The financial information of this group is included in 
the consolidated financial statements of Sensata Technologies Holding N.V.

Our group audit mainly focused on significant group entities. We considered entities to be significant based on size or the 
existence of significant risks. The group consists of 102 legal entities of which 30 entities were in scope of our audit (9 full 
scope, 14 specific scope, 5 specified procedures, 2 review scope and 72 no scope). The 72 entities with no scope are dormant 
and/or have no significant activity. We have used the work of other EY firms for foreign group entities. Where the work was 
performed by component auditors, we determined the level of involvement we needed to have in the audit work at those 
reporting units to be able to conclude whether sufficient appropriate audit evidence had been obtained as a basis for our 
opinion on the Group annual report as a whole.
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Coverage from our multi location scoping can be visualized as follows:

By performing the procedures mentioned above at group entities, together with additional procedures at group level, we have 
been able to obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence about the group’s financial information to provide an opinion 
about the consolidated financial statements. 

Our key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the financial 
statements. We have communicated the key audit matters to the board of directors. The key audit matters are not a 
comprehensive reflection of all matters discussed. 

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole and in forming our opinion 
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

The key audit matters are consistent with prior year.
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Report on other information included in the annual report
In addition to the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon, the annual report contains other information that 
consists of:

• The directors’ report
• Dutch Corporate Governance Code and Dutch Civil Code
• Corporate Governance standards
• Other information pursuant to Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code

Based on the following procedures performed, we conclude that the other information:

• Is consistent with the financial statements and does not contain material misstatements
• Contains the information as required by Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code

We have read the other information. Based on our knowledge and understanding obtained through our audit of the financial 
statements or otherwise, we have considered whether the other information contains material misstatements. By performing 
these procedures, we comply with the requirements of Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code and the Dutch Standard 720. 
The scope of the procedures performed is less than the scope of those performed in our audit of the financial statements.

The board of directors is responsible for the preparation of the other information, including the directors’ report in accordance 
with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code and other information pursuant to Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
Engagement

We were engaged by the board of directors as auditor of Sensata Technologies Holding N.V. as of the audit for the year 2006 
and have operated as statutory auditor since that date.

Description of responsibilities for the financial statements
Responsibilities of the board of directors for the financial statements

The board of directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with 
EU-IFRS and Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. Furthermore, the board of directors is responsible for such internal 
control as the board of directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

As part of the preparation of the financial statements, the board of directors is responsible for assessing the company’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. Based on the financial reporting frameworks mentioned, the board of directors should prepare 
the financial statements using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the 
company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. The board of directors should disclose events and 
circumstances that may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going concern in the financial 
statements. 

The non-executive directors are responsible for overseeing the company’s financial reporting process.

Our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
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Our objective is to plan and perform the audit assignment in a manner that allows us to obtain sufficient and appropriate audit 
evidence for our opinion. 

Our audit has been performed with a high, but not absolute, level of assurance, which means we may not have detected all 
material errors and fraud. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. The 
materiality affects the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and the evaluation of the effect of identified 
misstatements on our opinion. 

We have exercised professional judgment and have maintained professional skepticism throughout the audit, in accordance 
with Dutch Standards on Auditing, ethical requirements and independence requirements. Our audit included e.g.,: 

• Identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error, designing and performing audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtaining audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control

• Obtaining an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
company’s internal control

• Evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by management

• Concluding on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting, and based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on 
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause 
a company to cease to continue as a going concern

• ·Evaluating the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures

• ·Evaluating whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation

Because we are ultimately responsible for the opinion, we are also responsible for directing, supervising and performing the 
group audit. In this respect we have determined the nature and extent of the audit procedures to be carried out for group 
entities. Decisive were the size and/or the risk profile of the group entities or operations. On this basis, we selected group 
entities for which an audit or review had to be carried out on the complete set of financial information or specific items.

We communicate with the board of directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant findings in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We provide the board of directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on 
our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with the board of directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the 
audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our 
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 
circumstances, not communicating the matter is in the public interest.

Zwolle, 12 April, 2018

Ernst & Young Accountants LLP

J. Schuurkamp - Spijkerboer
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